Doctoral Dissertation

Health Risk Evaluation and the Investigation of the Potential Human Foetal Subacute Developmental Toxicities upon Exposures to Mercury-Contaminated Food Crops from Artisanal and Small-Scale Gold Mining Communities – A Case Study of Obuasi, Ghana

Sylvester Addai-Arhin

(1975005)

Graduate School of Environmental and Symbiotic Sciences, Prefectural University of Kumamoto, Japan



September, 2022

Health Risk Evaluation and the Investigation of the Potential Human Foetal Subacute Developmental Toxicities upon Exposures to Mercury-Contaminated Food Crops from Artisanal and Small-Scale Gold Mining Communities – A Case Study of Obuasi, Ghana

小規模金採掘コミュニティーにおける水銀汚染農作物の健康リスク評価ならびに潜在的な亜 急性発生毒性に関する研究 (ガーナ、オブアシのケーススタディ)

Sylvester Addai-Arhin

(シルベスタ アッダイアルヒン)

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate School of Environmental and Symbiotic Sciences, Prefectural University of Kumamoto, in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) in Environmental and Symbiotic Sciences

September, 2022

PhD ADVISORS

Professor Hideki Shiratsuchi Professor Yasuhiro Ishibashi Professor emeritus Koji Arizono

Abstract

Mercury (Hg) is one of the potent environmental toxicants with devastating effects on human health and the ecosystem. Its human health effects include cardiotoxicity, hepatotoxicity, nephrotoxicity, neurotoxicity, teratogenicity, gastroenteritis, haematological effects, etc. following short-term and/or long-term repeated exposures. It also affects the health of the ecosystem by destroying ecosystem functions. This study was aimed at evaluating the potential risks of Hg to humans and the entire ecosystem using soil and food crop (plantains and cassava) samples sourced from farms located near artisanal and small-scale gold mining (ASGM) facilities in selected ASGM communities around Obuasi, Ghana. Specifically, the study **1**. Evaluated the contamination levels of soils and the food crops and assessed the potential ecological risks using the Hakanson model, 2. Evaluated the potential human health risks of long-term repeated exposures to total mercury (THg) and methylmercury (MeHg) levels of the soil and the food crop samples using the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) risk assessment models, and 3. Investigated the potential subacute developmental toxicities and the genotoxicity of very low MeHg and high inorganic mercury (InHg) levels of Hg-contaminated food crops following repeated prenatal exposures using the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) bioassay method for medaka extended one generation reproduction test (MEOGRT) and the real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) for gene expression analysis, respectively. Results showed that the Hg levels of the soil samples were above the 500 µg/kg reference value for agricultural soils by the Swiss Environmental Regulation while the edible parts of plantains from Odumase and the edible parts of all cassava samples were above the 100 µg/kg reference value for food by the World Health Organization (WHO). Exactly 50% of plantain peels and the peels of all cassava samples also had Hg levels above the 100 µg/kg reference value for plants used as animal feed by the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe. Assessment of the contamination levels and the ecological risk of samples showed that all samples from the studied communities had some degree of contamination, hence were associated with some levels of ecological risks ranging from low to very high risks. Assessment of the potential human health risks indicated that residents of the studied communities are at risk of the non-carcinogenic human health effects of Hg since the hazard quotient (HQ) values for THg of plantains from Odumase and cassavas across the study areas were above 1. The HQ values for THg of the soil samples,

despite their higher Hg levels were below 1, hence may not pose any non-carcinogenic human health risks to residents. HQ values for MeHg of all the samples were also below 1, hence longterm repeated exposures to MeHg levels of the samples may not cause any non-carcinogenic human health effects. This meant that the health effects associated with plantains from Odumase and all cassava samples would be specific to InHg due to its extremely higher levels (~99.5%) in the food crops. The hazard indices of the selected farms were also above 1, hence long-term repeated exposures to the samples, particularly the food crops may pose potential non-carcinogenic human health effects to residents across the studied communities. The subacute toxicity study also showed that the maternal and cord blood MeHg levels of $0.20 - 1.63 \,\mu$ g/L and $0.33 - 2.77 \,\mu$ g/L, respectively, following repeated prenatal exposures to $0.0035 - 0.029 \,\mu$ g/kg bw/day of the food crops were below the 5.8 and the 3.6 µg/L blood MeHg reference values by USEPA and other researchers, respectively. This indicated that repeated prenatal exposures to MeHg levels of the food crops may not be associated with any subacute developmental toxicities to the human foetus or the new-born. For InHg, although very low but significant percentage of the prenatal exposure amount in the range of $1.00 - 5.14 \,\mu g/kg$ bw/day could reach cord blood and possibly the foetus, it was uncertain whether such low but significant levels can cause subacute developmental toxicities to the foetus or the new-born due to the non-applicability of the one-compartment dose conversion model and the lack of guideline value for blood InHg levels. However, considering the 5.8 and the 3.6 µg/L blood MeHg reference values by USEPA and other researchers, and the fact that the body Hg burden is always made with reference to MeHg, it can be concluded that the very low MeHg and high InHg levels of the food crops may not be associated with any subacute developmental toxicities to the human foetus or the new-born following repeated prenatal exposures. For the genotoxicity assessment, both MeHg and InHg caused the suppression of cyclin B1 gene. Cyclin B1 suppression led to disruption in cell cycle and mitotic cell division, which in turn resulted in cell growth and development and eventual death of the medaka embryos, particularly those exposed to the $148.2 - 338.3 \mu g/L$ solutions of InHg. These deductions meant that the MeHg and InHg levels of the food crops may be toxic to the human foetus at the genetic level. Additionally, the decreased in expression level of cyclin B1 by InHg showed that InHg may be associated with tumorigenesis or may be a potential tumour initiator at the genetic level. Generally, Hg contamination of the samples and the entire ecosystems resulted from ASGM activities. Despite the higher probability of no subacute developmental toxicities to the human

foetus or the new-born, it is evidently clear from the study, particularly the ecological risks, human health risks, and the genotoxicity assessments that Hg releases and subsequent contaminations have detrimental effects on human health and ecosystem functions, particularly upon long-term repeated exposures. Such detrimental effects can take several years to manifest and when they manifest the aetiology is usually unidentifiable. Therefore, since there are no treatment processes for Hg within the catchment areas and Ghana at large, regular and strict monitoring of ASGM activities, particularly Hg releases from ASGM facilities is required to preserve the integrity of the ecosystem and prevent the future occurrence of any toxic effects of Hg to humans, particularly the younger generation.

Key words: Plantain, Cassava, MeHg, InHg, Developmental toxicity, Genotoxicity, Cyclin B1, ASGM

Dedication

This research work is dedicated to my wife, children and my entire family, both nuclear and extended, PhD advisors, friends and loved ones including Dr Huiho Jeong, Miss Nana Hirota, and Mr. Viorel Ristea and to the ever loving memories of my late father, Mr. Daniel Akwasi Addai and my late father-in-law, Mr. Stephen Akwasi Boakye.

Acknowledgement

Firstly, my utmost gratitude goes to the Almighty God, whose divine provision, sustenance, guidance, knowledge, wisdom, strength, and good health saw me to a successful end of the PhD programme. My heartfelt gratitude also goes to the Kumamoto Prefectural Government, Japan and the Prefectural University of Kumamoto, Japan for the scholarship opportunity.

I am highly indebted and will forever appreciate the directions, guidance, support, commitment, dedication, benevolence, selfless and the fatherly roles of my academic supervisors; Professor Hideki Shiratsuchi, Professor Yasuhiro Ishibashi, and Professor emeritus Koji Arizono whose rich and enormous experience within the global research circles have brought me this far. My success story as a PhD graduate cannot be told without their enormous support and contributions.

To Miss Nana Hirota and Dr Huiho Jeong, your selflessness, dedication, support, benevolence, patience, and humility have never known bounds for my sake. You have always been available whenever I needed you and have shown me immeasurable love from your pure and kind hearts. You both have played crucial roles in my success as a PhD graduate. Your kind is indeed very rare. I am very grateful and will always be indebted to the both of you.

To Mr. Viorel Ristea and his family, your benevolence, encouragement, assurance and your desire in ensuring my happiness in Kumamoto have been very overwhelming. Knowing you has been a blessing to me because you have played a very instrumental role in my life in Kumamoto Prefecture and its environs. I appreciate and cherish every single moment spent with you and your family. Your kindness, time, patience, dedication, love and concern for me have been very immeasurable. I am very grateful to you and your family.

I also express my profound gratitude to Professor Nobuaki Tominaga, Professor Masaya Uchida, and Nishiyama san of Ariake National College of Technology. Your priceless efforts, support, commitment, time, patience, and dedication during the gene expression analysis immensely contributed to the successful completion of this research work.

To all the professors and other staff of the Faculty of Environmental and Symbiotic Sciences, I sincerely appreciate the diverse roles you played in ensuring a conducive environment

for my academic work. The student-teacher or staff-student relationships have been very unique and amazing. Thank you all for your support.

I also acknowledge the total contributions of the staff of the Centre of International Exchange and Education of PUK in ensuring my welfare and wellbeing and in ensuring that my stay at PUK, in Kumamoto and in Japan at large was successful and peaceful.

To Drs Randy Novirsa, Teerapong Duangdee, Huiho Jeong, Quang Phan Dinh, Miss Fan Chu Lan and current mercury scholarship students, I am very grateful for your contributions and support through suggestions, friendship and brotherly love that have ensured and continue to ensure a peaceful coexistence among us. You all have been very wonderful and I so much appreciate your friendships.

To past and current laboratory members, thank you all for your support, friendship and the show of love and harmony that ensured a peaceful coexistence with you and a successful completion of my PhD programme.

To my entire family, friends and other loved ones, I greatly and deeply appreciate your support and contributions through prayers and calls in ensuring my welfare and wellbeing as well as ensuring a successful stay in Japan. May God Almighty bless you all.

The author of this dissertation, with a grateful heart, also acknowledges the contributions and support of Mr. Theophilus N. Bruce and Mr. Francis O. Ntiamoah during sampling. The author also appreciates the cooperation of the farm owners and the artisanal and small-scale gold miners within the studied communities.

Additionally, the author acknowledges the publication of portions of chapters 2 and 3 of this dissertation in the form of journal articles. The portions of chapters 2 and 3, particularly of chapter 2 available in the form of journal article have been **"reproduced with permission from Springer Nature"**.

Finally, the author of this dissertation acknowledges and declares that the research work reported herein was done at the Graduate School of Environmental and Symbiotic Sciences, Prefectural University of Kumamoto, Japan. This research work has not been submitted for any other degree and any assistance obtained therein has been duly acknowledged.

Table of Contents

Abstract		
Dedicationvi		
Acknowledg	gementvii	
Table of Co	ntentsix	
List of Table	esxiii	
List of Figur	res xiv	
Chapter On	e1	
Introduction	n1	
1.1 Bac	kground2	
1.1.1	Problem of the Study10	
1.1.2	Objectives of the Study11	
1.1.3	Significance/Justification of the Study12	
1.1.4	Scope/Limitations of the Study13	
Chapter Tw	o 14	
Ecological R	Risk Assessment of the Samples and Farm Ecosystems14	
2.1 Intr	oduction15	
2.2 Mat	terials and Methods15	
2.2.1	Study Area15	
2.2.2	Sampling16	
2.2.2.1	Sample Preparation	
2.2.3	Experimentation17	
2.2.3.1	Cleaning and Decontamination17	
2.2.3.2	Reagents and Standard Solutions for Method Calibration18	
2.2.3.3	Soil Organic Matter (SOM) and pH Determinations	
2.2.3.4	Hg Content Analysis19	
2.2.3.5	Quality Control19	
2.2.4	Bioaccumulation Factor (BAF)19	
2.2.5	Ecological Risk Assessment of Samples and Farms (Study Areas)20	
2.2.6	Statistical and Data Analysis21	

2.3	Res	ults	.22
2.3	3.1	Hg Contents in Samples	.22
2.3	3.2	Effect of pH and SOM on Hg Contents of the Soils and the BAF of the Food Cro	ps
2.3	3.3	Bioaccumulation Factor (BAF)	.24 .25
2.3	3.4	Ecological Risk Assessment of Samples and Farms (Study Areas)	.26
2.4	Dis	cussion	.29
2.4	4.1	Hg Contents in Samples	.29
2.4	1.2	Effect of pH and SOM on Hg Contents of the Soils and the BAF of the Food Cro	ps .31
2.4	4.3	Bioaccumulation Factor (BAF)	.32
2.4	1.4	Ecological Risk Assessment of Samples and Farms (Study Areas)	.33
2.5	Cor	nclusion	.36
Chapte	er Th	ree	.37
- Potenti	ial Hı	uman Health Risks Assessment of Mercury-Contaminated Samples	.37
3.1	Intr	oduction	.38
3.2	Mat	terials and Methods	.38
3.2	2.1	Experimentation	.39
3.2	2.1.1	Reagents and MeHg Standard Solution for Calibration	.39
3.2	2.1.2	MeHg Extraction and Content Determination	.39
3.2	2.1.3	Quality Control	.40
3.2	2.2	Human Health Risk Assessment	.40
3.2	2.3	Statistical and Data Analysis	.41
3.3	Res	ults	.42
3.3	3.1	MeHg Contents and the Percentage Methylation of the Samples	.42
3.3	3.2	BAF	.43
3.3	3.3	Human Health Risk Assessment	.44
3.3	3.3.1	Hazard Quotient (HQ) and Estimated Average Daily Intake (eAvDI)	.44
3.3	3.3.2	Hazard Index (HI)	.44
3.3	3.3.3	Basic Kinetics of Hg Elimination and Retention	.46
3.4	Dis	cussion	.48

3.4.1	MeHg Contents and the Percentage Methylation of Samples	48
3.4.2	BAF and Mercury Toxicity	50
3.4.3	Human Health Risks Assessment	50
3.4.3.1	Hazard Quotient (HQ) and Estimated Average Daily Intake (eAvDI) of	of Samples .50
3.4.3.2	Hazard Index (HI)	51
3.4.3.3	Kinetics of Hg Elimination and Retention	52
3.5 Co	nclusion	54
Chapter Fo	our	55
Investigatio Very Low a repeated Pi	on of the Potential Subacute Developmental Toxicities and the Geno and High Mercury Levels of Mercury-contaminated Food Crops fol renatal Exposures – A Model Study	otoxicity of llowing 55
4.1 Int	roduction	56
4.1.1	Japanese Medaka as a Model Tool	57
4.2 Ma	aterials and Methods	57
4.2.1	Reagents	57
4.2.2	Preparation of Exposure Test Solutions	58
4.2.3	Brood stock	58
4.2.4.	Exposure and Toxicity Assessment of the Embryos	59
4.2.5	Post-Hatch Survival, Mortalities and Growth of Larvae	60
4.2.5.1	Concentration–Response Analysis	60
4.2.5.2	Body Weight and Total Length Determination	60
4.2.6	Genotoxicity Assessment of the Embryos	61
4.2.6.1	Gene Expression Analysis	61
4.2.6.2	Isolation, Purity and Quality Assessment of Total RNA	61
4.2.6.3	Gene Expression by RT-qPCR Analysis	61
4.2.7	Statistical and Data Analysis	62
4.3 Re	sults	63
4.3.1	Exposure Test Solutions	63
4.3.2	Stages of Embryonic Development	64
4.3.3.	Exposure and Toxicity Assessment of the Embryos	65
4.3.3.1	Effect of CH ₃ Hg ⁺ and Hg ²⁺ on Embryonic Development of Medaka	65

4.3.4	Post-Hatch Survival, Mortalities and Growth of Larvae	69	
4.3.4	4.1 Effect of CH ₃ Hg ⁺ and Hg ²⁺ on Larval Survival and Mortality	69	
4.3.4	4.1.1 Concentration–Response Analysis	71	
4.3.4	4.2 Effect of CH ₃ Hg ⁺ and Hg ²⁺ on Larval Growth	72	
4.3.5	5 Genotoxicity Assessment	73	
4.3.5	5.1 Concentrations, Purity and Quality Assessment of Total RNA	73	
4.3.5	5.2 Gene Expression by RT-qPCR Analysis	73	
4.4	Discussions	74	
4.4.1	Exposure Solutions	74	
4.4.2	2 Stages of Embryonic Development	74	
4.4.3	3 Exposure and Toxicity Assessment of the Embryos	75	
4.4.3	3.1 Effect of CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} on Embryonic Development	75	
4.4.4	Post-Hatch Survival, Mortalities and Growth of Larvae	79	
4.4.4	4.1 Effect of CH ₃ Hg ⁺ and Hg ²⁺ on Larval Survival and Mortality	79	
4.4.4	4.1.1 Concentration–Response Analysis	80	
4.4.4	4.2 Effect of CH ₃ Hg ⁺ and Hg ²⁺ on Larval Growth	81	
4.4.5	5 Genotoxicity Assessment	82	
4.4.5	5.1 Concentrations, Purity and Quality Assessment of Total RNA	82	
4.4.5	5.2 Gene Expression by RT-qPCR Analysis	83	
4.5	Deductions from the Toxicity Studies	84	
4.5.1	Human Foetal Subacute Developmental Toxicities	84	
4.5.2	2 Genotoxicity to the Human Foetus	86	
4.6	Conclusion	87	
Chapter	Five	88	
Conclusi	on and Recommendations	88	
5.1	Conclusion	89	
5.2	Recommendations	90	
References			
Appendix	Appendix106		

List of Tables

Table 1: Hg contents (µg/kg dw) of samples.	23
Table 2: pH and SOM (%) of the farmland soil samples.	24
Table 3: Contamination status and risk levels of samples and farms (study areas	s) using the
Hakanson, (1980) model	28
Table 4: MeHg contents (µg/kg dw) of the samples	42
Table 5: Ratio of MeHg to THg (percentage methylation) of samples	43
Table 6: BAFs for MeHg contents of the edible parts of the food crops.	44
Table 7: HQ, HI, eAvDI(ing) of food crops, and eAvDI(der) of farmland soils for bo	oth THg and
MeHg	45
Table 8a: Initial and final amounts ($\mu g/kg/yr$) of Hg following exposure and eliminati	on using the
first order decay kinetics formula.	47
Table 8b: Estimated period (years) for complete elimination of Hg following of	cessation of
exposureError! Bookmark I	not defined.
exposureError! Bookmark I Table 9: Selected genes and their corresponding sequenced primers	not defined. 62
exposure Error! Bookmark I Table 9: Selected genes and their corresponding sequenced primers Table 10a: Table 10a: The initial and final concentrations of exposure test solutions of CH ₃ H ₈	not defined. 62 g ⁺ , and their
exposureError! Bookmark I Table 9: Selected genes and their corresponding sequenced primers Table 10a: The initial and final concentrations of exposure test solutions of CH ₃ H _§ corresponding percentage deviations	not defined. 62 g ⁺ , and their 63
exposureError! Bookmark I Table 9: Selected genes and their corresponding sequenced primers Table 10a: The initial and final concentrations of exposure test solutions of CH ₃ H ₈ corresponding percentage deviations Table 10b: The initial and final concentrations of exposure test solutions of Hg ²	not defined. 62 g ⁺ , and their 63 ²⁺ , and their
exposureError! Bookmark I Table 9: Selected genes and their corresponding sequenced primers Table 10a: The initial and final concentrations of exposure test solutions of CH ₃ H ₈ corresponding percentage deviations Table 10b: The initial and final concentrations of exposure test solutions of Hg ² corresponding percentage deviations	not defined. 62 g ⁺ , and their 63 ²⁺ , and their 63
exposureError! Bookmark I Table 9: Selected genes and their corresponding sequenced primers Table 10a: The initial and final concentrations of exposure test solutions of CH ₃ Hg corresponding percentage deviations Table 10b: The initial and final concentrations of exposure test solutions of Hg ² corresponding percentage deviations Table 11a: Survival and mortality rates of the larvae of CH ₃ Hg ⁺ test solutions at 8 w	not defined. 62 g ⁺ , and their 63 ²⁺ , and their 63 vph70
 Error! Bookmark I Table 9: Selected genes and their corresponding sequenced primers Table 10a: The initial and final concentrations of exposure test solutions of CH₃H₈ corresponding percentage deviations Table 10b: The initial and final concentrations of exposure test solutions of Hg² corresponding percentage deviations	not defined. 62 g ⁺ , and their 63 ²⁺ , and their 63 vph70 71
 Error! Bookmark I Table 9: Selected genes and their corresponding sequenced primers Table 10a: The initial and final concentrations of exposure test solutions of CH₃H₈ corresponding percentage deviations Table 10b: The initial and final concentrations of exposure test solutions of Hg² corresponding percentage deviations	not defined. 62 g ⁺ , and their 63 ²⁺ , and their 63 vph70 71 h72
exposureError! Bookmark I Table 9: Selected genes and their corresponding sequenced primers Table 10a: The initial and final concentrations of exposure test solutions of CH ₃ H ₈ corresponding percentage deviations Table 10b: The initial and final concentrations of exposure test solutions of Hg ² corresponding percentage deviations Table 11a: Survival and mortality rates of the larvae of CH ₃ Hg ⁺ test solutions at 8 w Table 11b: Survival and mortality rates of the larvae of Hg ²⁺ test solutions at 8 wph Table 12a: Body weight, total length, and sex ratio of the Larvae of Hg ²⁺ at 8 wph	not defined. 62 g ⁺ , and their 63 ²⁺ , and their 63 vph70 71 h72 72
 Error! Bookmark I Table 9: Selected genes and their corresponding sequenced primers	not defined. 62 g ⁺ , and their 63 ²⁺ , and their 63 vph70 71 h72 72 ce: National

List of Figures

Fig. 1.1: Mercury emissions from the eight highest anthropogenic sources
Fig. 1.2: Plantain (Musa paradisiaca)9
Fig. 1.3: Cassava (Manihot esculenta)
Fig. 1.4: Map of Ghana showing the various gold deposit areas11
Fig. 1.5: Some ASGM activities in Ghana 11
Fig. 2.1: Hg Waste Flow within the Ecosystems under consideration15
Fig. 2.2: Map of the Study Area16
Fig. 2.3: Bioaccumulation factors of the edible parts and peels of plantains and cassavas
Fig. 3.1: Boxplot comparison between THg and InHg contents of samples
Fig 4.1a: Stages of embryonic development of Japanese medaka – for CH_3Hg^+ exposure solutions
Fig 4.1b: Stages of embryonic development of Japanese medaka – for Hg ²⁺ exposure solutions64
Fig 4.2: Variability in hatching time of medaka embryos65
Fig 4.3a: Some observed developmental toxicities (teratogenic effects) of CH ₃ Hg ⁺ during
embryogenesis
Fig. 4.3b: Some observed developmental toxicities (teratogenic effects) of Hg^{2+} during
embryogenesis
Fig 4.4: Experimental end points of CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+}
Fig 4.5a: Some observed developmental toxicities of CH ₃ Hg ⁺ during post-hatch assessment of the
larvae
Fig. 4.5b: Major post-hatch developmental toxicities of Hg^{2+} after 18 dpf70
Fig. 4.6: Cumulative mortality rate of CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+}
Fig 4.7: Concentration-response curves for embryos and larvae following 18 dpf exposures to
CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} and subsequent 8 wph assessment
Fig. 4.8: Quantification and quality assessment of isolated total RNA of embryos exposed to
CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+}
Fig. 4.9: Relative expression of cyclin B1 gene following 6 dpf exposures of medaka embryos to
CH ₃ Hg ⁺ and Hg ²⁺ test solutions74

Fig. 1 (appendix): Correlational graphs showing the effects of SOM and pH on the u	ptake of Hg
by soils and the food crops as well as the relationship between soil Hg content and the	Hg content
of the food crops.	107
Fig. 2 (appendix): Estimation of the prenatal exposure amounts of CH ₃ Hg ⁺ and Hg	²⁺ using the
LOAEL, LC ₅₀ and the highest concentration values	108

Chapter One

Introduction

1.1 Background

Mercury (Hg) has been in use since antiquity although its uses such as in dental amalgams and other industrial applications such as in pharmaceuticals, wood preservation, dry battery depolarization, leather tanning, etc. (Broussard et al., 2002) are gradually reducing recently due partly to the implementation of the Minamata Convention on Mercury in 2017. The Minamata Convention on Mercury is a global treaty that was adopted in 2013 with the main aim to protect humans and the environment from the adverse effects of Hg by reducing or possibly eliminating the anthropogenic sources of Hg, especially in ASGM operations, coal-fired power plants, etc. (USEPA, 2021a). It has been approximately five (5) years after the implementation of the treaty, Hg is still largely being used in Artisanal and small-scale gold mining (ASGM) operations, especially in the developing world for gold purification (Novirsa et al., 2020; Addai-Arhin et al., 2021, 2022) despite its toxic effects. However, it is expected that through the treaty, the next decades will see a considerable reduction in anthropogenic pollution of Hg, especially from the ASGM sectors, coal-fired power plants, non-ferrous metal production, etc. (USEPA, 2021a).

Hg pollution results from both natural and anthropogenic emission sources with ASGM constituting the largest (about 37%) of anthropogenic Hg emissions globally (Fig. 1) (Pirrone et al., 2010; UNEP, 2013; USEPA, 2016, 2021b). Although natural emission sources such as volcanoes, bushfires, evaporation from ocean surfaces, etc. may be significant, anthropogenic sources are extremely enormous and have contributed significantly to increased Hg levels in the global environment (Fig. 1). This has been due mainly to humans' quest for industrialization and economic growth (Eze et al, 2018; Anyanwu et al., 2020), especially in most developing countries where there is virtually no proper treatment processes for the generated waste. However, it is believed that reduction or elimination in anthropogenic releases of Hg such as in ASGM and other industrial applications will drastically reduce Hg pollution and the associated adverse health effects on humans and the environment.



Fig. 1.1: Mercury emissions from the eight highest anthropogenic sources. Total global anthropogenic emissions estimated around 1960 metric tons (UNEP, 2013; USEPA, 2016).

The long-range transboundary transport especially in air (Durnford et al., 2010; Huang et al., 2016), non-biodegradability, high bioaccumulation potential, toxicity even in low doses, and the high methylation potential, especially within the aquatic biota have made Hg one of the most potent environmental toxicants. Hg is classified by the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) as the third most toxic substance besides arsenic and lead (Rice et al., 2014) which occupy the first and the second positions, respectively. This means that the toxicity of Hg is well documented, especially after the Minamata disease in the mid-1950s which resulted from methylmercury (MeHg) poisoning through ingestion of Hg-contaminated fish and shellfish (Broussard et al., 2002; Hachiya, 2006; Yorifuji and Tsuda, 2014) and the Iraq MeHg poisoning which also occurred in the early 1970s through ingestion of bread produced from seed grains that were treated with a fungicide containing MeHg (Broussard et al., 2002). Nevertheless, there is little or virtually no information on Hg toxicities related to food crops such as plantains and cassavas since most studies on Hg risks or toxicities have centred on fish. Moreover, studies on Hg risk or toxicity still remains relevant due to the continuous use of Hg in ASGM operations and the incessant discharge of its waste into the environment.

Generally, Hg causes toxic effects by precipitating proteins (Broussard et al., 2002; Bernhoft, 2012) and inhibiting or interfering with DNA synthesis (Bernhoft, 2012), inhibition of enzymes (Broussard et al., 2002) and being corrosive, especially to the intestines (Broussard et al., 2002; Bernhoft, 2012). The affinity for sulfhydryl or thiol (SH), carboxyl, phosphoryl, amide, and amine groups ensure easy reaction of Hg with proteins including enzymes having any of such groups. The reaction, therefore, causes inactivation of proteins or enzyme inhibition (Broussard et al., 2002). This leads to any of the effects such as nephrotoxicity, neurotoxicity, immunotoxicity (Bernhoft, 2012; Oliveira et al., 2012; Ou et al., 2014), gastrointestinal toxicity (Broussard et al., 2002; Bernhoft, 2012), mutagenicity, genotoxicity, hepatotoxicity, teratogenicity, cardiotoxicity, haematological effects, and in some cases carcinogenicity (Ou et al., 2014).

Incessant exposure to Hg or its compounds may cause any of the indicated detrimental health effects and the long-term or short-term occurrence and the severity of such toxic effects may depend on the chemical form (i.e., elemental Hg (Hg^o), inorganic Hg (InHg) or MeHg), the dose, frequency of exposure, duration of exposure, route of exposure (Bernhoft, 2012; Rice et al., 2014; Teixeira et al., 2018), and probably the health status of the individual under exposure.

Hg° is widely distributed and accumulated within the body tissues but the brain is the major site for its toxicity (Langford and Ferner, 1999; Bernhoft, 2012). It is highly lipid soluble (Broussard et al., 2002) and has high affinity for biomolecules with SH groups such as cysteine, glutathione and some enzymes such as the sodium-potassium ATPase and porphobilinogen synthase (Oliveira et al., 2012). This accounts for its wide distribution, especially within the lipophilic compartments of the body and its ability to cross the placenta and the blood brain barrier (BBB) (Broussard et al., 2002). The major route of exposure of Hg° is inhalation (through the lungs) due to its high volatility even at room temperature, hence the atmosphere is the major exposure source contributing to about 70 – 85% absorption rate of Hg° (Broussard et al., 2002; Bernhoft, 2012; Ou et al., 2014) but dental amalgams, to some extent, may be another exposure source (Ou et al., 2014). The average half-life of Hg° is 60 days in a range of 35 - 90 days. This is suggestive of high retention time within the brain upon exposure and its toxicity usually results in neurological disorders due to its effects on brain cells (Broussard et al., 2002).

InHg, which is majorly available as salt of either Hg (I) or (II) compounds have different levels of toxicity due to differences in solubility. Hg (II) compounds are usually more soluble and toxic than Hg (I) compounds (Langford and Ferner, 1999; Bernhoft, 2012; Teixeira et al., 2018). InHg also causes toxicity to the renal, cardiovascular, reproductive, hepatic and gastrointestinal tract systems (Peixoto and Pereira, 2007; De Freitas et al., 2012; Gado and Aldamash, 2013; Kalendar et al., 2013; Omanwar et al., 2011, 2013; Joshi et al., 2014). Teixeira et al., (2018) stated that repeated exposure to low doses of InHg can result in oxidative stress, cell death and functional deficits within the motor cortex. Generally, InHg salts have low lipid solubility and do not easily cross the BBB and the placenta, hence InHg deposits are rarely found in the brain (Broussars et al., 2002; Bernhoft, 2012; Park and Zheng, 2012; Teixeira et al., 2018). However, the ionization of Hg^o in the brain, the slow elimination of InHg and long-term repeated exposures to InHg (Broussard et al., 2002) as well as its transport by amino acid transporters such as the cysteine (Bernhoft, 2012) can cause InHg deposits in the brain (Broussard et al., 2002). According to Broussard et al., (2002), the inability of InHg to easily cross the BBB and the placental barrier may also be attributed to its charge since charge particles have low membrane permeability. The primary exposure pathway is ingestion (through food or water) and only approximately 7 - 15%of the ingested amount is absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract upon exposure. InHg has high affinity for metallothionein (Broussard et al., 2002) but can also bind with SH groups on erythrocytes within the bloodstream or be suspended in plasma (Bernhoft, 2012). The high affinity for metallothionein accounts for its high accumulation in renal cells (Broussard et al., 2002; Bernhoft, 2012) since renal cells have high levels of metallothionein. Besides the kidneys, some percentage of InHg, especially in the form of Hg^{2+} can be found in the liver, epithelial tissues, choroidal plexus, and testes (Bernhoft, 2012). The half-life of InHg is about 40 - 42 days and its major excretory pathways are through faeces and urine (Broussard et al., 2002; Bernhoft, 2012) although some percentage can be excreted through sweat, saliva, and breast milk (Bernhoft, 2012).

Organic mercury compounds include both alkyl organic mercurial (OMs) such as methylmercury (MeHg), dimethyl mercury, ethyl mercury, etc. and aryl OMs e.g., phenyl mercury. The OMs are also highly lipid soluble or lipophilic and have high affinity for SH groups on cysteine, glutathione and other biomolecules (Broussard et al., 2002; Li et al., 2010; Bernhoft, 2012; Rice et al., 2014; Chan, 2019). The high lipophilic nature of OMs and their high affinity for

SH groups enhance their absorption from the GIT more readily than InHg. This is achieved by complexing with cysteine, which enables their passage across cell membrane on larger amino acid carriers (Broussard et al., 2002). Moreover, like Hg^o, the high lipophilic nature and SH affinity of OMs ensure their passage across the BBB and the placenta as well as their wide distribution and accumulation within body compartments such as the brain, liver, skin, hair, kidney, etc. but the brain is the major target organ (Broussard et al., 2002; Li et al., 2010; Bernhoft, 2012; Rice et al., 2014; Chan, 2019), hence OMs are mainly neurotoxic but can also be teratogenic, nephrotoxic, mutagenic, genotoxic, hepatotoxic as well as cause haematological and immunological effects (Broussard et al., 2002; Ou et al., 2014). MeHg and dimethyl mercury are the most toxic of all OMs but MeHg is the most prevalent and abundant (Bernhoft, 2012) probably due to its easy formation from the methylation of available InHg through the action of some microorganisms, particularly within the aquatic biota (Ou et al., 2014). Therefore, toxicity of OMs is always made with reference to MeHg (Bernhoft, 2012). The higher toxicity of MeHg than InHg is due to its lipophilicity which in turn, enhances its absorption and wider distribution within the human body. Moreover, ability to bio-accumulate also contributes to its higher toxicity. The absorption rate of MeHg is around 85 - 95% upon exposure and its elimination half-life is around 65 - 70 days with approximately 90% excreted through faeces (Broussard et al., 2002; Bernhoft, 2012). The major exposure pathway of MeHg is ingestion, especially through seafood such as fish and shell fish (Broussard et al., 2002; Ou et al., 2014) although it has been shown recently that rice may be another exposure source, particularly in regions where rice is a staple food (Ou et al., 2014; Novirsa et al., 2020).

Repeated exposures to Hg during pregnancy can have devastating nervous effects on the embryo since Hg, particularly MeHg or Hg^o easily crosses the placenta to the foetus. Foetal or childhood exposures to Hg begins from gestation through maternal – foetal transfer, and food consumption is the major exposure source (WHO, 2008). According to Mandana, (2016), an embryo's nervous system is very vulnerable to toxicants and exposure to these toxicants, especially during the third week of pregnancy can cause central nervous system (CNS) problems such as defects in attention, behaviour, cognition, and motor skills. Pregnant women may not show signs of Hg intoxication but the effects which result from mother – foetal transfer during gestation are likely to be seen in the foetus or the new-born soon or sometime after birth.

Studies on human embryonic or foetal developmental toxicities upon exposure to InHg is not well established in literature due to its poor passage across the placenta and the BBB. The poor passage of InHg across the placenta and the BBB, therefore, suggests that some amount of InHg, irrespective of how low, can be transferred from the mother to the foetus upon repeated prenatal exposures. This is evidenced in studies by Ask et al., (2002), Walker et al., (2006), Kim et al., (2015), etc. which directly and indirectly indicated levels of InHg in maternal and cord blood. Moreover, the percent maternal-foetal transfer of InHg may be dependent on the prenatal exposure doses. This means that prenatal exposures to very high levels such as in plantains and cassavas used in this study, can result in significant percentage of maternal-foetal transfer, and such levels may be detrimental to the foetus (WHO, 2008) either prenatally or postnatally or both.

The developmental toxicities of Hg is characterised with several neurophysiological and mental defects following prenatal exposures (Boischio, 2015; Mandana, 2016). Mandana, (2016) indicated how researchers from Kumamoto University, Japan, described two cases of children who were affected by cerebral palsy after the MeHg poisoning from the Minamata bay in the mid-1950s. According to Mandana, (2016), the researchers observed that the affected children were underdeveloped, could not move purposefully, had poor mental development and experienced convulsions. The researchers also observed a severe impact of MeHg on the CNS, which caused degeneration and decreased number of neurons in the brains of the children. Particularly, there was a disappearance of granule and pyramidal cells, narrowing of the molecular layer, reduction in central white matter, diffused atrophy of the foliar within the hemisphere of the cerebellum, myelination of the hindbrain, especially in the pons and the medulla oblongata and the elimination of Purkinje cells, which ensure proper functioning of the cerebellum, which in turn, is responsible for movement coordination and posture maintenance.

Another case of developmental defects of Hg was reported by researchers from Baghdad University, Iraq and Rochester Medical Centre, Rochester, New York, of two infants who were prenatally exposed to MeHg during the MeHg intoxication in Iraq in the early 1970s. The researchers stated that one of the infants died after thirty-three days and the other immediately after birth. Post-mortem analysis showed high MeHg levels in their blood which were responsible for the severe abnormal neuronal migration in the cerebral and cerebellar white matter. There were also disorganization and misalignment of cerebral cortex neurons (Mandana, 2016).

Bland and Rand, (2006) also showed that MeHg alters the notch signalling between developing nerve cells in fruit fly embryos. The notch signalling pathway mechanism in developing organisms has effect on cell fate, proliferation, migration, and neurite growth.

Tamm et al., (2006), reported that cells died when neural stem cell line from mice and primary embryonic cortical neural stem cells from rats were used to investigate the effects of MeHg exposure. Tamm et al., (2006) concluded that the cell death caused a reduction in the number of progenitor cells in cell population.

In 2008, some Brazilian and USA researchers also concluded that MeHg caused impaired glutathione antioxidant system in new-born mice when they were exposed to MeHg as embryos.

Another group of researchers from Egypt and USA also observed that zebrafish embryos had delayed neuronal development at low concentrations while there was extremely higher mortality especially in embryos which could not develop neural tubes upon exposure to higher levels of MeHg (Mandana, 2016).

According to Bernhoft, (2012), higher prenatal intoxication of MeHg induces cerebral palsy while exposure to lesser doses prenatally is characterised by neurodevelopmental delays and cognitive defects.

Engel and Rand, (2014) reported that MeHg caused a disruption in the production of a key protein in developing muscles, which in turn, caused a disruption in the signals between motor neurons and the muscles.

Drwiega, (2016) also reported that children below 12 years whose mothers have been involved in ASGM activities in some ASGM hotspots in Indonesia, had devastating health effects which included frequent seizures, cleft lips and palates, hydrocephalus, microcephaly, born without anus, born without complete fingers, toes and limbs, clubfoot, cerebral palsy, and leukaemia.

Additionally, Wang et al., (2019) found a significant decrease in neonatal behavioural development upon prenatal exposures to low Hg levels and concluded that there is the need to reduce exposure levels of Hg through fish consumption, particularly for women of childbearing age.

Llorente Ballesteros et al., (2020) in their study found that about 12% of pregnant women in Madrid, Spain, had MeHg levels above the USEPA reference level of 5.8 μ g/L while 31% were above the 3.6 μ g/L benchmark suggested by other researchers. They stated that Spanish women of childbearing age continue to have increased MeHg and there is a probability that about 19,000 infants born within Madrid, Spain, each year may be at risk of MeHg upon repeated prenatal exposures through fish consumption. Hence, it was advisable for these women to regulate the intake of fish per week.

Other studies including Ursinyova et al., (2019), Sekovanić et al., (2020), Stratakis et al., (2020), Sakamoto et al., (2021), and Shih et al., (2021) estimated the Hg levels in maternal and cord blood of pregnant women to assess the potential prenatal exposure to Hg through fish consumption. These and many other studies suggest that Hg causes serious developmental defects or risks upon frequent prenatal exposures, particularly through food consumption with majority of the defects, if not all, directed towards the CNS.

With ASGM as the largest Hg emission source globally and ingestion especially food consumption as the commonest exposure pathway of mercury, this study primarily aimed at evaluating the potential ecological and human health risks following exposures to Hg-contaminated plantains (Fig. 1.1) and cassavas (Fig. 1.2) (staple food) sourced from farms located near ASGM facilities in selected ASGM communities around Obuasi, Ghana.



Fig. 1.2: Plantain (Musa paradisiaca)



Fig 1.3: Cassava (Manihot esculenta)

1.1.1 Problem of the Study

Ghana has several gold deposits as shown in Fig. 1.3. As a result, ASGM facilities are scattered mostly within the rural communities of the regions with gold deposits. According to Clifford, (2017), Ghana has about 500,000 to 1,000,000 miners in the ASGM sector. The ASGM sector produced about 1123 tons of gold between 1980 and 2008 and contributed about 25% of the total gold production in 2010. The 1123 tons of gold led to about 1123 – 2245 tons of Hg emissions into the environment between 1980 and 2008 with total emissions of about 79 – 158 tons only in 2008 considering a gold production: Hg emissions ratio of 1:1-2. Additionally, an estimated 50 and 40 tons of gold were produced by the ASGM sector in 2018 and 2019, respectively. These also resulted in an estimated release of 50 - 100 and 40 - 80 tons of Hg into the environment in 2018 and 2019, respectively. These releases of Hg raise serious environmental and toxicological concerns, particularly when global average emission of Hg by the ASGM sector is estimated around 727 (410 – 1040) tons annually (UNEP, 2013).

The proliferation of ASGM activities in Ghana has resulted in ASGM facilities being sited near food crop farms, particularly in rural communities where crop farming is also considered one of the major economic activities. The miners with little or no knowledge of the environmental and the human health effects of Hg (UNEP, 2013; Novirsa et al., 2020), ignorantly and incessantly discharge Hg waste from the facilities into the farms. This may lead to contamination of the food crops, especially plantains (*Musa paradisiaca*) and cassavas (*Manihot esculenta*), which are among the staple food crops eaten by about 80 - 85% Ghanaians daily, hence are commonly cultivated in most farms within the rural communities. Long-term frequent releases of Hg into the environment can have detrimental effects on the entire ecosystem. Additionally, long-term human exposures to Hg-contaminated food crops through ingestion may be associated with adverse human health effects, particularly to the human foetus following repeated prenatal exposures.





Fig. 1.5: Some ASGM activities in Ghana (Ghana Environmental Protection Agency, 2018; Swira, 2019).

Fig. 1.4: Map of Ghana showing the various gold deposit areas. Greater Accra and the Volta are the only regions without gold deposit.

1.1.2 Objectives of the Study

The specific objectives were to:

- **a.** Determine the contamination levels of soil, plantain, and cassava samples and assess their potential ecological risks using the Hakanson, (1980) model. Ecological risk in this context referred to risk of Hg contamination to the entire ecosystem i.e., risk to soil, water bodies, plants, animals, and humans.
- b. Evaluate the potential human health risks of long-term repeated exposures to total mercury (THg) and the MeHg levels of the soil, plantain, and cassava samples using the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA, 2004 and 2007) risk assessment models.
- **c.** Investigate the potential subacute developmental toxicities and the genotoxicity of very high InHg and low MeHg levels of Hg-contaminated plantains and cassavas upon repeated prenatal exposures using Japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*) embryos as models.

These three specific objectives constituted the chapters 2, 3, and 4 of this study, respectively.

1.1.3 Significance/Justification of the Study

The inevitable use of Hg in ASGM in Ghana and its frequent releases into the environment indicate that humans and the entire ecosystem are potentially at risk of the devastating effects of Hg. The Hg poisoning in Minamata, Japan and Iraq also suggest that food ingestion has been the major cause of Hg poisoning. This means that long-term repeated exposures to Hg-contaminated plantains and cassavas can cause serious adverse human health effects of Hg. Many studies on developmental toxicities of Hg, particularly MeHg have centred on fish due probably to the higher MeHg levels and its higher bioaccumulation in Fish. There are virtually no studies on the developmental toxicities of Hg in food crops such as plantains and cassavas, which are staple food in Ghana, and contain very low and high levels of MeHg and InHg, respectively.

Although MeHg levels in these food crops are extremely lower compared to fish (Addai-Arhin et al., 2021, 2022), the levels may be significant enough to cause prenatal or postnatal foetal abnormalities upon frequent or repeated prenatal exposures due to its higher absorption rate (85 – 95%) (Broussard et al., 2002; Bernhoft, 2012; Rice et al., 2014), higher bioaccumulation (Broussard et al., 2002; Bernhoft, 2012), and its ability to cross the placenta and the BBB (Broussard et al., 2002; Bernhoft, 2012; Ou et al., 2014). For InHg, although it has extremely lower absorption rate (7.5%), and poor passage across the placenta and the BBB, the extremely higher levels in the food crops used in this study also suggest that some percentage, irrespective of how low, can be transferred from the mother to the foetus upon repeated prenatal exposures. Such maternal-foetal transfer amount of InHg can potentially cause foetal developmental abnormalities as indicated by WHO, (2008).

Additionally, the higher vulnerability and sensitivity of the developing foetus to Hg intoxication (Health and Environment Aliance, 2002; Patel et al., 2019), and the fact that there is no known safe level of exposure to environmental Hg, particularly during pregnancy (Health and Environment Aliance, 2002; Bose-O'Reilly, 2010) suggest that very low Hg levels can be detrimental to the developing foetus or the new-born through gradual bioaccumulation. Therefore, there is the need to continually monitor the Hg levels in these food crops and evaluate the potential human health risks associated with such levels upon long-term repeated exposures or repeated prenatal exposures. Furthermore, the inevitable and/or continuous use of Hg in ASGM requires

constant monitoring of Hg releases into the ecosystem to protect the health of humans and the ecosystem.

1.1.4 Scope/Limitations of the Study

The study wholly centred on the potential risks of Hg-contaminated plantains and cassavas sourced from farms located near ASGM facilities in selected ASGM communities around Obuasi, Ghana. As stated in the specific objectives, the risks included **1.** Ecological risks of the farms from which samples were obtained, **2.** Potential human health risks of Hg-contaminated samples, and **3.** Potential subacute developmental toxicities and the genotoxicity which focused on repeated prenatal exposures to low MeHg and high InHg levels through frequent ingestion of Hg-contaminated plantains and cassavas. The human health risk of Hg was narrowed down to the developmental toxicities and the genotoxicity due to the vulnerability and the sensitivity of the foetuses and new-borns to Hg intoxication and its irreversible effects on them. The study was limited to ASGM because it is the only major source of Hg emissions in Obuasi and its surrounding communities. Moreover, plantains and cassavas were used as main samples in this study because they are staple diets for many Ghanaians, hence considered suitable tools for Hg risk assessment.

Chapter Two

Ecological Risk Assessment of the Samples and Farm Ecosystems

Publication

Sylvester Addai-Arhin, Randy Novirsa, Huiho Jeong, Quang Phan Dinh, Nana Hirota, Hideki Shiratsuchi, Yasuhiro Ishibashi, and Koji Arizono. (2022). Mercury Waste from Artisanal and Small-Scale Gold Mining Facilities: A Risk to Farm Ecosystems – A Case Study of Obuasi, Ghana. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, (August 2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-022-22456-4

2.1 Introduction

This chapter detailed the effects of Hg waste from ASGM activities on the ecosystems of the study areas under consideration in this study. The effects of Hg on the components of a particular ecosystem are interconnected i.e., the effect on one component may lead to the effect on another component (Fig. 2.1) since these components are inter-dependent. The totality of these effects show up on ecosystem functions which can later lead to the destruction of the ecosystem integrity. Therefore, this chapter evaluated the Hg contamination levels of samples and the study areas (farms) and their associated potential ecological risks using the Hakanson, (1980) model for ecological risk assessment.



Fig. 2.1: Hg Waste Flow within the Ecosystems under consideration (Addai-Arhin et al., 2021).

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Study Area

Obuasi, one of the largest gold mining towns in Ghana, is the capital of Obuasi Municipal. It is part of the Ashanti Region of Ghana (Fig. 2.2) and harbours Anglogold Ashanti, one of the largest and lucrative mining companies in Africa (Bedu-Addo et al. 2018; Akoto et al., 2018). It is located at latitude 5.35 °N and 5.65 °N (Bedu-Addo et al. 2018; Akoto et al., 2018) and has a total land mass of approximately 162.4 km² (Bedu-Addo et al., 2018; Akoto et al., 2018) with about 287,000 inhabitants (Akoto et al., 2018). It has around 63 urban communities (Bedu-Addo

et al., 2018) and surrounded by several rural communities including Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, Ahansonyewodea, and Odumase (Fig. 2.2). Obuasi has a very mountainous landscape (Akoto et al., 2018) with savanna climate (Bedu-Addo et al., 2018; Akoto et al., 2018). It has two rainy seasons in a year with an average annual precipitation of 1450 mm (Bedu-Addo et al., 2018). The average annual temperature is 25.5 °C with 23 °C and 30 °C as the minimum and the maximum, respectively while relative humidity falls between 75 and 80 % in wet seasons (Bedu-Addo et al., 2018; Akoto et al., 2018). Obuasi is counted among the richest gold deposits in West Africa. The gradual transformation of Obuasi into a modern mining town began in the latter part of the 19th century and is currently one of the densely populated towns in Ghana (Akoto et al., 2018). Mining is the main economic backbone of the inhabitants of Obuasi and its surrounding communities with a greater percentage of the ASGM facilities located in the surrounding rural communities.



Fig. 2.2: Map of the Study Area (Addai-Arhin et al., 2021, 2022b).

2.2.2 Sampling

Sampling was done in August 2019. A total of twelve (12) farms and four (4) ASGM facilities with three (3) farms and one (1) ASGM facility from each selected community were used in this study. The selection of the farms was based on their proximity to the ASGM facilities. Farmland soils, plantains and cassavas were randomly sampled from five (5) different sampling locations in each farm. Plantains and cassavas were used as samples because they are staple diets

for many Ghanaians, hence cultivated in most farms. Farmland soil samples were sampled from 15-20 cm below the topsoil using a new stainless-steel machete (40 cm length x 7 cm width) from Crocodile Machete Ltd, Tema, Ghana. The farmland soils were used as samples because they serve as sinks for contaminants, hence a source of contaminants bioaccumulation in plants. A total of 165 samples with five (5) samples from each sample group (farmland soils, plantains, and cassavas) were obtained from each farm at Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, Ahansonyewodea, and Odumase but no cassava samples were obtained from the farms at Odumase.

2.2.2.1 Sample Preparation

The plantain and cassava samples were washed and peeled. The edible parts and the peels were cut into pieces for easy drying. The farmland soils, edible parts, and the peel samples were dried at room temperature for three weeks. The edible parts and the peels of plantains and cassavas were powdered, and all the samples homogenized or sifted using sieve of mesh size 120 µm. The same samples from each farm were composited and re-homogenized or resifted. Approximately 1 kg of each re-homogenized or resifted composite sample was prepared. A total of 54 composite samples including the peels were obtained. The plantain and the cassava peels were also used as samples because they are used as feed for both free and non-free-range animals such as goats, sheep, and cattle, hence form an integral part of the farm ecosystems under consideration (Fig. 2.1) in this study. The 54 composite samples were resifted the second time using a sieve of mesh size 150 µm to obtain finer particles and kept in a cold room at -23 °C for Hg content analysis. All the samples were dried at 35 °C using Isuzu auto-tuning control drying oven system, DS type (Isuzu Seisakusho Co. Ltd, Niigata, Japan) prior to instrumental analysis.

2.2.3 Experimentation

2.2.3.1 Cleaning and Decontamination

All glassware and plastic-ware were washed in detergent solution, rinsed severally with milli-Q water (Barnstead Smart2Pure, ThermoFischer Scientific, USA), sonicated for ten (10) minutes using ultrasonic cleaner AU-166C from Aiwa Medical Industry Co. Ltd, Tokyo, Japan and soaked in 10 % (v/v) nitric acid for 48 hours. They were again rinsed severally with milli-Q water after removal from nitric acid solution and kept in a dryer at 35 °C before analysis.

Sample boats were washed in detergent solutions, rinsed twice with distilled water, sonicated for 15 minutes using the ultrasonic cleaner and soaked in 10 % (v/v) nitric acid solution for 24 hours. The sample boats were rinsed thrice with milli-Q water after removal from nitric acid solution and dried using a hand dryer. The sample boats were then burnt in an Isuzu auto-tuning control furnace system, AT-S13 (Isuzu Seisakusho Co. Ltd, Niigata, Japan) at 750 °C for six (6) hours. The same burning temperature and time were used for the burning of additive B. Additive B is used as a cover for solid samples and as an absorbent for liquid samples, hence use as a blank in Hg analysis with the MA-3000 equipment. It is a white potassium iodide granule manufactured by FUJIFILM Wako Pure Chemical Corporation, Osaka, Japan and supplied by Nippon Instruments Corporation, Tokyo, Japan.

2.2.3.2 Reagents and Standard Solutions for Method Calibration

All reagents used were of analytical grade and obtained from FUJIFILM Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Osaka, Japan. Calibration standard solutions of concentrations 10 ppb, 100 ppb and 1 ppm Hg^{2+} in 5 % (v/v) nitric acid solution were prepared serially from 10 ppm Hg^{2+} standard stock solution. The calibration standards were stored at 4 °C prior to analysis.

2.2.3.3 Soil Organic Matter (SOM) and pH Determinations

SOM content was determined using the method described by Akoto et al., (2018). Approximately 1 g of dried farmland soils was weighed into ceramic crucible using AS ONE analytical/electronic balance, (AS ONE Corporation, Osaka, Japan) and burnt using the auto-tuning furnace control system at 600 °C for five (5) hours. The % loss in weight was calculated as SOM using the equation:

 $\frac{W_1 - W_2}{W_1} \ge 100 \% = \text{SOM (\%)}. - - - \text{equation 2.1 Where: } W_1 = \text{weight before burning and } W_2$ = weight after burning.

The pH of the farmland soils was determined using a calibrated AS ONE pH meter, model AS 800 (AS ONE Corporation, Osaka, Japan) to measure the pH of a sample-milli-Q water suspension (2 g of soil: 50 mL of milli-Q water) at temperatures ranging from 23.7 °C to 24.9 °C of the suspensions.

2.2.3.4 Hg Content Analysis

About 30 mg of each dried sample was weighed into sample boats in triplicates and put in a direct Hg analyser, MA-3000 (Nippon Instruments Corporation, Tokyo, Japan) for Hg content analysis. Farmland soils were analysed separately from the edible parts and the peels of food crops after obtaining suitable low and high calibration curves using the calibration standard solutions indicated above.

2.2.3.5 Quality Control

Instrumental analysis was triplicated for each sample with a triplicate determination for each instrumental analysis. A blank analysis after triplicate determination of each 3 samples was also carried out. Recovery analysis was carried out by spiking some of the samples. About 2 g of farmland soil samples were spiked with 7 μ g of 1 ppm Hg²⁺ standard solution for Hg recovery analysis. For plantain and cassava samples, approximately 2 g were spiked with 0.7 μ g of 100 ppb Hg²⁺ standard solution for Hg recovery analysis. For reliability of the method used and accuracy of the results, two certified reference materials (CRM), NMIJ 7302-a (National Metrology Institute, Japan) and ERM-CC580 (Institute of Reference Materials and Measurements, Belgium) were used.

2.2.4 Bioaccumulation Factor (BAF)

The BAF is an important parameter for consideration in risk evaluation of environmental samples involving soils and food samples (UK Environment Agency, 2009). The BAF defines the absorption and bioaccumulation of contaminants in plants and may be used as a measure of the level of risk or toxicity associated with plants (Addai-Arhin et al., 2021). The BAF was, therefore, used to determine the bioaccumulation of Hg in plantains and cassavas (both the edible and the peels) as a first step in assessing the ecological risk of Hg contamination to the farm ecosystems. It was evaluated using the equation:

$$BAF = \frac{\text{Hg content}_{(\text{edible or peels})}}{\text{Hg content}_{(\text{soil})}} - - - \text{equation 2.2}$$

2.2.5 Ecological Risk Assessment of Samples and Farms (Study Areas)

Ecological risk assessment was done using the Hakanson, (1980) model. This model is based on the monomial ecological risk (M_{er}) and the potential ecological risk (P_{er}) indices. The M_{er} was used to assess the risk associated with the samples while the P_{er} was also used to assess the risk associated with the farms. The contamination and risk levels of the samples were used as a measure of the level of contamination and risk associated with the farms in the respective study areas. Applying the Hakanson, (1980) model, the associated ecological risk values of samples and farms were obtained from the equations below:

 $C_f = \frac{C_m}{C_{rf}} - - -$ equation 2.3 (For individual samples from the farms in each study area), $C_{deg} = \sum C_f - - -$ equation 2.4 (For all farms from each study area), $M_{er} = C_f \times T_f - - -$ equation 2.5 (For individual samples from the farms in each study area) and $P_{er} = \sum M_{er} - - -$ equation 2.6 (For all farms from each study area).

Where:

 $C_f = \text{contamination factor of a metal (Hg)}$ which may reflect the contamination behaviour of the environment but does not show any ecological risk and classified as; $C_f < 1 = \text{low contamination}$, $1 < C_f \le 3 = \text{medium contamination}$, $C_f > 3 = \text{high contamination}$, $C_m = \text{mean concentration of Hg}$ in a sample, $C_{rf} = \text{background}$ or reference value of Hg [in this case, 500 µg/kg for farmland soil by the Swiss Environmental Regulation (Ritscher, 2018), 100 µg/kg for edible parts of plantains and cassavas by the World Health Organization (WHO) (WHO, 2000) and 100 µg/kg for plantain and cassava peels by the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE)-European Directive 2002/32/EC (Li et al., 2017a)], $C_{deg} = degree$ of contamination which indicates the combined contamination factors (C_f) of all metal/metalloids in the environment (in this case, C_f of all samples from the farms in each study area) and classified as; $C_{deg} < 5 = \text{low}$ degree of contamination, $10 \le C_{deg} < 20 = \text{high degree of contamination}$, $M_{er} < 40 = \text{low risk}$, $40 \le M_{er} < 80 = \text{moderate risk}$, $80 \le M_{er} < 160 = \text{considerable risk}$, $160 \le M_{er} < 320 = \text{High risk}$, $M_{er} \ge$
320 = very high risk and P_{er} defines the integrated or combined ecological risk of all heavy metals in an investigated environment (in this case, M_{er} of all samples from the farms in each study area) and is classified as; P_{er} $\leq 150 =$ low risk, 150 < Per $\leq 300 =$ moderate risk, 300 < P_{er} $\leq 600 =$ considerable risk, P_{er} > 600 = very high risk and T_f = toxic factor of Hg = 40. The P_{er} is a common indicator that is used to assess the ecological risks or effects of heavy metals/metalloids on the environment, hence applicable to most environmental samples such as water, sediment, soil, and food crops.

2.2.6 Statistical and Data Analysis

Results were statistically analysed using statistical software IBM SPSS statistics version 26 from IBM Corporations, New York, USA and Microsoft Office Excel 2013 from Microsoft Corporations, USA. Descriptive statistics were used to obtain the mean Hg contents of the samples and the mean pH and SOM values of the soil samples. Regression analysis at significant probability $(p) \le 0.05$ and 0.001 were used to evaluate the effect of Hg content of farmland soils on Hg contents of the food crops, effect of pH and SOM on Hg content of farmland soils, effect of pH and SOM on Hg content of the food crops, effect of pH and SOM on Hg content of farmland soils, effect of pH and SOM on Hg content of the food crops. Paired sample t-test (2-tailed) and non-parametric test using the Wilcoxon sign ranked test and the sign test at 95 % confidence interval (CI) were also used to evaluate the statistical difference ($p \le 0.05$) in Hg contents of the same samples from different study areas, pH and SOM among farmland soils from the study areas, and the BAF of the food crop samples from the same and different study areas. The BAF values were presented in a bar graph with error bars representing standard error of the mean (SEM). The study area map was done using Surfer Golden Software, version 16 by Golden Software Inc., Colorado, USA.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Hg Contents in Samples

Table 1 shows the results for Hg contents ($\mu g/kg dw$) of samples from the farms in each study area. The Hg contents of the edible parts and the peels of plantains ranged from 39.1 ±4.6 from farms at Nyamebekyere to 579.8 ±8.1 from farms at Odumase and 41.1 ±5.5 from farms at Ahansonyewodea to 274.8 ±12.6 from farms at Odumase, respectively. The Hg contents of the edible parts of plantains from farms at Tweapease and Ahansonyewodea were relatively equal, hence the difference was not statistically significant (p > 0.05) but the difference between the peels was statistically significant (p < 0.05). Additionally, there were statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) in Hg contents among the plantain samples (both the edible parts and the peels) from the farms in other study areas.

The Hg contents of the edible parts and the peels of cassavas also ranged from 114.7 ± 9.8 from farms at Ahansonyewodea to 331.2 ± 8.7 from farms at Tweapease and 338.4 ± 19.5 from farms at Ahansonyewodea to 984.3 ± 5 from farms at Tweapease, respectively (Table 1). This meant that farms at Ahansonywodea had the lowest Hg content while those at Tweapease had the highest for both the edible parts and the peels. However, like plantains, there were statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) in Hg content between the peels and the edible parts of cassavas. The Hg contents of the edible parts and the peels of cassavas from farms at Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea were extremely higher than those of plantains.

The Hg content of farmland soils was highest in farms at Odumase (16346 ±289.4) and lowest in farms at Ahansonyewodea (1335 ±27.5) (Table 1). The Hg contents of farmland soils from farms at Odumase, were on average, approximately 86 % higher than those from the farms in other study areas. This probably explained the extremely higher Hg content of the edible parts and the peels of plantains from farms at Odumase. Like plantains and cassavas, there were statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) in Hg contents among farmland soils across the study areas.

Upon comparison with guideline values, the edible parts of plantains from farms at Odumase and the edible parts of cassavas from farms at Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea are contaminated with Hg since the Hg content exceeded the 100 μ g/kg

guideline limit by WHO for food other than fish (WHO, 2000). Plantain peels from the farms at Tweapease and Odumase as well as those of cassavas from farms at Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea had Hg content values (Table 1) above the 100 μ g/kg guideline limit by the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE), European Directive 2002/32/EC for plants used as animal feed (Li et al., 2017a), hence are also contaminated with Hg. The farmland soils from all the farms are also contaminated with Hg due to Hg contents above the 500 μ g/kg guideline limit or reference value by the Swiss Environmental Regulation (Ritscher, 2018). Averagely, farmland soils, plantains (edible parts), plantain peels, cassava (edible parts), and cassava peels were about 11.5, 1.8, 1.3, 2.3 and 6.6-fold higher than their respective guideline values.

	Tweapea	se			Nyamebo	ekyere			
	Min	Max	Mean ±SD	Min	Max	Mean ±SD			
Plantain - Edible	39.5	64.6	50.0 ±10.1	33.2	46.8	39.1 ± 4.6			
Plantain – Peels	107.1	145.4	130.2 ±17.0 ^c	79.3	101.3	90.6 ± 8.6			
Cassava – Edible	320.9	345.4	331.2 ±8.7 ^b	236.3	248.1	242.6 ±4.2 ^b			
Cassava - Peels	978.3	990.9	984.3 ±5.0 ^c	627.4	668.0	648.1 ±15.6 ^c			
Farmland Soils	3535.5	3880.3	3684.0 ±126.3ª	2013.7	2045.0	2029.0 ±11.0ª			
	Ahanse	onyewodea		Odumase					
	Min	Max	Mean ±SD	Min	Max	Mean ±SD			
Plantain - Edible	46.7	54.1	49.7 ±2.4	567.7	586.7	579.8 ± 8.1 ^b			
Plantain – Peels	33.3	48.0	41.1 ±5.5	262.7	292.8	274.8 ± 12.6 ^c			
Cassava – Edible	100.0	130.3	114.7 ±9.8 ^b	-	-	-			
Cassava - Peels	305.6	370.3	338.4 ±19.5°	-	-	-			
Farmland Soils	1294.8	1387.1	1335.0 ±27.5ª	15964.7	16692.8	16346.0 ±289.4ª			
Note:									

Number of Determinations (n) = 9.

Guideline Values:

^a 500 µg/kg for Farmland Soils by the Swiss Environmental Regulation.

^b 100 µg/kg for edible parts of plantains and cassavas by WHO.

^c 100 µg/kg for plantain and cassava peels by UNECE-European Directive 2002/32/EC.

^a, ^b, and ^c superscript letters represent Hg content values above their respective guideline values.

2.3.2 Effect of pH and SOM on Hg Contents of the Soils and the BAF of the Food Crops

pH and SOM were evaluated since they influence Hg uptake from the soil by plants. The uptake of Hg may have effect on the BAF of plants. The BAF, therefore, defines the toxicity of Hg to plants, animals, and humans through the food chain (UK Environment Agency, 2009; Chang et al., 2014; Bortey-Sam et al., 2015a; Bedu-Addo et al., 2018). This is the reason the effect of Hg contents of farmland soils on Hg contents of the food crops, effect of pH and SOM on Hg contents of farmland soils and the food crops, and the effect of pH and SOM on the BAF of the food crops were evaluated. These regression studies helped in establishing whether soil Hg was available for uptake by the food crops. The availability of soil Hg for uptake by the food crops is well explained in 2.4.2.

Results for SOM and pH are shown in Table 2. The pH range (7.03 - 7.34) of farmland soils was very narrow, hence the differences in pH among the farmland soils were not statistically significant (p > 0.05). The pH values were near or within the neutral region and thus, showed the neutrality of the farmland soils. For SOM, the range (4.00 - 7.83 %) of farmland soils was relatively wider, hence the differences were statistically significant (p < 0.05) between Tweapease and Ahansonyewodea, Tweapease and Odumase, Nyamebekyere and Ahansonyewodea as well as Nyamebekyere and Odumase. However, the differences in SOM between Tweapease and Nyamebekyere as well as Ahansonyewodea and Odumase were not statistically significant (p >0.05). The highest SOM of Ahansonyewodea and Odumase might be due to the proximity of the selected farms in these two study areas to garbage dumpsites, hence the significant differences in SOM of these two study areas from Tweapease and Nyamebekyere.

			Soil Cha	aracteristics		
		pН			SOM (%	6)
	Min	Max	Mean ±SD	Min	Max	Mean ±SD
Tweapease	6.90	7.38	7.20 ± 0.23	3.98	4.02	$4.00 \pm 0.02*$
Nyamebekyere	6.73	7.20	7.03 ± 0.22	4.08	4.37	4.24 ±0.13*
Ahansonyewodea	6.74	7.43	7.15 ±0.31	7.42	8.17	7.83 ±0.33
Odumase	7.27	7.45	7.34 ± 0.08	6.42	7.08	6.72 ±0.29

Table 2: pH and SOM (%) of the farmland soil samples (Addai-Arhin et al., 2021, 2022b).

Note:

Number of Determinations (n) = 9

 $\frac{W_1 - W_2}{W_1}$ x 100 % = SOM (%). Where: W_1 = weight before burning and W_2 = weight after burning.

* Indicates statistically significant difference (p < 0.05) in SOM of Tweapease and Nyambekeyere from Ahansonyewodea and Odumase.

2.3.3 Bioaccumulation Factor (BAF)

BAF results are shown in Fig. 2.3. For farms at Tweapease and Nyamebekyere, the BAF values of plantain peels were higher than those of the edible parts. This meant that the peels bio accumulated more Hg than the edible parts. For farms at Ahansonyewodea and Odumase, the reverse was the case, indicating that the edible parts of plantains had more Hg bio accumulated in them than the peels. The farms at Nyamebekyere had the highest BAF for the peels of the food crops while those at Ahansonyewodea also had the highest BAF for only the edible parts of plantains. This probably accounted for the highest BAF of plantains (edible parts + peels) from the farms in these two study areas. This meant that proportionally, plantains from the farms with lower Hg contents of farmland soils absorbed and bio accumulated more Hg than those from farms with the higher Hg contents of farmland soils. The differences in BAF of the edible parts of plantains from farms at Ahansonyewodea and Odumase, and the BAF of the peels of plantains from farms at Tweapease and Ahansonyewodea were not statistically significant (p > 0.05).

For cassavas, there were statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) in BAF among the edible parts. Additionally, the BAF of the peels of cassavas from farms at Nyamebekyere was statistically significantly different from those of the farms at Tweapease and Ahansonyewodea. However, the difference in BAF of the peels of cassavas from Tweapease and Ahansonyewodea was not statistically significant. Averagely, the BAF of the edible parts and the peels of cassavas were approximately 5 and 7.6-fold higher than those of the edible parts and the peels of plantains, respectively.



Fig. 2.3: Bioaccumulation factors of the edible parts and peels of plantains and cassavas. a = statistically significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) in BAF among the edible parts of cassavas from different study areas, b = statistically significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) in BAF of the edible parts of plantains from Ahansonyewodea and Odumase from those of Tweapease and Nyamebekyere, c = statistically significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) in BAF of the same study area, d = statistically significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) in BAF of the peels of cassavas from those of plantains of the same study area, d = statistically significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) in BAF of the peels of cassavas from Nyamebekyere from those of Tweapease and Ahansonyewodea, e = statistically significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) in BAF of the peels of plantains from Tweapease and Ahansonyewodea from those of Nyamebekyere and Odumase, f = statistically significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) in BAF of the peels of cassavas from those of plantains of the same study area, n = number of determinations, and error bars represent SEM (Addai-Arhin et al., 2022b).

 $BAF = \frac{Hg \text{ content}_{(edible \text{ or peels})}}{Hg \text{ content}_{(soil)}}$

2.3.4 Ecological Risk Assessment of Samples and Farms (Study Areas)

The results for the contamination levels (C_f and C_{deg}) are shown in Table 3. Based on the assessment, the edible parts of plantains from the farms at Odumase, the edible parts of cassavas from farms at Tweapease, and the peels of cassavas from farms at Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea had $C_f > 3$, indicating high contamination factors of these samples. The edible parts of plantains from the farms at Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea had $C_f < 1$, indicating low contamination factors while the edible parts of cassavas from the farms at Nyamebekyere and Ahansonyewodea had medium contamination factors with $C_f = 2.4$ and 1.1, respectively. However, there was no significant difference in the C_f of the edible parts of plantains from farms at Tweapease and Ahansonyewodea. Plantain peels from the farms at Nyamebekyere and Ahansonyewodea had low contamination factors of 0.9 and 0.4, respectively while those from the farms at Tweapease and Odumase had medium contamination factors of 1.3 and 2.7, respectively. Except for farmland soils from farms at Ahansonyewodea which had medium

contamination with a $C_f = 2.7$, the farmland soils from farms in the other study areas had $C_f > 3$, indicating high contamination factors. The C_f for all the samples across the study areas showed that all the cassava peels from farms at Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea and the edible parts of plantains from farms at Odumase were the highest contaminated. Averagely, farmland soils had the highest contamination with $C_f = 11.7$ while plantain peels had the lowest contamination with $C_f = 1.3$ (Table 3). Based on Table 3, farmland soils were approximately 6.5 and 9-folds and 5 and 2-folds more contaminated than the edible parts and the peels of plantains and cassavas, respectively. These figures, therefore, showed that the edible parts and the peels of plantains, respectively.

The C_{deg} also showed that the farms at Tweapease and Odumase with $C_{deg} = 22.3$ and 41.2, respectively had very high degree of contamination while those at Nyamebekyere and Ahansonyewodea had high and medium degrees of contamination with $C_{deg} = 14.3$ and 8.1, respectively. The farms at Odumase were approximately 2, 3 and 5-folds more contaminated than farms at Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea, respectively. This meant that farms at Ahansonyewodea had the lowest degree of contamination.

For M_{er} , the edible parts of plantains from farms at Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea as well as plantain peels from farms at Nyamebekyere and Ahansonyewodea had low monomial ecological risk indices with $M_{er} < 40$ (Table 3). The edible parts and the peels of plantains from farms at Odumase had high and considerable ecological risk indices with $M_{er} =$ 232 and 108, respectively while the plantain peels from farms at Tweapease had a moderate monomial ecological risk index with $M_{er} = 52$. The edible parts of cassavas from farms at Tweapease and Nyamebekyere had considerable monomial ecological risk indices with $M_{er} = 132$ and 96, respectively while those from farms at Ahansonyewodea had a moderate monomial ecological risk index with $M_{er} = 44$. For cassava peels, farms at Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea had Mer = 392, 260, and 136, indicating very high, high, and considerable monomial ecological risk indices, respectively. The farms at Odumase had a very high monomial ecological risk index ($M_{er} = 1308$) for farmland soils while those at Tweapease and Nyamebekyere also had high monomial ecological risk indices of = 296 and 164 for farmland soils, respectively. The farms at Ahansonyewodea, however, had a considerable monomial ecological risk index of 108 for farmland soils. Averagely, the C_f and the M_{er} values of samples are, therefore, in the order: farmland soils > cassava peels > cassava (edible parts) > plantain (edible parts) > plantain peels, indicating that plantain peels had the least contamination factor and the least monomial ecological risk index.

For potential ecological risk (P_{er}) index, the farms at Nyamebekyere and Ahansonyewodea had considerable potential ecological risk indices with $P_{er} = 572$ and 324, respectively while the farms at Tweapease and Odumase also had very high potential ecological risk indices with $P_{er} =$ 892 and 1648, respectively. The C_{deg} and P_{er} of the farms are, therefore, in the order: Odumase > Tweapease > Nyamebekyere > Ahansonyewodea, indicating that Odumase, even with no cassava samples, had the highest degree of contamination and the highest potential ecological risk index.

Table 3: Contamination status and risk levels of samples and farms (study areas) using the Hakanson, (1980) model (Addai-Arhin et al., 2022b).

		Twe	eapease	Nyamo	ebekyere	Ahans	onyewodea	Od	umase	Av	erage
		^a C _f	^b M _{er}	Cf	M_{er}						
	Plantain - Edible	0.5 ^L	20.0 ^{lr}	0.4 ^L	16.0 ^{LR}	0.5 ^L	20.0 ^{lr}	5.8 ^H	232.0 ^{HR}	1.8 ^M	72.0 ^{MR}
	Plantain - Peels	1.3™	52.0 ^{MR}	0.9 ^L	36.0 ^{lr}	0.4 ^L	16.0 ^{lr}	2.7 ^M	108.0 ^{CR}	1.3™	53.0 ^{MR}
	Cassava – Edible	3.3 ^H	132.0 ^{CR}	2.4™	96.0 ^{CR}	1.1 ^M	44.0 ^{MR}	-	-	2.3™	93.3 ^{CR}
	Cassava - Peels	9.8 ^H	392.0 ^{vhr}	6.5 ^H	260.0 ^{hr}	3.4 ^H	136.0 ^{CR}	-	-	6.1 ^H	242.7 ^{hr}
	Farmland Soils	7.4 ^H	296.0 ^{hr}	4.1 ^H	164.0 ^{hr}	2.7м	108.0 ^{CR}	32.7 ^H	1308.0 ^{VHR}	11.7 ^H	469.0 ^{VHR}
^c C _{deg} = ∑C _f		22.3 ^{VH}		14.3 ^H		8.1 ^M		41.2 ^{vH}		21.2 ^{VH}	
$^{d} P_{er} = \sum S_{er}$			892.0 ^{VHR}		572.0 ^{CR}		324.0 ^{CR}		1648.0 ^{VHR}		846.0 ^{VHR}

Note:

Number of Determinations (n) = 9.

Superscript capital letters show contamination and/or risk levels of samples and farms (study areas).

^a C_f: Contamination Factor, $C_f = \frac{C_m}{C_{rf}}$: [C_f < 1 = low, 1 < C_f ≤ 3 = medium and C_f > 3 = high contamination].

^b M_{er}: Monomial Ecological Risk Index, $M_{er=C_f \times T_f}$: [M_{er} < 40 = low risk, 40 ≤ M_{er} < 80 = moderate risk, 80 ≤ M_{er} < 160 = considerable risk, 160 ≤ M_{er} < 320 = high risk and M_{er} ≥ 320 = very high risk. T_f of Hg = 40].

^c C_{deg} : Degree of Contamination, $C_{deg = \sum C_f}$: [$C_{deg} < 5 = low$, $5 \le C_{deg} < 10 = medium$, $10 \le C_{deg} < 20 = high and C_{deg} \ge 20 = very high degrees of contamination$].

^d P_{er}: Potential Ecological Risk Factor, $P_{er} = \sum M_{er}$: [P_{er} $\leq 150 = 100$ risk, $150 < P_{er} \leq 300 =$ moderate risk, $300 < P_{er} \leq 600 =$ considerable risk and $P_{er} > 600 =$ very high risk.

Background or Reference Values:

 $500 \mu g/kg$ for farmland soil by Swiss Environmental Regulation; $100 \mu g/kg$ for plantain (edible parts) by WHO; $100 \mu g/kg$ for plantain peels by UNECE-European Directive 2002/32/EC.

Abbreviations Definitions:

^L = Low contamination/Low degree of contamination; ^M = Medium contamination/Medium degree of contamination; ^H = High contamination/ High degree of contamination; ^{VH} = Very high degree of contamination; ^{LR} = Low risk; ^{MR} = Moderate risk; ^{CR} = Considerable risk; ^{HR} = High risk and ^{VHR} = Very high risk.

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 Hg Contents in Samples

Except for the edible parts of plantains from farms at Tweapease and Ahansonyewodea as well as cassava peels from farms at Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea with no statistical differences, all other samples of the same category from farms in different study areas showed significant statistical variations. The differences in the Hg contents of farmland soils across the study areas probably resulted from the differences in the amount of Hg waste discharged into the farms through ASGM activities, which in turn, may be due to differences in the number of ASGM facilities available in each study area, the differences in the amount of fertilizer used during cultivation (Pirrone et al., 2010; UNEP, 2013) and the differences in the natural characteristics of the soil such as pH, soil organic matter, cation exchange capacity, texture, etc. which to some extent, may influence the soil-Hg binding (Wang et al., 2006; Wilson et al., 2014; Khan et al., 2015). For both the edible parts and the peels of food crops, differences in Hg content might have resulted from differences in the Hg content of the farmland soils, differences in the amount of bioavailable Hg (Wang et al., 2006; Wilson et al., 2014; Khan et al., 2015), and the differences in the ages of the plantains and the cassavas (Montagnac et al., 2009; Khan et al., 2015). The differences in bioavailable soil Hg may account for the differences in the amount of Hg that can be absorbed and bio accumulated by the food crops. Moreover, the differences in growth stage (age) of plants, to some extent, may also affect the absorption and the distribution of nutrients and contaminants within plants. These probably were among the major factors that accounted for the differences in Hg contents of the edible parts and the peels of the same food crops across the study areas.

The results of this study far exceed the 600 \pm 0.1 and the 300 \pm 0.20 µg/kg dw of farmland soils and plantains (edible parts), respectively from farms at Odumase obtained by Amonoo-Neizer et al., (1995) in Hg and arsenic pollution in soil and biological samples around the mining town of

Obuasi, Ghana. Additionally, the average results of farmland soils, the edible parts of plantains and cassavas in this study are far above the Hg contents of $320 \pm 0.36 \,\mu$ g/kg dw, 1 ± 0.001 and 4 $\pm 0.003 \,\mu$ g/kg fw of agricultural soils, plantains and cassavas, respectively obtained by Bortey-Sam et al., (2015a, 2015b) in a similar study of heavy metal/metalloids accumulation in foodstuffs from farms within mining communities around Tarkwa Municipality, Ghana and the ecological risks of heavy metals and a metalloid in agricultural soils in Tarkwa, Ghana. Averagely, the result of farmland soils in this study is again far above the 150 μ g/kg obtained by Zhou et al., (2018) for agricultural soils across China but below the 80,000 µg/kg by Li et al., (2017b) for farmland soils in Hainan, China and the 150,000, 2.61×10^6 , and 47,000 μ g/kg for soils from mining areas in China, Spain, and Slovenia, respectively indicated by Natasha et al., (2020) in their review article. Differences in results might have resulted from differences in the levels from which soil samples were taken (top soil for Amonoo-Neizer et al., (1995), 0-10 cm for Bortey-sam et al., (2015a, 2015b) and 15-20 cm below the topsoil for this study), differences in the proximity of selected farms to ASGM sites, seasonal variations, and time differences (in years), especially in the case of Amonoo-Neizer et al., (1995) might have contributed to increased anthropogenic activities such as ASGM operations and fertilizer application (UNEP, 2013; Pirrone et al., 2010). According to USEPA, (1997a), Soil Hg level depends largely on depth of soil as greater percentage of Hg is found approximately 20 cm below the topsoil. Moreover, geographical differences coupled with the differences in natural sources of Hg emissions such as bushfires, volcanoes, evaporation from ocean surfaces, and the differences in anthropogenic activities such as mining operations, fertilizer application, chlor-alkali processes, and other industrial activities (UNEP, 2013; Pirrone et al., 2010) may be the reasons for the differences in Hg levels of farmland soils between this study and those of Li et al., (2017b), Zhou et al., (2018), and those indicated by Natasha et al., (2020).

The higher Hg contents of farmland soils than food crops may be due to the ability of the soils to serve as a reservoir or sink for Hg (USEPA, 1997a; Birkefield et al., 2005; Masindi and Muedi, 2018). However, the nature of plantains and cassavas might have accounted for the significant differences in Hg contents of these food crops. Cassavas are root crops and found approximately 15 to 20 cm below the topsoil, hence in direct contact with the soil while plantains are also fruit crops and exposed directly to the atmosphere. This means that the Hg in cassavas may be entirely from the soil while the Hg in plantains may be from both the soil and the

atmosphere but with a greater percentage from the atmosphere. According to Azevedo and Rodriguez, (2012) and Yu et al., (2018), the shoot part or leaves of plants can absorb elemental Hg from the atmosphere. Moreno et al., (2005) and Ahammad et al., (2018) also indicated that the transfer of Hg from the roots to the shoots is limited. These studies suggest that a greater percentage of Hg in plantains resulted from absorption of elemental Hg from the atmosphere. Elemental Hg is the gaseous Hg released into the atmosphere when the gold-Hg amalgam is burnt (Gyamfi et al., 2020). The direct contact of cassavas with the soil (major Hg reservoir), therefore, might have accounted for its significantly higher Hg content than plantains. The relatively equal Hg content of the edible parts of plantains from Tweapease and Ahansonyewodea might have resulted from relatively equal absorption rate and equal bioaccumulation of available soil Hg.

2.4.2 Effect of pH and SOM on Hg Contents of the Soils and the BAF of the Food Crops

Due to their effects on BAF of plants, the relationship of pH and SOM with Hg concentration must be studied in any environmental risk assessment involving soil and food samples (UK Environment Agency, 2009; Chang et al., 2014; Bortey-Sam et al., 2015). Hg adsorption to soil particles and its subsequent uptake by plants may either increase or decrease depending on pH and SOM (UK Environment Agency, 2009; Bortey-Sam et al., 2015a; Yu et al., 2018). This, therefore, determines the bioavailability and toxicity, which in turn defines the BAF of heavy metals/metalloids in plants. Soil pH within a threshold range of 4.50 - 6.42 (acidic region) enhances the absorption or uptake of more Hg by plants since Hg becomes readily soluble and available in soil solution by existing as a free Hg^{2+} ion (Bortey-Sam et al., 2015a; Akoto et al., 2018; Yu et al., 2018).

Based on this study, soil pH range (7.03-7.34) was very narrow, near or within the neutral region and above the pH threshold range of 4.50 - 6.42 (Table 1). This meant that soil Hg probably existed in insoluble forms, hence was unavailable for uptake by the food crops. This largely reduced the percentage of Hg available for uptake, hence the low BAF of the food crops (Fig. 2.3). Moreover, the regression analysis showed that there were no relationships between SOM/pH and Hg content of farmland soils (appendix, Fig. 1A), SOM/pH and Hg content of the food crops (appendix, Fig. 1B), and SOM/pH and BAF of the food crops (appendix, Fig. 1C). This, therefore, indicated that soil pH and SOM had no significant effect on the bioavailability or uptake of Hg by the food crops. This is consistent with the results obtained by Xu et al., (2014), Bortey-Sam et al.,

(2015a) and Akoto et al., (2018) in a similar study of pH and SOM effects on heavy metal/metalloids bioavailability in soil. However, Hg uptake and its accumulation in plants are not only influenced by pH and SOM but other factors such as the cation exchange capacity, redox potential, type of plants, age of plant, and the total metal content available for uptake (Wilson et al., 2014; Khan et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2016; Bentum et al., 2017). Nevertheless, the Hg contents of the plantains and cassavas were largely influenced by the Hg contents of the farmland soils (appendix, Fig. 1D) despite the assertion that a greater percentage of the Hg in plantains significantly resulted from atmospheric Hg.

2.4.3 Bioaccumulation Factor (BAF)

The BAF determines the potential of plants to accumulate contaminants from the soil, hence defines the toxicity of contaminants to humans and animals through the food chain. BAF <1 means low bioaccumulation and toxicity while BAF > 1 also means high bioaccumulation and toxicity (Bedu-Addo et al., 2018). From Fig. 2.3, all the BAF values are below 1, an indication of low Hg bioaccumulation and toxicity. This means that the associated ecological risks or the toxicity of both the edible parts and the peels of food crops to humans and animals, respectively may be low or may take several years to occur upon repeated exposures through ingestion (Addai-Arhin et al., 2021, 2022a, 2022b). The significant differences in BAF of the edible parts and the peels of plantains and cassavas (Fig. 2.3) show differences in Hg bioaccumulation and toxicity while the relatively equal BAF values across the study areas (Fig. 2.3) also indicate equal Hg bioaccumulation and toxicity. Differences in BAF mean differences in ecological risks and vice versa. Therefore, the higher the BAF value the higher the bioaccumulation and toxicity, hence the higher the associated ecological risks. This means that the edible parts and peels of cassavas may have the highest toxicity and ecological risks than those of plantains while the peels of cassavas may also have higher toxicity and ecological risks than the edible parts. However, there may be equal toxicity and ecological risks associated with the edible parts of plantains from farms at Ahansonyewodea and Odumase, plantain peels from farms at Tweapease and Ahansonyewodea, and the cassava peels from farms at Tweapease and Ahansonyewodea since differences in BAF were not statistically significant (Fig. 2.3).

The differences in the nature (crop type) (Natasha et al., 2020) of cassavas (root crops) and plantains (fruit crops) might have accounted for the higher BAF of cassavas than plantains.

According to Natasha et al., (2020), the roots of plants provide a larger surface area that can absorb and accumulate nutrients and contaminants. Moreno et al., (2005) and Ahammad et al., (2018), indicated that many plant roots can absorb and accumulate Hg but its translocation to the shoot is limited. Although some studies (Xun et al., 2017; Yu et al., 2018), indicated otherwise, the significantly lower BAF of plantains than cassavas might have resulted from limited transfer of absorbed Hg from the roots to the shoots of plantains since a greater percentage of absorbed Hg is stored in the root (Moreno et al., 2005; Natasha et al., 2020). The higher BAF of plantains and cassavas (edible + peels) (Fig. 2.3) from the farms at Nyamebekyere and Ahansonyewodea despite their lower Hg levels probably resulted from a higher percentage of soil Hg that was available for uptake, which in turn, might have been due to Hg speciation and the soil characteristics such as pH, soil organic matter, cation exchange capacity, etc. (Natasha et al., 2020).

Generally, the differences in the BAF values might have resulted from the differences in the ages or growth stage of the food crops (Montagnac et al., 2009; Khan et al., 2015), differences in the amount of soil Hg available for uptake and the differences in the Hg content of the farmland soils (Wilson et al., 2014; Khan et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2016; Bentum et al., 2017). The growth stage influences the distribution of contaminants and/or nutrients in a plant while differences in available soil Hg and the total metal content of the soil are also affected by the natural characteristics of the soil such as the pH, SOM, cation exchange capacity, etc.

2.4.4 Ecological Risk Assessment of Samples and Farms (Study Areas)

Based on the C_{deg} and P_{er} , all the farms across the study areas are contaminated and may pose potential ecological risks to humans, animals, and the entire farm ecosystem although differences exist in the contamination and risk levels. Contamination of the farms resulted from contaminated samples, especially farmland soils, cassava peels, the edible parts of cassavas, and the edible parts of plantains from farms at Odumase. Mercury contaminated soils may lead to detrimental effects on plants, human, and animal health through the food chain over time (Srivastava et al., 2017; Masindi and Muedi, 2018). Higher Hg levels in soil may be detrimental to soil health by affecting activities of soil microorganisms and microbial diversity (Chibuike and Obiora, 2014; Xie et al., 2016). This may lead to detrimental effects on soil microflora and soil fertility, which in turn, may lead to reduction in agricultural land quality, reduction in plant growth, crop productivity and marketability (Wuana and Okieimen, 2011; Chibuike and Obiora, 2014; Xie et al., 2016; Srivastava et al., 2017), reduction in food safety and quality (Wuana and Okieimen, 2011; Oppong et al., 2018), negative effect on food security, and land tenure problems (Wuana and Okieimen, 2011).

The effect of Hg contamination on plant growth and development may result from cytoplasmic enzymes inhibition and cell structure damage due to oxidative stress as well as essential nutrients replacement at cation exchange sites of the plants (Chibuike and Obiora, 2014; Xie et al., 2016). These effects may be more pronounced in root crops such as cassava, potatoes, yams, cocoyam, etc. and root vegetables such as carrot, onions, ginger, etc. since their edible parts are formed from the roots. Therefore, higher Hg levels may accumulate in the edible parts of plants in this category since the roots have higher potential to absorb and accumulate available soil Hg (Moreno et al., 2005; Ahammad et al., 2018; Natasha et al., 2020). With limited transfer of Hg from the roots to the shoots of plants (Moreno et al., 2005 and Ahammad et al., 2018), the effect of Hg contaminated soils on fruit crops such as plantains, etc., leafy vegetables such as lettuce, cabbage, spinach, etc., fruit vegetables such as tomatoes, pepper, garden eggs, okra, etc. may be comparably lower. However, the shoots or leaves of such plants can also absorb elemental Hg from the atmosphere (Yu et al., 2018) in Hg-contaminated environments. This may, therefore, increase Hg levels in the plants with subsequent detrimental effect on their growth and development.

The associated ecological risks of Hg to humans and animals such as goats, sheep, cattle, etc. and birds may result through the soil-plant-animal-human or soil-plant-human food chain upon long-term repeated exposures through dermal contact with the contaminated soils or the ingestion of the contaminated food crops or contaminated water. Although the edible parts of plantains and cassavas are eaten in processed forms which may have reduced Hg levels due to the application of heat, the long-term incessant ingestion may lead to bioaccumulation of Hg (Tchana et al., 2018) to levels above the provisional tolerable weekly intake of 4 μ g/kg bw/week (FAO/WHO, 2003). Hg levels above this guideline value may, however, lead to human health risk. Animals such as goats, sheep, and cattle may even be exposed to higher risk of Hg since the peels of cassavas and plantains are consumed by these animals in their raw state. This may tend to increase the risks of Hg to humans through the soil – plant – animal – human food chain due to humans' dependence on both plants and animals for food (Addai-Arhin et al., 2022b). Additionally, Hg from

contaminated soils can leach into rivers, streams and underground water systems such as wells, boreholes, etc. (Tchana et al., 2018) especially in areas where these waters are used as drinking water sources. This may also pose ecological risk to aquatic life, the water system and pose subsequent detrimental health effects on humans, animals, and plants, especially when these water sources are used for irrigation. The totality of all these negative effects of higher Hg contamination may result from its effects on ecosystem functions such as fluxes of energy and materials processing e.g., decomposition, productivity; stocks of energy and materials e.g., biomass, genes (Kinzig et al., 2002); and habitat and regulatory functions (De Groot et al., 2002).

Based on the ecological risk assessment, the risks associated with the edible parts and peels of cassavas may be higher than those of plantains due to higher M_{er} values. The higher M_{er} values of Cassavas resulted from higher absorption and bioaccumulation of the available soil Hg. Moreover, farms at Nyamebekyere and Ahansonyewodea may also pose potential ecological risks to humans, animals, and the ecosystem such as those elaborated above but not as much as the risks associated with farms at Tweapease and Odumase. Although the farms at Tweapease and Odumase may pose very high ecological risks, the risks associated with farms at Odumase may be higher due to Per which is about 2-fold higher than that of Tweapease. The highest contamination level and the highest ecological risk of farms at Odumase probably resulted from the highest amount of Hg waste discharged into the immediate environment. This in turn, might have resulted from the highest number of ASGM facilities at Odumase and the proximity of the selected farms to the ASGM facility. Comparably, the farms at Odumase were more proximal to the respective ASGM facility than those in other study areas. However, continuous release of Hg waste through ASGM activities into the least contaminated farms may result in higher contamination of the farms and their produce in future. This may, therefore, pose ecological risks to the soil, plants, animals, humans, and the entire ecosystems with time.

2.5 Conclusion

The Farmland soils, the edible parts and the peels of the food crops had Hg values above their respective guideline values, hence are contaminated with Hg. This suggests contamination of the entire farm ecosystems within the studied communities, primarily through ASGM operations. This may pose future risks to the farm ecosystems by affecting ecosystem functions. Therefore, regulatory bodies should ensure strict control of ASGM operations in all the study areas to prevent Hg-associated ecological risks to humans, animals, and the entire ecosystem in future.

Chapter Three

Potential Human Health Risks Assessment of Mercury-Contaminated Samples

Publications

- Sylvester Addai-Arhin, Randy Novirsa, Huiho Jeong, Quang Phan Dinh, Nana Hirota, Hideki Shiratsuchi, Yasuhiro Ishibashi, and Koji Arizono. (2021). The Human Health Risks Assessment of Mercury in Soils and Plantains from Farms in selected Artisanal and Small-Scale Gold Mining Communities around Obuasi, Ghana. *Journal of Applied Toxicology*, 42(2); 258 – 273. https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.4209
- Sylvester Addai-Arhin, Randy Novirsa, Huiho Jeong, Quang Phan Dinh, Nana Hirota, Hideki Shiratsuchi, Yasuhiro Ishibashi, and Koji Arizono. (2022). Potential Human Health Risks of Mercury-Contaminated Cassavas – Preliminary Studies. *Fundamental Toxicological Sciences*, 9(2); 61 – 69. https://doi.org/10.2131/fts.9.61

3.1 Introduction

Prolong exposures to mercury through ingestion, inhalation or dermal absorption can lead to various detrimental human health effects such as any of the effects indicated in chapter one. Depending on the dose and the period of exposures, such potential detrimental human health effects which are usually non-carcinogenic may manifest early or in distant future. The reason many studies including Amonoo-Neizer et al., (1995), Bortey-Sam et al., (2015), Bentum et al., (2017), Bedu-Addo et al., (2018), Oppong et al., (2018), Addai-Arhin et al., (2021, 2022), etc. have all assessed the risks of Hg and other heavy metals/metalloids to humans through food ingestion. In chapter two, the risk of Hg contamination to the entire ecosystem was evaluated. This chapter, therefore, evaluated the potential human health risks of THg and MeHg to the residents of the studied communities following prolong exposures to Hg through ingestion of plantains and cassavas as well as dermal absorption of soil.

Moreover, the detrimental human health effects of Hg can take several years to occur following repeated exposures or even after cessation of exposures. Therefore, using the first order elimination kinetics formula, this chapter also evaluated the period (years) within which there may be potential human health risks of Hg following repeated exposures to the food crops and the period that may be required for elimination of a greater percentage of ingested Hg. Results obtained in the elimination kinetic studies were compared with USEPA reference values for InHg and MeHg to determine the probable period within which risks of Hg may manifest following repeated exposures or cessation of exposures.

3.2 Materials and Methods

The materials and methods section of this chapter considered the analysis method for only MeHg since that for THg was detailed in chapter two. A total of thirty-three (33) samples which included the edible parts of the food crops and the farmland soil samples were used in this chapter. Farmland soil samples were used because it was necessary to estimate the BAF for MeHg contents of the food crops, and evaluate the human health risk associated with the farmland soils upon longterm repeated exposures through dermal absorption. NB: For study area, sampling, sample preparation, and cleaning and decontamination, refer to 2.2.1, 2.2.2, 2.2.2.1, and 2.2.3.1, respectively.

3.2.1 Experimentation

3.2.1.1 Reagents and MeHg Standard Solution for Calibration.

All reagents used were of analytical grade and purchased from FUJIFILM Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Osaka, Japan. Calibration standard solutions of concentrations 10 ppb CH_3HgCl in 5 % (v/v) nitric acid solution was prepared from 100 ppb CH_3HgCl standard stock solutions using the serial dilution approach and kept at 4 °C until analysis (refer to 2.2.3.2 for THg calibration standard solutions).

3.2.1.2 MeHg Extraction and Content Determination

The extraction and determination was carried out according to the method described by Maggi et al., (2009) but was slightly modified to optimize the samples under consideration. Approximately 0.5 g of each dried sample was weighed into a 50 mL corning tube and 10 mL of 6 M HCl solution was added, shaken for 5 minutes at 250 rpm using horizontal recipro shaker SR-2s (Taitec, Nagoya, Japan) and centrifuged at 2400 rpm for 10 minutes using high-speed cooling Kubota 7000 centrifuge (Kubota Corporation, Japan) (for the food crop samples, 48 % (w/w) Hydrogen bromide (HBr) was used). The HCl and HBr solutions were decanted, and 20 mL toluene (99.5 % w/w) was added to the residue, the resultant mixture was shaken, and centrifuged at 250 rpm and 2400 rpm, respectively for 20 minutes. The toluene extract containing MeHg was decanted into another corning tube and 6 mL of 1 % (w/v) solution of L-cysteine (98 % w/w) containing 1.25 % (w/v) of anhydrous sodium sulphate and 0.775 % (w/v) of anhydrous sodium acetate was added. The resultant solution was shaken and centrifuged for 20 minutes as above. Approximately 100 µL of the L-cysteine phase (aqueous phase) containing MeHg was injected into sample boats, placed in DMA (MA-3000) for MeHg content analysis after obtaining a suitable calibration curve using the calibration standard solution of 10 ppb CH₃HgCl (refer to 2.2.3.3 for THg analysis method).

3.2.1.3 Quality Control

Approximately 2 g of farmland soil samples were spiked with 3 ng of 10 ppb CH₃HgCl standard solution while about 2 g each of plantain and cassava samples were also spiked with 2 ng of 10 ppb CH₃HgCl standard solution for MeHg recovery analysis. For reliability and accuracy of the MeHg analysis method and the results, a certified reference material (CRM), ERM-CC580 in estuarine sediments from the Institute of Reference Materials and Measurements, Belgium was used. For quality control of THg analysis method, **refer to 2.2.3.4**.

3.2.2 Human Health Risk Assessment

Human health risk assessment was carried out based on the internationally accepted United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) human health risk assessment model and the basic kinetics of Hg elimination and retention using the formula for first order elimination kinetics. BAF for MeHg levels of the food crop samples was calculated to determine the amount of MeHg absorbed and accumulated from the soil by the food crops. The BAF for MeHg, estimated average daily intake for ingestion (eAvDI_{ing}) of plantains and cassavas, estimated average daily intake for dermal absorption (eAvDI_{der}) of the farmland soils, hazard quotients (HQ) and hazard indices (HI) were evaluated using the equations below:

$$BAF = \frac{MeHg Content_{(crop)}}{MeHg Content_{(Soil)}} - - - equation 3.1 (Refer to 2.2.4 for the BAF of THg)$$

$$eAvDI_{(ing)} = \frac{MC x IR x ED x EF}{AvBW x AvT} - - - equation 3.2$$

$$eAvDI_{(der)} = \frac{MC x SA x FE x AF x ABS x ED x CF x EF}{AvBW x AvT} - - - equation 3.3$$

$$HQ = \frac{eAvDI}{R_f D} - - - equation 3.4$$

 $HI = \Sigma HQs [i. e., HQ_{(farmland soil)} + HQ_{(plantains)} + HQ_{(cassavas)}] - - - equation 3.5$

The basic kinetics of Hg elimination and retention was carried out by determining the initial (N_o) and final (N) amounts for both InHg and MeHg following long-term repeated exposures and the cessation of exposures. The N_o and N were calculated by applying the formula for first order elimination kinetics; N = N_oe^{-kt} - - - equation 3.6 and k = $\frac{In2}{t_{\frac{1}{2}}}$ - - - equation 3.7

Where:

HQ = Hazard quotient, HI = Hazard index, eAvDI = Estimated average daily intake (mg/kg bw/day) for either ingestion or dermal absorption (USEPA, 2004), MC = Mean concentration of the contaminant (Hg), IR = Ingestion rate for plantain obtained as 0.370kg for adults and 0.20kg for children per day (Bortey-Sam et al., 2015a), ED = Exposure duration (years) = 30 and 10 years for adults and children, respectively, EF = Exposure frequency (days/year) = 365, AvBW = Average body weight (kg) = 70 and 35 kg for adults and children, respectively, AvT = Averaging time (days) = ED x 365 for non-carcinogens (USEPA, 2004), SA = Skin surface area (cm²) = 5700 and 2800 for adults and children, respectively (USEPA, 2004), FE = Dermal exposure ratio = 0.61 for both adults and children (USEPA, 2007), AF = Soil adherence factor (mg/cm²) = 0.07 and 0.2 for adults and children (USEPA, 2007), CF = Conversion factor (kg/mg) = 1x10⁻⁶ for both adults and children (USEPA, 2007), CF = Conversion factor (kg/mg) = 1x10⁻⁶ for both adults and children (USEPA, 2007), KF = Conversion factor (kg/mg) = 1x10⁻⁶ for both adults and children (USEPA, 2007), KF = Conversion factor (kg/mg) = 1x10⁻⁶ for both adults and children (USEPA, 2007), KF = Conversion factor (kg/mg) = 1x10⁻⁶ for both adults and children (USEPA, 2007), KF = Conversion factor (kg/mg) = 1x10⁻⁶ for both adults and children (USEPA, 2007), KF = Conversion factor (kg/mg) = 1x10⁻⁶ for both adults and children (USEPA, 2007), KF = Conversion factor (kg/mg) = 1x10⁻⁶ for both adults and children (USEPA, 2004), RfD = Oral Reference dose of mercury given as 3x10⁻⁴ mg/kg bw/day for MeHg (USEPA, 2004), N_o = Initial amount (exposure amount), N = Final amount (retention amount), k = elimination constant, t_{1/2} = half-lives of elimination = 45 and 75 days for InHg and MeHg, respectively, t = time (years) and In 2 = 0.693.

3.2.3 Statistical and Data Analysis

Paired sample t-test and non-parametric test using the Wilcoxon signed rank test and the sign test at 95% CI were used to evaluate the differences in MeHg contents, methylation ratio, and BAF among same samples from different study areas. To determine the statistical significance of the extremely lower MeHg contents of the samples, a box plot comparison was made between the THg and InHg contents of the samples and the statistically significant difference between the two was evaluated using a paired sample t-test and a non-parametric test at $p \le 0.001$.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 MeHg Contents and the Percentage Methylation of the Samples

The MeHg contents (Table 4) were extremely lower than the THg contents of the samples (refer to Table 1 for THg contents of the samples). Averagely, the percentage of MeHg in the samples was about 0.5% (Table 5), indicating that about 99.5% of THg in samples was available as InHg. However, a statistically significant difference (p < 0.001) between THg and InHg contents of the samples occurred (Fig. 3.1) despite their relatively equal Hg contents. The differences in MeHg contents of plantains from Tweapease and Nyamebekyere, Tweapease and Ahansonyewodea as well as Nyamebekyere and Ahansonyewodea were not statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) but statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) occurred among cassava samples and farmland soil samples. For percentage methylation, the differences were statistically significant ($p \le 0.05$) among same samples from different study areas except for cassava samples from Tweapease and Nyamebekyere. Additionally, although cassavas had higher MeHg contents (Table 4) but the percentage methylation (Table 5) was lower than those of plantains. Comparably, of all the three sample types, farmland soils had the lowest percentage methylation despite the highest MeHg contents.

			MeHg Con	tent (µg/kg dw)		
		Tweapeas	e	Nyamebekyere		
	Min	Max	Mean ±SD	Min	Max	Mean ±SD
Plantains	0.40	0.64	0.48 ± 0.11	0.40	0.47	0.43 ± 0.03
Cassavas	0.80	1.02	0.94 ± 0.07	0.63	0.72	0.69 ± 0.04
Farmland Soils	3.19	3.48	3.33 ±0.13	2.63	2.99	2.77 ±0.17
		Ahansonywo	dea		Odumase	
	Min	Max	Mean ±SD	Min	Max	Mean ±SD
Plantains	0.40	0.45	0.43 ± 0.02	4.20	5.00	4.48 ±0.32
Cassavas	0.55	0.60	0.57 ± 0.02	-	-	-
Farmland Soils	2.21	2.50	2.38 ± 0.13	17.05	17.87	17.45 ±0.36
Note:						

Table 4: MeHg contents (µg/kg dw) of the samples (Addai-Arhin et al., 2021, 2022a)

Number of Determinations (n) = 9

Refer to Table 1 for THg contents of the samples

Table 5: Ratio of MeHg to THg (percentage methylation) of samples (Addai-Arhin et al., 2021, 2022a).

	Percentage (%) Methylation										
	P	lantains	- Edible		Cassavas	- Edible		Farmland Soils			
	Min	Max	Mean ±SD	Min	Max	Mean ±SD	Min	Max	Mean ±SD		
Tweapease	0.85	1.04	0.95 ± 0.08	0.25	0.30	0.28 ± 0.02	0.09	0.09	0.09 ± 0.00		
Nyamebekyere	1.01	1.26	1.11 ± 0.08	0.26	0.29	0.28 ± 0.01	0.13	0.15	0.14 ± 0.01		
Ahansonyewodea	0.81	0.88	0.86 ± 0.01	0.43	0.58	0.50 ± 0.05	0.17	0.19	0.18 ± 0.01		
Odumase	0.72	0.86	0.77 ±0.06	-	-	-	0.10	0.11	0.11 ± 0.01		
Average	0.85	1.01	0.92 ± 0.15	0.31	0.39	0.35 ± 0.13	0.12	0.14	0.13 ± 0.04		

Note:

Number of Determinations (n) = 9

Percentage Methylation = $\frac{\text{MeHg Content}}{\text{THg Content}} \ge 100\%$



Fig. 3.1: Boxplot comparison between THg and InHg contents of samples. The difference in Hg content between THg and InHg was statistically significant (p < 0.001). InHg content = THg content – MeHg content.

3.3.2 BAF

The BAF values for MeHg contents of the food crops are shown in Table 6. The BAF values of MeHg were higher than those of THg (refer to Fig. 2.3 for the BAF for THg of the edible parts of the food crops) across all the study areas despite the low percentage methylation (Table 5). However, all the BAF values were below 1, indicating low absorption and accumulation. The differences in BAF–MeHg were statistically significant (p < 0.05) among plantain samples except for plantains from Nyamebekyere and Ahansonyewodea. For cassava samples, except for Tweapease and Ahansonyewodea, the differences in BAF–MeHg between Tweapease and Nyamebekyere and Ahansonyewodea were not statistically

significant (p > 0.05). Averagely, the BAF of cassavas was 1.4-fold higher than that of plantains. This meant that cassava can absorb and accumulate more MeHg from the soil than plantains.

			B	BAF					
		Plantai	ns		Cassavas				
	Min	Max	Mean ±SD	Min	Max	Mean ±SD			
Tweapease	0.120	0.183	0.143 ± 0.028	0.240	0.303	0.282 ± 0.021			
Nyamebekyere	0.142	0.180	0.157 ±0.016	0.210	0.274	0.248 ± 0.028			
Ahansonyewodea	0.167	0.203	0.180 ± 0.017	0.225	0.272	0.241 ± 0.021			
Odumase	0.243	0.280	0.257 ± 0.021	-	-	-			

Table 6: BAFs for MeHg contents of the edible parts of the food crops (Addai-Arhin et al., 2021, 2022a).

Note:

Number of Determinations (n) = 9

 $BAF = \frac{MeHg Content_{(Crop)}}{MeHg Content_{(Soil)}}$ (refer to Fig. 2.3 for the BAF-THg of the edible parts of the food crops).

3.3.3 Human Health Risk Assessment

3.3.3.1 Hazard Quotient (HQ) and Estimated Average Daily Intake (eAvDI)

The results for HQ and eAvDI of soil samples and the food crops are shown in Table 7. For farmland soils, both the HQ and $eAvDI_{(der)}$ of THg across the study areas were below the recommended reference values of 1 and $3x10^{-4}$ mg/kg bw/day by USEPA, respectively. Plantains from Odumase and all cassava samples had HQ and $eAvDI_{(ing)}$ of THg for both adults and children above the USEPA reference values (Table 7). Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea had HQ and $eAvDI_{(ing)}$ of plantains below the USEPA reference values of 1 and $3x10^{-4}$ mg/kg bw/day, respectively for both adults and children. For MeHg, the HQ and the eAvDI values of farmland soils and the food crops for both adults and children across the study areas were below the USEPA reference values of 1 and $1x10^{-4}$ mg/kg bw/day, respectively (Table 7).

3.3.3.2 Hazard Index (HI)

HI results are also shown in Table 7. HI values in this study were a sum of the HQ values for farmland soils, plantains, and cassavas, hence represented the human health risks associated with the farms in each study area. The HI–THg values of the farms (study areas) for both adults and children were above the USEPA reference value of 1 while those of MeHg were below 1.

Table 7: HQ, HI, $eAvDI_{(ing)}$ of food crops, and $eAvDI_{(der)}$ of farmland soils for both THg and MeHg (Addai-Arhin et al., 2021, 2022a).

	HQ	<u>), HI, and</u>	l eAvDI (m	g/kg bw/	day) for	ingestion of	food cro	ps and d	lermal abso	orption of	f farmlan	d soils
		Tweape	ase	N	yamebel	kyere	Ah	ansonye	wodea		Odumas	e
	Pt	Cv	F. Soils	Pt	Cv	F. Soils	Pt	Cv	F. Soils	Pt	Cv	F. Soils
					eAv	DI (10 ⁻⁴) –	THg					
Adults	2.64	28.39	0.013	2.07	20.79	0.007	2.63	9.83	0.005	30.65	-	0.057
Children	2.86	37.86	0.036	2.24	27.73	0.019	2.84	13.11	0.013	33.13	-	0.160
HQ – THg												
Adults	0.88	9.46	0.0043	0.69 6.93 0.0024			0.88	3.28	0.0015	10.22	-	0.019
Children	0.95	12.62	0.0120	0.75 9.24 0.0070			0.95	4.37	0.0043	11.04	-	0.050
					eAvI	DI (10 ⁻⁶) – N	ſeHg					
Adults	2.53	4.96	0.0012	2.29 3.62 0.0010		0.0010	2.24	3.02	0.00083	23.69	-	0.0061
Children	2.74	5.36	0.0033	2.48	3.91	0.0027	2.43	3.26	0.00230	25.61	-	0.0170
						HQ – MeHg	ç.					
			(10-6)			(10-6)			(10-6)			(10-6)
Adults	0.025	0.050	11.59	0.023	0.036	9.64	0.022	0.030	8.26	0.237	-	60.69
Children	0.027	0.054	32.53	0.025	0.039	27.05	0.024	0.033	23.19	0.256	-	170.35
		Tweape	ase	N	yamebel	kyere	Ah	ansonye	wodea		Odumas	e
						HI – THg						
Adults		10.34			7.62	2		4.16			10.24	
Children		13.58 10.00						5.32			11.09	
						HI – MeHg						
Adults		0.075			0.059)		0.052			0.237	

Note:

Pt = Plantains, Cv = Cassavas and F. Soil = Farmland Soils.

$$HQ = \frac{eAvDI}{RfD}$$
$$eAvDI_{(der)} = \frac{MC \times SA \times FE \times AF \times ABS \times ED \times CF \times EF}{AvBW \times AvT}$$

 $eAvDI_{(ing)} = \frac{MC \times IR \times ED \times EF}{AvBW \times AvT}$

 $HI = \Sigma HQs [i.e., HQ_{(farmland soil)} + HQ_{(plantains)} + HQ_{(cassavas)}]$

Guideline values:

Hazard Quotient (HQ < 1) = Unlikely non-carcinogenic human health risks.

Hazard Quotient (HQ \geq 1) = Likely non-carcinogenic human health risks.

Hazard Index (HI < 1) = Unlikely Integrated or combined non-carcinogenic human health risks.

Hazard Index (HI \geq 1) = Likely Integrated or combined non-carcinogenic human health risks.

USEPA Reference Dose (R_fD) for THg = $3x10^{-4}$ and MeHg = $1x10^{-4}$ mg/kg bw/day

3.3.3.3 Basic Kinetics of Hg Elimination and Retention

Results for basic kinetics of Hg elimination and retention are shown in Table 8a. From the results, there was no significant difference between N_0 and N for both InHg and MeHg, especially from the 3rd to the 5th year following repeated exposures. Plantains from Odumase and all cassava samples had retention amounts (N) for InHg above the extrapolated value of 0.394 µg/kg bw/yr of the USEPA reference dose while the N values of MeHg for both plantains and cassavas were below the extrapolated value of 1.252 µg/kg bw/yr of the USEPA reference dose after the 5th year of long-term repeated exposures in both adults and children. However, plantains from Odumase and cassavas from Tweapease had the highest N values for InHg in adults and MeHg in children, respectively while plantains from Nyamebekyere and Ahansonyewodea also had the lowest N values for InHg and MeHg, respectively in both adults and children after the 5th year upon long-term repeated exposures through consumption.

The estimated periods (yrs) for complete elimination upon exposure cessation (Table 8b) were approximately 3 yrs for InHg and between 4 and 4.5 yrs for MeHg in both adults and children. However, no significant differences occurred between the elimination periods for both adults and children. The elimination period for InHg in plantains from Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea were within the range of the reference dose while those for plantains from Odumase and all cassava samples exceeded that of the reference dose. For MeHg, the elimination periods were below the reference dose (Table 8b). Comparably, despite its extremely lower levels, the elimination periods for MeHg were higher than those for InHg.

Table 8a: Initial	and final amo	unts (µg/kg b	w/yr) of Hg	following e	exposure and	elimination	using the first	t order o	lecay
kinetics formula	(Addai-Arhir	et al., 2021).							

	InHg (t₁₂ = 45 days) Planta Adults Childr Study Area Time (yrs) 1 95.80 0.347 102.80 Tweapease 2 96.20 0.348 103.20 3-5 96.20 0.348 103.20 1 74.90 0.271 81.10 yamebekyere 2 75.20 0.272 81.40 3-5 75.20 0.272 81.40 1 94.70 0.343 102.80 ansonyewodea 2 95.00 0.344 103.20 3-5 95.00 0.344 103.20 1 1 106.80 4.008 1197.30						MeHg (t _{1/2}	= 75 days)	
				Plar	ntains				
		Ad	ults	Chi	ldren	Ad	lults	Chi	ldren
Study Area	Time (yrs)				Concentr	ation (µg/kg by	v/yr)		
Study Area Tweapease Nyamebekyere Ahansonyewodea Odumase		No	N	No	N	N _o	N	N _o	N
	1	95.80	0.347	102.80	0.372	0.924	0.0317	0.997	0.0342
Tweapease	2	96.20	0.348	103.20	0.374	0.955	0.0328	1.031	0.0354
	3-5	96.20	0.348	103.20	0.374	0.956	0.0328	1.031	0.0354
	1	74.90	0.271	81.10	0.294	0.851	0.0292	0.902	0.0309
Study Area Tweapease Nyamebekyere Ahansonyewodea Odumase	2	75.20	0.272	81.40	0.295	0.880	0.0302	0.933	0.0320
	3-5	75.20	0.272	81.40	0.295	0.881	0.0302	0.934	0.0320
	1	94.70	0.343	102.80	0.372	0.829	0.0284	0.876	0.0301
Ahansonyewodea	2	95.00	0.344	103.20	0.374	0.857	0.0294	0.906	0.0311
	3-5	95.00	0.344	103.20	0.374	0.858	0.0294	0.907	0.0311
	1	1106.80	4.008	1197.30	4.336	8.651	0.2970	9.344	0.3205
Odumase	2	1110.80	4.023	1201.70	4.352	8.948	0.3070	9.665	0.3315
	3-5	1110.80	4.023	1201.70	4.352	8.958	0.3070	9.676	0.3318

			InHg (t ₁	/2 = 45 days)			MeHg (t _{1/2}	= 75 days)			
				Cas	savas						
		A	dults	Chi	ldren	Ad	ults	Chi	dren		
Study Area	Time (yrs)	Concentration (µg/kg bw/yr)									
		No	Ν	No	N	N ₀	N	N_{0}	Ν		
	1	1030	3.73	1374	4.97	1.81	0.062	1.96	0.067		
Tweapease	2	1034	3.74	1379	4.99	1.87	0.064	2.02	0.069		
Study Area Tweapease Nyamebekyere Ahansonyewodea	3-5	1034	3.74	1379	4.99	1.87	0.064	2.02	0.069		
	1	754	2.73	1006	3.64	1.32	0.045	1.43	0.049		
Nyamebekyere	2	757	2.74	1009	3.65	1.37	0.047	1.48	0.051		
	3-5	757	2.74	1009	3.65	1.37	0.047	1.48	0.051		
	1	357	1.29	476	1.72	1.10	0.038	1.19	0.041		
Ahansonyewodea	2	358	1.30	478	1.73	1.14	0.040	1.23	0.042		
	3-5	358	1.30	478	1.73	1.14	0.040	1.23	0.042		

Table 8b:	Estimated p	period (yea	ars) for co	omplete e	elimination	of Hg :	following	cessation o	of exposure	(Addai-Arh	in et
al., 2021).											

Estimated Time (years) for Complete Elimination of Hg									
		Tweapease		Nyamebekyere		Ahansonyeowdea		Odumase	Reference Dose
		Plantains	Cassavas	Plantains	Cassavas	Plantains	Cassavas	Plantains	For both Crops
InHg	Adults	2.68	3.10	2.64	3.05	2.68	2.91	3.12	2.70
	Children	2.69	3.15	2.65	3.10	2.69	2.97	3.13	2.70
MeHg	Adults	3.77	3.97	3.74	3.87	3.73	3.82	4.43	4.86
	Children	3.79	3.99	3.76	3.89	3.75	3.84	4.45	4.86

Note:

Daily USEPA reference dose (R_fD) for THg = $0.30 \ \mu$ g/kg bw/day and MeHg = $0.10 \ \mu$ g/kg bw/day. Based on 99.4% average of InHg in food crop samples (Table 5), the R_fD_(InHg) = (R_fD_(THg) x 99.40)/100 = (0.30 x 99.4)/100 = 0.298 \ \mug/kg bw/day. Therefore,

The final amount per year for $R_f D_{(InHg)} = 0.394 \ \mu g/kg \ bw/yr$ using first order decay kinetics formula; $N = N_o e^{-kt}$. The final amount per year for $R_f D_{(MeHg)} = 1.252 \ \mu g/kg \ bw/yr$ using first order decay kinetics formula; $N = N_o e^{-kt}$.

 $N_o: Initial or exposure amount (\mu g/kg bw/yr) of InHg; N_o = {}_eAvDI_{(ing)} x 0.994 x EF and MeHg; N_o = {}_eAvDI_{(ing)} x EF$

N: Final amount (µg/kg/yr) i.e. after elimination or excretion of InHg or MeHg

k: Decay constant = $\ln 2/t_{1/2}$ (In2 = 0.693) and EF = Exposure Frequency (days/year) = 365. Estimated time (years) for complete elimination of mercury was evaluated using $\ln \frac{N}{N_0} = -kt$, where t = time (days) and converted to years through division by 365.

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 MeHg Contents and the Percentage Methylation of Samples

The low percentage methylation and the subsequent lower MeHg contents of samples were probably due to low levels of available soil InHg. This meant that a greater percentage of THg was InHg in insoluble form, hence was not readily available for methylation by the microbial methylators in the soil. Moreover, pH and SOM (Table 2), and probably other soil characteristics such as cation exchange capacity could not favour higher availability of soil InHg and higher percentage methylation, hence the lower MeHg contents of samples. The Low SOM levels led to insufficient carbon substrate for microbial activities. This reduced the concentration of microbial methylators leading to reduced methylation of available soil Hg as indicated by Su et al., (2021). Additionally, soil pH within neutral or slightly alkaline region did not favour the solubility, mobility and availability of Hg in soil solution and its subsequent availability to plants as stated by Akoto et al., (2018) and Yu et al., (2018). Therefore, the neutral or slightly alkaline soil pH and the low SOM were not favourable for Hg methylation, hence the low MeHg levels. The 0.5% average of MeHg in the samples is, therefore, consistent with USEPA, (1997a) and Horvart and Kotnik, (2019) findings which reported 1 - 3% and < 2% of MeHg in terrestrial ecosystems and in soils, respectively. This range suggests that MeHg levels in terrestrial ecosystems are very lower compared to the aquatic and paddy fields ecosystems. Gilli et al., (2018) had percentage methylation around 0.1% for most soils in a speciation and mobility studies of Hg-contaminated soils by legacy emissions in the Rhone valley in Canton of Valais, Switzerland. Findings by Gilli

et al., (2018) is also consistent with the results for percentage methylation of farmland soils in this study and suggests that MeHg levels depends primarily on the amount of available soil InHg and not THg.

Although percentage methylation was generally low, food crop samples had higher percentage methylation than farmland soils which are sinks for Hg. This meant that some percentage of MeHg in the food crops might have been methylated by the food crops, hence the total MeHg contents were not directly and entirely absorbed from the soil in which the food crops are cultivated. According to USEPA, (1997a), plants have the potential to methylate available InHg absorbed or accumulated by them. Mauro et al., (2002), Achá et al., (2005), Correira et al., (2011) and Gentes et al., (2017) also indicated that plant roots promote Hg methylation because the roots contain more Hg methylating microorganisms such as the sulphur reducing bacteria. This probably accounted for the higher percentage methylation of the food crops than farmland soils despite their relatively lower MeHg levels. Moreover, the higher percentage methylation of plantains despite their relatively lower MeHg levels compared to cassavas also showed that plantains have higher methylation potential due to higher iron levels. Plantains contain about 9.2 – 23.3% iron (Adepoju et al., 2012) while cassavas contain about 0.3 - 1.4% iron (Montagnac et al., 2009), hence the higher probability of iron reducing microorganisms enhancing available InHg methylation in plantains than in cassavas.

The lack of statistically significant difference in MeHg contents of plantains from Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea might be due to equal absorption and/or methylation rates of MeHg. This in turn resulted from probably the relatively equal age or growth stage of plantains as reported by Montagnac et al., (2009) and Khan et al., (2015). The statistically significant difference between THg and InHg contents (Fig. 3.1) means that the MeHg contents of the samples, although are relatively lower but may be significant enough to potentially cause human health risks upon long-term repeated exposures.

3.4.2 BAF and Mercury Toxicity

The bioavailability and toxicity of heavy metals in plants are determined by the bioaccumulation factor (BAF). The BAF is, therefore, an important parameter in the human health risk evaluation involving soil and food samples. The low Hg bioaccumulation and toxicity due to BAF < 1 doesn't necessarily mean there may not be any detrimental human health effects of mercury upon long-term repeated exposures through incessant consumption of Hg-contaminated plantains and cassavas but the effects may be lower or insignificant or may take several years to occur (Addai-Arhin et al., 2021, 2022a, 2022b). The higher BAF values of MeHg than THg may be due to the relatively higher bioaccumulation potential of MeHg (Bernhoft, 2012; Rice et al., 2014; Kumar and Ghosh, 2016; Chan, 2019). The higher bioaccumulation of MeHg, generally, explains the reason for its higher toxicity when compared to InHg.

3.4.3 Human Health Risks Assessment

3.4.3.1 Hazard Quotient (HQ) and Estimated Average Daily Intake (eAvDI) of Samples

The associated human health risk assessment of Hg through food crops consumption or dermal absorption of farmland soils was evaluated using hazard quotient (HQ), defined as the ratio of the estimated average daily intake (eAvDI) to the reference dose (R_fD). HQ > 1 is an indication of potential non-carcinogenic human health risks while HQ < 1 indicates that there may be no associated non-carcinogenic human health risks, particularly upon long-term repeated exposures (USEPA, 2004; 2007).

For THg, plantains from Odumase and all cassava samples can cause significant noncarcinogenic human health risks such as renal, hepatic, cardiovascular, reproductive, and gastrointestinal problems (Peixoto and Pereira, 2007; De Freitas et al., 2012; Gado and Aldamash, 2013; Kalendar et al., 2013; Omanwar et al., 2013; Joshi et al., 2014) as well as oxidative stress and functional deficit in the motor cortex even at low doses (Teixeira et al., 2018) over an exposure period of 30 and 10 years for adults and children, respectively. The higher HQ-THg values of cassavas than plantains from Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea was due to probably their nature as root crops. The direct contact of cassavas with the soil (sink for Hg) and their root crop nature as indicated by Natasha et al., (2020) enhanced greater absorption and accumulation of Hg in them. Additionally, the highest THg-HQ values of plantains from Odumase than all cassava samples could also be due to the highest Hg absorption from the soil and probably the atmosphere. Farms from Odumase had the highest Hg content of farmland soils, and this probably resulted from the very high amount of Hg released into the immediate environment due to the comparably higher number of ASGM facilities.

Plantains from Odumase and cassava samples from Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea had ${}_{e}AvDI_{(ing)}$ of THg above the USEPA reference dose of $3x10^{-4}$ mg/kg bw/day (Table 7). This means that residents of the communities ingest more Hg daily than expected through consumption of the plantains or cassavas. The HQ and eAvDI_(ing) values for plantains from Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea (for both adults and children) were below 1 and $3x10^{-4}$ mg/kg bw/day, respectively. This means they may not cause any non-carcinogenic human health risks to residents even upon long-term repeated exposures.

Despite its higher BAF as shown in Table 6, the HQ values and the $eAvDI_{(ing)}$ of MeHg for all samples across the study areas were far below 1 and the reference dose of $1x10^{-4}$ mg/kg bw/day, respectively (Table 7). This means MeHg may not cause any non-carcinogenic human health risks to residents of these communities. Based on the HQ evaluation, children may experience higher non-carcinogenic human health risks than adults. This may be due to the relatively smaller body mass per higher ingestion rate (European Environment and Health Information Systems, 2007; Bortey-Sam et al., 2015a).

Human health risk of farmland soils was evaluated using only eAvDI_(der) because soil ingestion is very rare and not likely to occur daily (UK Environment Agency, 2009). HQ values of farmland soils were far below 1 (Table 7), hence there may not be any likelihood of the soils causing non-carcinogenic human health risks to residents in the study areas following long-term repeated exposures for 30 and 10 years for adults and children, respectively.

3.4.3.2 Hazard Index (HI)

HI refers to the sum of HQs of all contaminants, hence expresses the combined or integrated human health risks of two or more contaminants in a particular sample (USEPA, 2004; 2007). In this study, HI was evaluated using all samples from each study area to assess the combined or integrated human health risks associated with the farms in the study areas. Samples were used for HI evaluation because Hg was the only contaminant considered in this study. HI \geq

1 indicates possible combined non-carcinogenic human health effects of all samples within each study area over the exposure period while HI < 1 indicates the reverse (USEPA, 2004; 2007).

For THg, farms across the study areas may cause significant combined or integrated noncarcinogenic human health risks to residents over exposure periods of 30 and 10 years for adults and children, respectively. This is due to the higher HI values (> 1) (Table 7) of the samples from the selected farms. The higher HI values of farms from Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonywodea resulted from higher HQ values of cassava samples while that for Odumase was due to the higher HQ value of only plantains. Although farmland soils were used in the HI evaluation, their effects were insignificant across the study areas due to the extremely lower HQ values (HQ slightly above zero) (Table 7). Therefore, the combined non-carcinogenic human health risks may result from long-term repeated exposures to both plantains and cassavas from farms at Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea and only plantains from farms at Odumase.

HI-MeHg of the study areas were far below 1 (Table 7), hence there may not be any likelihood of an associated integrated non-carcinogenic human health risks of MeHg over exposure periods of 30 and 10 years for adults and children, respectively. This is because the total average percentage of MeHg in samples was extremely low (0.50 %) (Table 6), an indication that a greater percentage (~ 99.50 %) of THg may be InHg. Therefore, the potential non-carcinogenic human health risks may result from ingestion of InHg levels above the reference dose of $3x10^{-4}$ mg/kg bw/day. Like HQ, HI values for children were higher than that for adults, an indication that children might experience more combined non-carcinogenic human health effects than adults.

3.4.3.3 Kinetics of Hg Elimination and Retention

The kinetics was carried out to theoretically estimate the final amount (μ g/kg bw/yr) of InHg and MeHg during continuous exposures and the period (years) that will be required for complete elimination (excretion) of InHg and MeHg following cessation of exposure. The estimation was based on the assumption that the body is a homogenous unit, daily exposure amount was constant, elimination followed a first order kinetics, equal rate of elimination in both adults and children, males and females, equal elimination rate irrespective of the elimination pathway

such as through sweat, urine, faeces, etc. (WHO, 2000) and equal rate of elimination for both metabolized and unmetabolized forms of Hg.

The highest retention (N) values (above extrapolated value of the USEPA reference dose) of the InHg levels of all cassava samples and plantains from Odumase suggest the probability of an individual experiencing risks of Hg within the first year of repeated exposures to the food crops (Table 8a). Conversely, residents of Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea are not likely to experience risks of Hg even after 5 or more years of repeated exposures to the plantains from these areas. This is due to the lower N values of InHg compared to the extrapolated value of 0.394 µg/kg bw/yr of the USEPA reference dose of 0.3 µg/kg bw/day (refer to extrapolations below Table 8b). The N values of MeHg levels of both plantains and cassavas are extremely below the extrapolated value of 1.252 µg/kg bw/yr of the USEPA reference dose of 0.1 µg/kg bw/day (refer to extrapolations below Table 8b), hence repeated exposures to the food crops for 5 or more years may not cause any human health risks to residents. However, the extremely lower N values of both InHg and MeHg (Table 8a) is an indication that a greater percentage ($\geq 90\%$) of Hg is eliminated or excreted upon ingestion (WHO, 2000; Bernhoft, 2012). The basic kinetics is consistent with the HQ and HI estimations in terms of the level of human health risks posed by Hg-contaminated food crops from each study area, hence may be a useful tool in evaluating the amount of Hg retained and the period within which one may experience the risks of Hg following repeated exposures for many years.

Based on the maximum period (years) that may be required for the complete elimination of almost all the Hg from the human body following cessation of exposure, an assumed final amount (N) of $1 \times 10^{-7} \mu g/kg$ bw/yr for both InHg and MeHg was used. This amount may be so insignificant to be detected within the body as well as cause any Hg related health problems. The estimated final amount, N ($\mu g/kg$ bw/yr) after the 5th year of repeated exposures was used as N_o. Based on the assumptions, the highest elimination period (years) of InHg levels (above USEPA reference dose) of plantains from Odumase and all cassava samples for both adults and children (Table 8b) is an indication of a possible non-carcinogenic human health risks even after cessation of repeated exposures. The InHg levels of plantains from Tweapease, Nyamebekyere, and Ahansonyewodea, and the MeHg levels of both the food crops across the study areas had elimination periods within those of the reference doses, hence may not cause any non-carcinogenic human health risks even after cessation of repeated exposures. However, MeHg had higher elimination period than InHg despite its extremely lower values (Table 8b). The higher elimination period of MeHg after exposure cessation may be due to the longer half-life of MeHg which may lead to lower or slower elimination rate. The longer half-life may result from the ability of MeHg to bio accumulate (Bernhoft, 2012; Rice et al., 2014; Kumar and Ghosh, 2016; Chan, 2019). The Lower or slower MeHg elimination rate may also be due to the conversion of MeHg to InHg before elimination (WHO, 2000). The conversion, therefore, may delay the elimination period, hence increasing the $t_{1/2}$ of MeHg.

3.5 Conclusion

The human health risk assessment showed that plantains from farms at Odumase and all cassava samples may pose significant non-carcinogenic human health risks to residents (both adults and children) following prolong exposures to THg levels. Additionally, farms across the study areas may be associated with significant integrated or combined non-carcinogenic human health risks to both adults and children upon prolong dependence on samples, particularly plantains and cassavas. The human health risks associated with THg levels of the food crops may result from prolong ingestion of InHg levels above the USEPA reference dose of $3x10^{-4}$ mg/kg bw/day. This means the associated human health risks of Hg may be specific to InHg. MeHg levels, however, may not cause any non-carcinogenic human health risks to both adults and children following prolong exposures to the food crops and soil samples. The elimination and retention kinetics may be useful in evaluating the estimated period within which one is likely to experience the risks of Hg following prolong exposures.

Chapter Four

Investigation of the Potential Subacute Developmental Toxicities and the Genotoxicity of Very Low and High Mercury Levels of Mercury-contaminated Food Crops following repeated Prenatal Exposures – A Model Study

4.1 Introduction

Chapters 2 and 3 detailed the potential risks of Hg to the ecosystems and the residents of ASGM communities, respectively. Based on chapter 3, adults and children are potentially at risk of the non-carcinogenic human health effects of Hg, particularly InHg following long-term repeated exposures to either cassavas or plantains or a combination of both. In this chapter, the risks of Hg to a more sensitive group i.e., the foetal population is investigated through a model study. The significant levels of MeHg due to the statistically significant difference between THg and InHg levels of the food crops (Fig. 3.1) and the higher sensitivity or vulnerability of the foetal population to Hg intoxication (Bjørklund et al., 2019; Patel et al., 2019) have necessitated investigations into the risks of the Hg levels of the food crops to the foetal population.

Additionally, some studies have indicated that lower blood Hg levels, particularly MeHg levels (< 5.8 μ g/L) may cause developmental defects in foetuses or new-borns upon repeated exposures. Myers et al., (2015) indicated that prenatal exposures to low levels of MeHg may be associated with developmental deficits in children. Chen et al., (2014) reported low birth weight and premature delivery at Hg levels ranging from 1.82 – 3.03 and 3.76 – 4.65 μ g/L in maternal and cord red blood cells, respectively. Ou et al., (2015) reported 2.73 μ g/L, 2.29 μ g/L, and 572.98 μ g/kg Hg levels in cord blood, maternal blood and foetal hair in women and neonates across North China, respectively, and concluded that low-level prenatal Hg exposure could be responsible for reduction in foetal and infant growth, and that the effects of MeHg and InHg are not the same.

These studies suggest that the extremely lower MeHg levels of the food crops can potentially cause human foetal developmental toxicities upon repeated prenatal exposures due to the higher absorption rate (\geq 90%) (Broussard et al., 2002; Bernhoft, 2012; Rice et al., 2014), the easy passage across the placenta and the BBB (Broussard et al., 2002; Bernhoft, 2012; Ou et al., 2014), the higher foetal or cord blood levels than mother's (Chen et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2015; Ou et al., 2015), and the higher bioaccumulation of MeHg (Broussard et al., 2002; Bernhoft, 2012). Furthermore, the higher InHg levels of the food crops (Addai-Arhin et al., 2021, 2022), its limited passage across the placenta (WHO, 2008) coupled with the extremely lower MeHg levels of the food crops suggest that very low but significant amount of Hg may reach the foetus. Such very low Hg levels of the food crops can be detrimental to the developing foetus upon repeated prenatal exposures since there is no known safe level of foetal exposure to Hg (Health and Environment
Aliance, 2002; Bose-O'Reilly, 2010). Therefore, using Japanese medaka embryos as models, this chapter comprehensively investigated the potential human foetal subacute developmental toxicities and the genotoxicity of InHg and MeHg levels of the food crops upon repeated prenatal exposures.

4.1.1 Japanese Medaka as a Model Tool

To accurately predict the toxic effects of very low levels of Hg to the developing foetus requires the use of suitable experimental animal models. Japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*) is one of such models which are recently being used in toxicity testing of chemicals. It is a small non-mammalian vertebrate fish. The adult has an average length of about 3 - 4 cm and weighs between 700 - 1000 mg (Laboratory data). It lives in the rice paddy fields and ponds throughout Japan. The medaka, like the zebrafish, is a popular animal model for the study of early developments and in understanding the processes associated with organ development (Gladys et al., 2015). Its resemblance to other vertebrates, particularly the mammalian vertebrates in genetics and organogenesis (Gladys et al., 2015) makes it a suitable tool in various toxicological studies, particularly in humans. Additionally, the microscopic transparency of the embryo and the generational period of about 60 - 90 days allow easy monitoring of organogenesis during embryonic development and post-hatch morphological changes or defects. The reason most studies involving the use of medaka have centred on embryonic development and post-hatch assessment of the larvae.

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Reagents

Mercury chloride (purity = 99.5%), sodium chloride (purity = 99.5%), potassium chloride (purity = 99.5%), calcium chloride (purity = 95%) and sodium bicarbonate (purity = 99.5 – 100.3%) were purchased from Wako Pure Chemical Industries Ltd, Osaka, Japan while methylmercury chloride (CAS number: 115-09-3, purity = 75%) was also purchased from Tokyo Chemical Industries Ltd, Toshima-Kita-Ku, Tokyo, Japan.

4.2.2 **Preparation of Exposure Test Solutions**

The isotonic (control) solution was prepared by dissolving 7.538g of sodium chloride, 0.201g of potassium chloride and 0.211g of calcium chloride in milli-Q water (Barnstead Smart2Pure, ThermoFischer Scientific, Massachusetts, USA) to make a 1L solution. The pH of the solution was adjusted to 7.3 ± 0.03 using 1N sodium bicarbonate solution and a calibrated pH meter, model AS 800 (AS One Corporation, Osaka, Japan). Nominal concentrations of 1, 2, 3, 4.5, 20, and 26 μ g/L of MeHg (CH₃Hg⁺) and 15, 20, 23, 150, 230, and 380 μ g/L of InHg (Hg²⁺) were prepared from 83 and 153.5 ppm stock solutions of methylmercury chloride (CH₃HgCl) and mercury chloride (HgCl₂), respectively by a serial dilution method using the isotonic solution as a diluent. The nominal concentrations were selected based on the eAvDI(ing) of MeHg and InHg of the Hg-contaminated plantains and cassavas in chapter 3. Due to interspecies variability and differences in body masses, the eAvDI_(ing) values of InHg were multiplied by the absorption factors of 0.9 and 0.075 for MeHg and InHg, respectively. This meant that the concentrations of the test solutions of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ used in this study corresponded to the dose or amount of eAvDI_(ing) that may be absorbed upon repeated prenatal exposures to the Hg-contaminated plantains and cassavas. The actual concentrations of CH₃HgCl and HgCl₂ exposure solutions including those of the stock solutions were determined by measuring the equivalent concentrations of Hg using the direct mercury analyser, MA-3000 (Nippon Instruments Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). For CH₃Hg⁺ exposure test solutions, the equivalent concentration of Hg was used to compute the actual concentrations.

4.2.3 Brood stock

The brood stocks with average weight between 600 and 800 mg, which have been kept in the laboratory of the faculty of Environmental and Symbiotic Sciences, Prefectural University of Kumamoto, Japan, comprised 1 - 2 years old 500 adult Japanese medaka (Hd-rR strain) which were separated into 5 groups of 100 medaka in a ratio of 2 males: 1 female and kept in a semi-flow through 100L plastic aquaria containing about 85L of culture water. The animals were maintained at a temperature of $25 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C and pH = 7.5 ± 0.02 of the culture water, a photoperiod of 16:8 hours light: dark cycle and fed with only *Artemia nauplii* twice daily. The culture water was changed weekly upon cleaning of the aquaria.

4.2.4. Exposure and Toxicity Assessment of the Embryos

The toxicity assessment or test followed the Organization of Economic Cooperation and Development, OECD, (2013, 2014) guidelines for the Medaka Extended One Generation Reproduction Test (MEOGRT) for the testing of chemicals. Approximately 4 - 5 hours postfertilized embryos spawned by the female adult medaka were collected within 4 - 5 hours after morning feed. The fertilized embryos were screened for viability using the stereoscopic zoom microscope (3.0-15.0 magnification, model SMZ25) with NIS-elements BR version 5.30.00 (Build 531) software (Nippon Instruments Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). A total of 60 viable embryos for each concentration of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺exposure test solutions including their respective controls were selected for the toxicity assessment and these corresponded to 15 embryos per replicate (i.e., 4 replicate determinations). The 15 embryos were then exposed to the test solutions in a 96-well plate (1 embryo/well) and placed in a cool incubator, model PCI 300 at a temperature of $25 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C. Change of exposure test solutions and microscopic observation of the cultured embryos using the stereoscopic zoom microscope were done once daily for 18 days exposure period. To ensure optimum development of the embryos, the pH, temperature, and concentrations of the exposure test solutions were determined weekly. This ensured the values did not fall below or above the optimum ranges. During the 18 days exposure or observational period, end points such as heart rates, hatching time, hatching, hatchability, delays, deformities, and mortalities (deaths) of the developing embryos were noted and recorded.

Heart rate referred to the number of heart beats per minute (bpm) during embryogenesis and it was done by recording the heart beats of eight randomly selected embryos for each exposure test solution on days 4, 6, and 8 of 3 replicate determinations; hatching time referred to the period (day) at which the embryos of a particular exposure solution began to hatch; hatching referred to the complete emergence of the embryo from the chorion (Yamagami, 1981); hatchability referred to the hatching success i.e., number or percentage of embryos that successfully hatched. This excluded embryos that were already dead upon emergence from the chorion; Delays referred to the normally developed embryos that could not hatch within the exposure period; deformities (malformations) referred to any abnormal development of an organ or whole embryo or larva. These included thrombus, lack of eye pigment, unabsorbed yolk, slow heart beat and blood circulation, reduced eyes, reduced head, small body, arrested growth, bent tail, stunted or arrested growth of embryo and/or larva, etc.; and mortalities (deaths) referred to the opaqueness of the embryo, absence of heart beat and/or blood circulation, presence of fungal growth around the embryo and the inability of the larva to move upon gentle touch after hatching. The delays, deformities, and mortalities were all classified as developmental toxicities.

4.2.5 Post-Hatch Survival, Mortalities and Growth of Larvae

To reduce competition for space and food, and ensure optimum growth of larvae, the hatched larvae of each replicate for each exposure test solution of CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} were separately put into a 10L aquaria containing approximately 9L of culture water at same temperature and pH as the brood stock. The larvae were also fed with only *Artemia nauplii* twice daily (feeding began within 24 hours post-hatch) and maintained at 16:8 hours light: dark cycle. The larvae were assessed daily for abnormal behaviour, stunted or arrested growth, mortalities, survival, and normal growth based on total body length and body weight for 8 weeks. Daily survivals and mortalities were noted and the total recorded weekly for 8 weeks post-hatch (wph) while the total body length and the body weight were also determined at 8 wph. Change of culture water was done weekly upon cleaning of the aquaria.

4.2.5.1 Concentration–Response Analysis

The concentration–response analysis was done to evaluate the lethal concentration (LC₅₀), no observed adverse effect level (NOAEL) and the low observed adverse effect level (LOAEL). These parameters were evaluated graphically by plotting log concentration of the exposure solutions of CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} against their respective percentage responses (mortalities). These parameters were evaluated at the embryonic stage for Hg^{2+} and at the larval stage for CH_3Hg^+ because it was at these respective stages that the maximum toxicities of Hg^{2+} and CH_3Hg^+ were observed.

4.2.5.2 Body Weight and Total Length Determination

Fifteen larvae of each exposure test solution except for the 26 μ g/L of CH₃Hg⁺ and the 230 μ g/L Hg²⁺ were randomly selected from the four replicates, put in petri dishes, and immobilized according to the method described by Gladys et al., (2015). Briefly, the larvae were immobilized by placing them on ice for 1 – 2 minutes. The body weight (mg ww) and the total length (mm) of

each larva for each exposure test solution of CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} were then taken using the Practum 124-1sjp analytical/electronic balance (Satorius Lab Instruments, GmbH, and Co., 37070, Goettingen, Germany) and a ruler respectively. Each larva was revived by putting it in a volume of culture water in another petri dish immediately after the measurement. The phenotypic sex of each selected larva for each exposure solution was also determined by examining the shape of the dorsal and anal fins.

4.2.6 Genotoxicity Assessment of the Embryos

4.2.6.1 Gene Expression Analysis

The gene expression analysis was done to evaluate the genetic effects of the Hg levels on selected growth and development genes following repeated prenatal exposures to the food crops. Eight genes including RPL7 as a reference gene (Table 9) were used for the gene expression analysis. The isolation/purification of total RNA and the gene expression analysis using the real - time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) followed the procedures described by Ishibashi et al., (2020).

4.2.6.2 Isolation, Purity and Quality Assessment of Total RNA

The total RNA was isolated from 6 days post-fertilized medaka embryos using an RNeasy Micro Kit (Qiagen Co. Ltd, Tokyo, Japan) and treated with an RNase-Free DNase Set (Qiagen Co. Ltd, Tokyo, Japan) to eliminate genomic DNA contamination. The concentration/purity and quality of the isolated total RNA was determined by optical density (Absorbance) measurement using the nana drop (ND 1000) spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, Inc, Wilminton, USA). The concentrations and the absorbance ratios i.e., A_{260}/A_{280} and the A_{260}/A_{230} were used to evaluate the purity and quality of the isolated RNA.

4.2.6.3 Gene Expression by RT-qPCR Analysis

Approximately 1µg of total RNA was reverse transcribed into complementary DNA (cDNA) using the ReverTra Ace qPCR RT Kit (Toyobo; Osaka, Japan), and the gene expression was analyzed by quantitative PCR (qPCR) using the Fast SYBR Green Master Mix and Mx3000P Real-Time PCR System (Agilent Technologies). The specific primers for the genes including the reference gene (Table 9) used were as previously described by Zhang and Hu, (2007), Yamaguchi

et al., (2018) and Ishibashi et al., (2020). The reaction mixtures were incubated at 95 °C for 20 s, followed by 40 PCR cycles at 95 °C for 30 s, and 60 °C for 30 s. Following RT-qPCR, the specificity of gene amplification was assessed using melting curve analysis.

	Sequenced Primers						
Gene	Forward Primer	Reverse Primer					
Cyclin B1	5'-ACTACGACAACCCCATGCTC-3'	5'-CCACTTGTACCAGCCAGTCA-3'					
	5'-GAGCTACCAAAAGCTGCTGTG-3'	5'-CTCACATCCAGAGGTCTCCA-3'					
FGF8	5'-AACGCCCACTACAACGACTG-3'	5'-CGGGTGCGTTTAGTCCTTTG-3'					
Bglap	5'-ACTGAGATTAACGGACTGCGA-3'	5'-CTCGGGTTCCACAACTGACA-3'					
Hoxd9	5'-AGGACACCTCTTTTTCCTCGT-3'	5'-CGAGTCACGGAGAGCCAAA-3'					
CYP3A	5'-ACCCCGAGGTCATGAAGAAAC-3'	5'-TTTCCAACAGTGGTGCGTAC-3'					
CYP2P3	5'-CCCTTGGTGTCCTCCGTAT-3'	5'-TGGAGTCTCCCACATGGAC-3'					
CYP1A	5'-TTCCACACTGCACAACAAGG-3'	5'-CTTCACTCAGGAAACGATCTGG-3'					
RPL7 (ref. gene)	5'-CGCCAGATCTTCAACGGTGTAT-3'	5'-AGGCTCAGCAATCCTCAGCAT-3'					

Table 9: Selected genes and their corresponding sequenced primers

Note:

Ref = reference

4.2.7 Statistical and Data Analysis

The data were statistically analysed using statistical software IBM SPSS statistics version 26 (IBM Corporation, New York, USA) and Microsoft Office excel 2013 (Microsoft Corporation, USA). Paired sample t-test at 95% CI was used to obtain the statistical difference in rates of mortality, delays, deformities, hatching time, and hatchability of the embryos and the differences in survival and/or mortalities, body weights and lengths of the larvae of the exposure test solutions from their respective controls. Non-parametric test using the Wilcoxon signed rank test and the sign test was also used as a post hoc test to confirm the reliability of the statistical significance of the results. SEM and standard deviation were used to evaluate the variability of individual values from the mean for parameters presented in graphs and in tables, respectively. The expression levels of the genes were also analysed statistically using paired sample t-test and non-parametrically using the Wilcoxon signed rank and the sign tests at a significance probability (p) \leq 0.05.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Exposure Test Solutions

Tables 10a and 10b show the actual concentrations and the percentage deviations of the exposure test solutions of CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} , respectively. The initial actual concentrations of CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} were relatively equal to the nominal concentrations. This showed that the differences between the initial actual and the nominal concentrations were not significant since factor was almost equal to 1 for all the exposure solutions of CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} . Additionally, the percentage deviations of the final actual concentrations from the initial actual concentrations were within the range of $\pm 20\%$ as indicated by OECD, (2013, 2014).

Table 10a: The initial and final concentrations of exposure test solutions of CH_3Hg^+ , and their corresponding percentage deviations

Initial Concentration (µg/L)							oncentration	(µg/L)
Nominal			Actual			A		
CH ₃ HgCl	Hg	CH ₃ Hg ⁺	Hg	CH ₃ Hg ⁺	Factor	Hg	CH ₃ Hg ⁺	Dev. (%)
83000	66466	71426.3	65137	69998	0.98	-	-	-
Control	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
1.2	0.96	1.00	0.88	0.94	0.92	0.81	0.87	8.0
2.3	1.84	2.00	2.00	2.2	1.09	1.95	2.10	2.5
3.5	2.80	3.00	3.00	3.2	1.07	2.79	3.00	7.0
5.2	4.20	4.50	4.50	4.7	1.07	4.09	4.40	9.1
23.2	18.60	20.00	18.20	19.7	0.99	17.87	19.20	1.8
30.2	24.20	26.00	23.50	25.3	0.97	21.96	23.60	6.6

Table 10b: The initial and final concentrations of exposure test solutions of Hg^{2+} , and their corresponding percentage deviations

	Initial Concer	Final Conce	entration (µg/L)		
Nor	ninal	Ac	tual	Actual	
HgCl ₂	Hg^{2+}	Hg ²⁺	Factor	Hg ²⁺	Deviation (%)
153500	113923.5	114220	1.00	-	-
Control	-	-	-	-	-
20.20	15	16.8	1.12	15.6	7.1
27.00	20	20.7	1.04	20.1	2.9
31.00	23	25.6	1.11	24.1	5.9
202.10	150	157	1.05	148.2	5.6
310.00	230	222.5	0.97	206.6	7.1
512.00	380	364.2	0.96	338.3	7.1

Note:

The actual initial and final concentrations of CH3Hg⁺ were computed from the corresponding Hg concentrations

Factor -	Initial actual concentration (Hg)	Deviation (%) = $\frac{Final (actual)_{(Hg)} - Initial (actual)_{(Hg)}}{r} r 10$	იი
	Initial nominal comcentration $_{(Hg)}$	Deviation (%) =	00

4.3.2 Stages of Embryonic Development

The stages of embryonic development are shown in Fig 4.1a and 4.1b. Embryogenesis started on the 1 day post-fertilization (dpf) and by the 8 dpf, all organs of all normally developed embryos had been formed and the embryos could hatch if there was effective enzymatic or biophysical process to mediate hatching (Yamagami, 1981). For CH_3Hg^+ , although some embryos (6.5%) of the exposure solutions hatched on 8 dpf, majority (32.4%) hatched on the 9 dpf as shown in Fig. 4.2. For Hg^{2+} , majority (23.6%) of the embryos hatched on the 10 dpf while none of the embryos hatched on the 8 dpf as shown in Fig. 4.2.



Fig 4.1a: Stages of embryonic development of Japanese medaka - for CH₃Hg⁺ exposure solutions



Fig 4.1b: Stages of embryonic development of Japanese medaka - for Hg²⁺ exposure solutions



Fig 4.2: Variability in hatching time of medaka embryos. n = total number of hatched embryos in the 4 replicate determinations for all exposure test solutions and error bars represent SEM.

4.3.3. Exposure and Toxicity Assessment of the Embryos

4.3.3.1 Effect of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ on Embryonic Development of Medaka

Throughout the exposure period, end points such as Hatchability, heart rate, hatching time, and developmental toxicities (teratogenic effects) such as delays, deformities or malformations, and mortalities were monitored. The teratogenic effects common to both CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} were thrombus, death, arrested growth or delayed development, slow heartbeat, and general body malformation which included small head and eyes or virtually no eyes, shrunk body, etc. (Fig. 4.3a and b). The teratogenic effect that was specific to CH_3Hg^+ was deformed swim bladder (Fig. 4.3a, F, J, and K) while reduced eye pigmentation was also specific to Hg^{2+} (Fig. 4.3b, F and L). Delays were observed in test solutions of $0.87 - 3 \mu g/L$ of CH_3Hg^+ and $15.6 - 24.1 \mu g/L$ of Hg^{2+} including their respective controls (Fig. 4.4A).

For CH₃Hg⁺, mortalities were seen in all exposure solutions except the control with increased mortality rate (10%) in the 2.1 µg/L solution. This led to a statistically significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) in mortality rate of the 2.1 µg/L solution from its control (Fig. 4.4A). However, the 2.1 µg/L solution had no deformities but deformities were seen in other solutions except the control. For Hg²⁺, mortalities were seen in all exposure solutions including the control with increased mortalities (56.7 – 100%) in 148.2 – 338.3 µg/L solutions (Fig. 4.4A). Although the

 $148.2 - 338.3 \mu g/L$ solutions showed increased mortality rates, only the mortality rate of the 338.3 μ g/L solution was statistically significantly different ($p \le 0.05$) from the control. However, like CH₃Hg⁺, the Hg²⁺ solutions with the highest mortality rates had no deformities or malformations but deformities were observed in the $15.6 - 24.1 \,\mu\text{g/L}$ solutions (Fig. 4.4A). Most embryos with deformities or malformations died before the end of the exposure period, particularly between the 8 and 12 dpf while few were already dead upon hatch. All the embryos exposed to the 338.3 µg/L solution died by the 4 dpf. The major teratogenic effects observed in the control of CH₃Hg⁺ were delays (8.3%) while mortalities (5%) were also the major teratogenic effects in the control of Hg^{2+} (Fig. 4.4A). The delays in the exposure solutions of CH_3Hg^+ , particularly the 4.4, 19.2, and 23.6 μ g/L solutions were 0%, hence the statistically significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) in delay rates of these solutions from their control. Only the 338.3 μ g/L solution of Hg²⁺ showed a statistically significant difference in rate of hatchability from its control but there was no statistically significant difference (p > 0.05) in rates of deformities and hatchability (Fig. 4.4A) of exposure test solutions of CH₃Hg⁺ and the $15.6 - 206.6 \,\mu$ g/L solutions of Hg²⁺ from their respective controls. The hatchability (%) of the controls of CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} were 91.7 and 93.3 while the average hatchability of their exposure test solutions were 91.7 and 67.3%, respectively.

The hatching time (Fig. 4.4B) of CH₃Hg⁺ ranged from 8 – 9.3 dpf while that of Hg²⁺ ranged from 9.3 – 11.5 dpf. For CH₃Hg⁺, only the 19.2 µg/L solution showed a statistically significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) in hatching time from the control although all the exposure solutions of CH₃Hg⁺ had lower hatching times compared to the control. The differences in hatching time of the 15.6 – 206.6 µg/L exposure solutions of Hg²⁺ were not statistically significant from their control.

The differences in heart rates (Fig. 4.4C) of the embryos were not statistically significant (p > 0.05) although the heart rates of test chemicals were higher than their respective controls except for 148.2 and 206.6 µg/L solutions of Hg²⁺, particularly on the 6 and 8 dpf. For CH₃Hg⁺, heart rates of the embryos increased from the 4 to 8 dpf while those of the embryos exposed to Hg²⁺ were in the order 4 dpf > 8 dpf > 6 dpf except for the 206.6 µg/L solution where the heart rates of embryos on 6 dpf were higher than those on 8 dpf (Fig. 4.4C). This showed that the heart rates of embryos in Hg²⁺ exposure test solutions did not follow a particular trend.



A = Control, day 7 B = 3 µg/L, day 7 C = 26 µg/L, day 7 D = 4.5 µg/L, day 3 E = 3 µg/L, day 5 F = 1 µg/L, day 18



 $G = 20 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 5 \qquad H = 26 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 5 \qquad J = 1 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 15 \qquad K = 2 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 15 \qquad L = 26 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 7 \qquad J = 1 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 15 \qquad L = 26 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 7 \qquad J = 1 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 15 \qquad L = 26 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 7 \qquad J = 1 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 15 \qquad L = 26 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 7 \qquad J = 1 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 15 \qquad L = 26 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 7 \qquad J = 1 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 15 \qquad L = 26 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 7 \qquad J = 1 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 15 \qquad L = 26 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 7 \qquad J = 1 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 15 \qquad L = 26 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 7 \qquad J = 1 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 15 \qquad L = 26 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 7 \qquad J = 1 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 15 \qquad L = 26 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 7 \qquad J = 1 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 15 \qquad L = 26 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 7 \qquad J = 1 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 15 \qquad L = 26 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ 15 \ \mu g/L, \ day \ da$

Fig 4.3a: Some observed developmental toxicities (teratogenic effects) of CH_3Hg^+ during embryogenesis. A = normal, B = dead, C = thrombus, general body malformation, D = general body malformation, absence of head and eyes, E = general body malformation, extremely reduced head and eyes, F = reduced eyes, deformed swim bladder, rough skin, and death, G = general body malformation, reduced eyes, small head, and small body, H = thrombus, small eyes, and small head, I = general body malformation, extremely small head, virtually no eyes, and extremely small body, J = deformed swim bladder, K = deformed swim bladder, and L = general body malformations.



338.3 μg/L, day 20.1 μg/L, day 148.2 μg/L, day 206.6 μg/L, day 338.3 μg/L, day 8 338.3 μg/L, day

Fig. 4.3b: Some observed developmental toxicities (teratogenic effects) of Hg^{2+} during embryogenesis. A = normal embryogenesis, B = dead, C = dead, D = arrested growth, E – G, and H = general body malformations: extremely reduced head, virtually no eyes, shrunk body, lack of eye pigment, I – K = thrombus, and L = thrombus, small eyes, and reduced eye pigment.

Key: Blue arrow = eyes, green arrow = head, red arrow = thrombus, dotted circle = general body malformation, yellow arrow = deformed swim bladder.



Fig 4.4: Experimental end points of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺. A = Rate of development comprising hatchability and teratogenic effects, B = hatching time, and C = heart rate. Error bars represent SEM, n = number of replicate determinations but n for the heart rate is the number of randomly selected embryos from 3 replicate determinations, and * denotes statistically significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) of a test solution from its control.

4.3.4 Post-Hatch Survival, Mortalities and Growth of Larvae

4.3.4.1 Effect of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ on Larval Survival and Mortality

Fig. 4.5a and 4.5b show the developmental toxicities that were observed in the larvae during the post-hatch assessment. Besides larval mortalities, other developmental toxicities were very specific to the chemical form of Hg. The developmental defects that were specific to CH₃Hg⁺ included deformed mouth, intestinal thrombus (Fig. 4.5a; C), deformed or uninflated swim bladder, and protruded yolk sac (Fig. 4.5a; C-E). These toxicities were observed in very few individuals on the 1 day post-hatch (dph). Individuals with such deformities died within the 1 wph. Larval mortality rate of CH₃Hg⁺ increased from the 3 – 23.6 µg/L solutions (Fig. 4.6; Table 11a). This resulted in statistically significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) in mortality rates of these solutions from their control (Fig. 4.6; Table 11a).

For Hg²⁺, the only developmental defect seen was bent tail which occurred in the 148.2 and 206.6 µg/L solutions (Fig. 4.5b). This defect was observed in 50 and 93.3% individuals of the 148.2 and 206.6 µg/L solutions of Hg²⁺, respectively. This led to a statistically significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) in mortality rate of the 148.2 µg/L solution from its control (Fig. 4.6; Table 11b). The statistical difference between the 206.6 µg/L solution and its control was not evaluated since only a larva survived in all the four replicate determinations after the 1 wph (Table 11b). Out of the 13 larvae that survived in the 148.2 µg/L solution after the 1 wph, only 2 died by the 8 wph. Like CH₃Hg⁺, individuals with bent tail deformities died within the 1 wph.

Additionally, during the 8 wph assessment, death (Fig. 4.5a, B) was observed in all exposure solutions of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ including their controls but the survival rates in the controls of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ at 8 wph were \geq 80 (Fig. 4.6; Tables 11a and b). This was consistent with the 80% or higher survival rate at 60 dph in controls indicated by OECD, (2013, 2014). The differences in mortality and survival rates of the 0.87 and 2.1 µg/L solutions of CH₃Hg⁺ and the 15.6 – 24.1 µg/L solutions of Hg²⁺ were not statistically significantly different ($p \leq 0.05$) from their respective controls (Fig. 4.6; Tables 11a and b).



Fig 4.5a: Some observed developmental toxicities of CH_3Hg^+ during the 8 wph assessment of the larvae. A = normal, B = dead, C = intestinal thrombus, deformed mouth, and deformed swim bladder (uninflated swim bladder), C – E = protruded yolk sac, and F = normal. Except for death which occurred in almost all the weeks of post-hatch assessment, the other defects (C – E) were observed within the 1 wph, and all larvae with such defects died within the 1 wph.

Key: Blue arrow = deformed mouth, red arrow = intestinal thrombus, green arrow = protruded yolk sac, and yellow arrow = deformed or uninflated swim bladder.



Fig. 4.5b: Major post-hatch developmental toxicities of Hg^{2+} after 18 dpf. A = normal and B – F = bent or curved tails. Dotted red circle indicates the point of curvature. The bent tail defect was observed on 1 dph and all larvae with such defect died within the 1 wph.



Fig. 4.6: Cumulative mortality rate of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺. * Represents the statistically significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) of exposure test solutions from their respective controls.

|--|

	Concentrations (µg/L) of CH ₃ Hg ⁺								
	Control	Control 0.87 2.1 3 4.4 19.2 23.							
No. of Larvae (1st wph)	55	52	53	55	57	59	55		
No. of Larvae (8th wph)	44	42	42	40	36	24	20		
Survival Rate (%)	80.0	80.8	79.2	72.7*	63.2*	40.7*	36.4*		
Mortality Rate (%)	20.0	19.2	20.8	27.3*	36.8*	59.3*	63.6*		

		Concentrations (µg/L) of Hg ²⁺							
	Control	15.6	20.1	24.1	148.2	206.6	338.3		
No. of Larvae (1st wph)	56	54	54	53	26	15	-		
No. of Larvae (8th wph)	50	49	48	46	11	1	-		
Survival Rate (%)	89.3	90.7	88.9	86.8	42.3*	6.7	-		
Mortality Rate (%)	10.7	9.3	11.1	13.2	57.7*	93.3	-		

Table 11b: Survival and mortality rates of the larvae of Hg²⁺ test solutions at 8 wph

Note

* Denotes statistically significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) of test solution(s) from the control

4.3.4.1.1 Concentration–Response Analysis

The LC₅₀, NOAEL and the LOAEL are shown in Fig. 4.7. The LC₅₀ was evaluated to determine the concentrations of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ that caused the death of 50% of the larvae and the embryos at 18 dpf exposures and subsequent 8 wph assessment. The NOAEL was the concentrations at which no adverse effects were observed while the LOAEL corresponded to the concentrations at which low or minimal adverse effects likely occurred. From Fig. 4.7, the LC₅₀, NOAEL and the LOAEL of CH₃Hg⁺ were 11 (antilog of 1.04), 2.1 (antilog of 0.32) and 3.1 µg/L (antilog of 0.49) while those of Hg²⁺ were 126 (antilog of 2.1), 20 (antilog of 1.3) and \geq 24.5 µg/L (antilog of 1.39).



Fig 4.7: Concentration–response curves for embryos and larvae following 18 dpf exposures to CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} and subsequent 8 wph assessment.

4.3.4.2 Effect of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ on Larval Growth

The body weight, total length and the sex ratios of the larvae of embryos that were exposed to CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ are shown in Tables 12a and 12b, respectively. For CH₃Hg⁺, only the 4.4 μ g/L solution showed a statistically significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) in body weight and total length from the control. Although the differences in body weight and total length of larvae in the 23.6 μ g/L solution of CH₃Hg⁺ were not statistically significant from the control but the larvae in the 23.6 μ g/L solution had the highest body weight and total length than those of the control and other exposure solutions despite the fewer number of larvae present (Table 12a). The male: female sex ratio was relatively balanced in all exposure solutions including the control (Table 12a).

For Hg²⁺, only the 148.2 µg/L solution showed a statistically significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) in body weight from its control (Table 12b). No statistical difference was evaluated for the 206.6 and the 338.3 µg/L solutions due to the 1 and 0 larval numbers, respectively. However, the 1 larva that remained in the 206.6 µg/L solution had the highest body weight and total body length than those of the control and other exposure solutions of Hg²⁺ at 8 wph (Table 12b). Compared to the control, the sex ratios for the embryos exposed to Hg²⁺ were also relatively balanced in all exposure solutions.

	Concentrations (µg/L) of CH ₃ Hg ⁺								
	Control	0.87	2.1	3	4.4	19.2	23.6		
Weight (mg ww)	111.7 ± 22.4	96.7 ±25.6	96.4 ±25.7	110.8 ±39.2	95.9 ±19.0*	118.5 ± 22.0	161.8 ± 60.1		
Length (mm)	22.4 ± 1.6	21.5 ± 2.2	21.3 ± 2.4	22.0 ± 3.0	$21.0 \pm 1.8*$	22.8 ± 1.9	24.3 ± 3.0		
Male: Female	7:8 (15)	7:8 (15)	9:6 (15)	9:6 (15)	7:8 (15)	10:5 (15)	5:4 (9)		

Table 12a: Body weight, total length, and sex ratio of the Larvae of CH₃Hg⁺ at 8 wph

Table 12b: Body weight, total length, and sex ratio of the Larvae of Hg²⁺ at 8 wph

	Concentrations (µg/L) of Hg ²⁺							
	Control	15.6	20.1	24.1	148.2	206.6	338.3	
Weight (mg ww)	89.3 ±18.0	88.7 ±31.3	77.4 ±20.5	77.0 ±20.8	106.2 ±14.6*	139.7	-	
Length (mm)	20.7 ± 1.5	20.3 ± 2.8	19.8 ± 2.0	19.7 ± 2.3	22.1 ± 1.5	24.7	-	
Male: Female	9:6 (15)	7:8 (15)	7:8 (15)	6:9 (15)	7:4 (11)	0:1 (1)	-	

Note:

Numbers in parentheses shown against the male to female sex ratios refer to the number of randomly selected larvae for the post-hatch assessment of body weight and total length. * Indicates exposure solutions of the test chemicals that are statistically significantly different ($p \le 0.05$) from their respective controls.

4.3.5 Genotoxicity Assessment

4.3.5.1 Concentrations, Purity and Quality Assessment of Total RNA

The concentrations, A_{260}/A_{280} , and A_{260}/A_{230} ratios are shown in Fig. 4.8. The concentrations of the controls and test solutions of both CH_3Hg^+ and $Hg^{2+} \ge 100 \text{ ng/}\mu\text{L}$ while the A_{260}/A_{280} and A_{260}/A_{230} ratios ranged from 2.05 – 2.09 and 1.03 – 1.48, respectively, for both CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} .



Fig. 4.8: Quantification and quality assessment of isolated total RNA of embryos exposed to CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} . Error bars represent SEM and n = total number of measurements for 4 replicate determinations.

4.3.5.2 Gene Expression by RT-qPCR Analysis

The results for the gene expression analysis are shown in Fig. 4.9. Out of the seven tested genes, only cyclin B1 showed an increase or decrease in expression levels following 6 dpf exposures to both CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} . The remaining genes showed no expressions as their cycle threshold (Ct) values \geq 40. However, the expression levels of cyclin B1 by both CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} were not statistically significantly different from their respective controls but there was an apparent concentration-dependent increase and decrease in cyclin B1 expression, particularly by the 0.87 and 23.6 µg/L solutions of CH_3Hg^+ respectively, and a concentration-dependent decrease in cyclin B1 expression by the 15.6 µg/L solution of Hg^{2+} .



Fig. 4.9: Relative expression of cyclin B1 gene following 6 dpf exposures of medaka embryos to CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} test solutions. n = number of replicate determinations. No statistically significant difference (p > 0.05) was observed between test solutions of the test chemicals and their respective controls but an apparent concentration-dependent increase or decrease was observed.

4.4 Discussions

4.4.1 Exposure Solutions

The percentage deviations of the exposure solutions of CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} (Tables 10a and b) were within the ±20% range specified by OECD, (2014). This meant that the solutions were stable during the exposure period despite the minimal reduction in concentrations. Moreover, the factor values around 1 showed the relative equality between the initial nominal and the initial actual concentrations of the solutions, hence confirmed the suitability of the test solutions for the toxicity studies.

4.4.2 Stages of Embryonic Development

Embryonic development was consistent in all the replicates of CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} throughout the exposure period except for the 148.2 and 206.6 µg/L solutions of Hg^{2+} . These concentrations had 100% mortality rates in one and two replicate determinations, respectively. Nevertheless, the start of embryogenesis, the formation of various organs and the hatching times

of normally developed embryos were consistent with the stages described by Iwamatsu, (2004) and OECD, (2013, 2014). Although most of the normally developed embryos hatched between days 9 and 12 (Fig. 4.2), the variability in hatching time of the embryos probably resulted from the differences in enzymatic or biophysical processes that soften the chorion (Yamagami, 1981) to cause the release of the embryo.

4.4.3 Exposure and Toxicity Assessment of the Embryos

4.4.3.1 Effect of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ on Embryonic Development

The embryonic toxicities of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ were evaluated based on hatchability, hatching time, heart rate, and teratogenic effects such as delays, deformities (malformations), and mortalities. The controls of both CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ had hatchability > 90% (Fig. 4.4A). This was consistent with the \geq 80% (OECD, 2013) and/or \geq 90% (Ministry of Environment, Japan, MEJ, 2002; OECD, 2014) hatchability in controls. All the exposure test solutions of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ except for the 148.2 and 206.6 µg/L solutions of Hg²⁺ had hatchability within the ranges indicated by MEJ, (2002) and OECD, (2013, 2014). This showed that both the controls and the test solutions of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ in concentration ranges of 0.87 – 23.6 and 15.6 – 24.1 µg/L, respectively had no effect on hatchability of medaka embryos. Additionally, the lack of statistically significant difference in hatchability of the 0.87 – 23.6 µg/L solutions of CH₃Hg⁺ and 15.6 – 206.6 µg/L solutions of Hg²⁺ from their respective controls meant that these concentrations had no effect on the hatchability of medaka embryos. However, the extremely lower hatchability (Fig. 4.4A) of the 148.2 and 206.6 µg/L solutions and the zero hatchability of the 338.3 µg/L solution showed that Hg²⁺ concentration of 148.2 µg/L or higher will lead to higher rate of embryonic toxicities including mortalities.

Yu et al., (2019) indicated higher hatching success in embryos of the large yellow croaker at MeHg concentrations of $5 - 20 \,\mu\text{g/L}$. Abbott et al., (2017) also reported a 100% hatchability of zebrafish embryos at MeHg concentrations of 5 and 10 ppb at 48 hours post-fertilization (hpf) whereas Dong et al., (2016) indicated 80 – 100% hatchability of medaka embryos in concentration range of $0.001 - 0.1 \mu\text{M}$ (0.25 – 25 $\mu\text{g/L}$) of MeHg at 10 dpf. The concentration range of CH₃Hg⁺ in this study falls in the range of the studies indicated above, hence the consistency in hatchability (86.7 - 96.7%) of exposure solutions of CH_3Hg^+ in this study with those of the studies indicated above.

Abbott et al., (2017) reported 62.5 - 83.6% and 0 - 38.3% hatchability at 96 hpf of zebrafish embryos exposed to HgCl₂ in concentration range of $5 - 100 \mu g/L$ and $200 - 500 \mu g/L$, respectively. Abbott et al., (2017) indicated that the differences in hatchability of the $5 - 100 \mu g/L$ solutions from the control (72.9%) were not statistically significant while those of 200 - 500 $\mu g/L$ were statistically significant. Dong et al., (2016) also reported about 85% or higher hatchability at 10 dpf of medaka embryos exposed to HgCl₂ at concentration range of $0.272 - 27.2 \mu g/L$ while those exposed to $272 \mu g/L$ and $2720 \mu g/L$ solutions had 70 and 0% hatchability, respectively. These studies suggest that HgCl₂ in concentration range of $5 - 100 \mu g/L$ and $0.272 - 27.2 \mu ad$ no effect on embryonic toxicity of zebrafish and medaka, respectively while the 200 - 500 $\mu g/L$ concentrations had severe embryonic toxicities. These findings are, therefore, consistent with the findings for Hg²⁺ in this study.

Although some developmental toxicities (teratogenic effects) upon exposures to CH_3Hg^+ occurred in few embryos during embryonic development, the higher hatchability of the embryos confirmed that CH_3Hg^+ in concentration range of $0.87 - 23.6 \ \mu g/L$ had no toxic effects on embryonic development despite the statistically significant difference in rates of delay and mortality of the 4.4, 19.2, and 23.6 $\mu g/L$ solutions and the 2.1 $\mu g/L$ solution from their control, respectively (Fig. 4.4A). Moreover, the lack of statistically significant difference in deformities of test solutions of CH_3Hg^+ from their control also proved the no toxic effect of MeHg (0.87 – 23.6 $\mu g/L$) on embryonic development of medaka. This meant that the few embryos that had these teratogenic effects were probably naturally non-viable considering the highest rate of delay in the control. Additionally, studies by Dong et al., (2016) and Abbott et al., (2017) reported no developmental toxicities of MeHg to medaka and zebrafish embryos in concentration ranges of $0.25 - 25 \ \mu g/L$ and $5 - 10 \ ppb$, respectively. This, therefore, indicated that CH_3Hg^+ (0.87 – 23.6 $\mu g/L$) caused no developmental toxicities to medaka embryos.

Like CH_3Hg^+ , the higher hatchability and the lack of statistically significant difference in rate of teratogenesis of the 15.6 – 24.1 µg/L solutions of Hg^{2+} also meant that Hg^{2+} in the above concentration range had no toxic effects on embryonic development of medaka despite the few

teratogenic effects that occurred in these concentrations. However, the 56.7 - 100% mortality rate of embryos in the $148.2 - 338.3 \mu g/L$ solutions clearly showed that such concentration range of Hg²⁺ had severe effects on embryonic development of medaka. The no toxic effects of the $15.6 - 24.1 \mu g/L$ solutions of Hg²⁺ is consistent with the findings of Dong et al., (2016) and Abbott et al., (2017) in a similar study with relatively equal concentration ranges.

Generally, the hatching time of medaka embryos in control is around 9 - 10 days as indicated by Iwamatsu, (2004) and MEJ, (2002). Wang et al., (2006b), Cho et al., (2013) and Le Bihanic et al., (2014) reported hatching times of medaka embryos at 7.5, 8 - 9, and 10.4 - 11.9 dpf, respectively for controls and test chemicals under similar experimental conditions used in this study. Additionally, Yokota et al., (2001) and Hano, (2012) also reported hatching times of 9.4 - 10.2 and 7.9 - 8.7 dpf, respectively for controls and test chemicals under similar experimental conditions. The above studies suggest that the hatching time of cultured medaka embryos is usually within 8 - 12 dpf and falls in the range of this study as shown in Fig. 4.2. Therefore, the hatching times of 8 - 9.3 dpf for CH₃Hg⁺ and 9.3 - 11.5 dpf for Hg²⁺ (Fig. 4.4B) of medaka embryos in this study are consistent with the above studies. The hatching times of 9.3 and 10 dpf of the controls of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺, respectively fall in the range indicated by MEJ, (2002), Iwamatsu, (2004) and OECD, (2013, 2014).

Additionally, although the 19.2 μ g/L solution of CH₃Hg⁺ showed a statistically significant difference in hatching time from the control, the hatching time at 8 dpf was consistent with other studies, particularly those of Wang et al., (2006b), Hano, (2012) and Cho et al., (2013). Therefore, early hatching time and the statistically significant difference in hatching time of the embryos in the 19.2 μ g/L solution of CH₃Hg⁺ could not be attributed to the effect of MeHg in concentration range of 0.87 – 23.6 μ g/L.

For Hg²⁺, the hatching times of embryos in the 148.2 and 206.6 μ g/L solutions were within the acceptable range and not statistically significantly different from the control but these concentrations showed severe toxic effects on embryonic development of medaka. This meant that the few embryos that survived without any or minimal embryonic toxicities hatched within the acceptable hatching time since the delay rate was 0% in these concentrations compared to the control and the lower concentrations of Hg^{2+} . Therefore, Hg^{2+} in concentration range of 15.6 – 206.6 µg/L had no effect on the hatching time of medaka embryos.

The lack of statistically significant difference in heart rates (Fig. 4.4C) of embryos exposed to CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ from their respective controls also showed that both CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ in concentration ranges of 0.87 - 23.6 and $15.6 - 206.6 \mu g/L$, respectively had no effects on heart rates of the embryos despite the extremely higher mortality rates of embryos exposed to 148.2 and 206.6 $\mu g/L$ solutions of Hg²⁺. The heart rates of embryos exposed to CH₃Hg⁺ increased from 4 to 8 dpf with a huge increase at 8 dpf (at or near hatching time). The increased heart rates from 4 to 8 dpf, particularly on 8 dpf of embryos in exposure solutions of CH₃Hg⁺ including the control was due probably to the development of heart muscles as the embryos developed. Heart muscles of the embryos at 8 dpf (at or near hatch) compared to the 4 and 6 dpf. The increase in heart rates is consistent with the findings of Yu et al., (2019) who reported increased heart rates of the larvae of large yellow croaker at MeHg concentrations between 5 and 20 $\mu g/L$. Therefore, the increased heart rates of medaka embryos could not be attributed to the effect of MeHg in concentration range of 0.87 – 23.6 $\mu g/L$.

The heart rates of embryos exposed to Hg^{2+} did not follow a particular trend but the lower heart rates of embryos at 6 and 8 dpf, particularly of embryos in the 15 – 24.1 µg/L solutions could not be attributed to the effect of Hg^{2+} since embryos of the control also had lower heart rates. However, the decrease in heart rates of embryos exposed to 148.2 and 206.6 µg/L solutions of Hg^{2+} at 6 and 8 dpf compared to the control and other test solutions were very much pronounced despite the lack of statistically significant difference. This, therefore, could be attributed to the effect of Hg^{2+} on embryonic development. Cho et al., (2013) reported a decrease in heart rate at 7 dpf of medaka embryos exposed to highest concentration of Ag nanoparticles and concluded that the decreased heart rates of the embryos were due to the increased toxicity of the Ag nanoparticles. This is consistent with the decreased heart rates of embryos that were exposed to 148.2 and 206.6 µg/L solutions of Hg^{2+} . However, this trend was not observed in embryos that were exposed to CH_3Hg^+ . The difference probably resulted from the differences in the test chemical and the concentration used because the nature of the chemical and the exposure dose are among the factors that determine the extent of toxicity of contaminants. Cho et al., (2013), Watanabe-Asaka et al., (2014) and Puybareau et al., (2015) reported normal heart rates (bpm) of medaka embryos of 110 - 125 at 3 - 7 dpf, 116, and 130 for control in their studies under similar experimental conditions of temperature and pH. The heart rates (bpm) of medaka embryos in this study were 123 - 135 and 102.6 - 114.6 for the controls of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺, respectively while those for the test solutions were 124.6 - 150.2 for CH₃Hg⁺ and 96.8 - 121.8 for Hg²⁺at 4 - 8 dpf. These are consistent with those of the studies indicated above.

4.4.4 Post-Hatch Survival, Mortalities and Growth of Larvae

4.4.4.1 Effect of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ on Larval Survival and Mortality

According to OECD, (2013, 2014), the survival rate of larvae in the control within or at 60 dph (8 wph) should be \geq 80%. This means that mortality rate > 20% in any exposure solution of a test chemical can be attributed to the toxic effect of the toxicant if all experimental parameters such as pH, temperature, feeding, photoperiod, etc. are duly monitored. The embryos in the control and those that were exposed to 0.87 and 2.1 µg/L of CH₃Hg⁺ had larval mortality rate \geq 80% at 8 wph. This meant that the increased mortality rate of the larvae in the 3 – 23.6 µg/L solutions resulted from the toxic effect of CH₃Hg⁺. Additionally, the statistically significant difference in mortality rate of the 3 – 23.6 µg/L solutions from the control (Table 11a) confirmed the toxicity of CH₃Hg⁺ to the larvae in the above concentration range.

The increased mortality rate of the larvae in the $3 - 23.6 \,\mu$ g/L solutions resulted from the increasing concentration of CH₃Hg⁺ because the exposure dose is one of the major factors that determine the toxicity level of a toxicant. The toxicity of CH₃Hg⁺ probably resulted from the gradual bioaccumulation of CH₃Hg⁺ in the embryos right from the onset of embryogenesis. The repeated exposures to higher concentrations of CH₃Hg⁺ in embryogenesis led to higher bioaccumulation and subsequent post-hatch toxicity which resulted in higher deaths, particularly in the 19.2 and 23.6 µg/L solutions. Lemly, (2002) in his study of selenium toxicity to fishes reported of post-hatch mortality due to bioaccumulation of selenium in eggs. Additionally, some few larvae, particularly in the 19.2 and 23.6 µg/L solutions had protruded yolk sac (Fig. 4.5C–E). Although, larvae with swim bladder deformities or protruded yolk sac could not swim or move actively and died within the 1 wph, such post-hatch toxicities observed in this study are similar in

nature and consistent with those reported by Dong et al., (2016) in a similar study of CH_3Hg^+ toxicity to medaka embryos.

The higher larval mortality rates of the embryos that were exposed to the 148.2 and 206.6 μ g/L solutions of Hg²⁺ within the 1 wph resulted from embryos which were already deformed (bent tail or bone curvature) upon hatch. Such larvae could not swim effectively or move actively, hence could not survive beyond the 1 wph. The bent tail or bone curvature observation is consistent with the finding by Abbott, (2017) when he reported of curved tails in zebrafish embryos that were exposed to 100 – 200 µg/L solutions of HgCl₂ for 96 hpf. However, there was significantly reduced mortalities, particularly of the 148.2 µg/L solution from the 2 to 8 wph (Fig. 4.6). Additionally, the larval mortality rates of the 15.6 – 24.1 µg/L solutions of Hg²⁺ at 8 wph were below 20% (Table 11b). This, therefore, suggests that unlike CH₃Hg⁺, Hg²⁺ does not bio accumulate or its bioaccumulation potential is extremely lower (Addai-Arhin et al., 2021), hence the extremely lower mortality rates in the exposure solutions of Hg²⁺ from the 2 to 8 wph (Fig. 4.6).

4.4.4.1.1 Concentration–Response Analysis

The increased post-hatch mortality rate of the larvae, particularly in the 19.2 and 23.6 $\mu g/L$ solutions of CH₃Hg⁺ and the increased mortality rate of embryos in the 148.2 – 338.3 $\mu g/L$ solutions of Hg²⁺ necessitated the estimation of the LC₅₀, NOAEL, and LOAEL (Fig. 4.7). The gradual bioaccumulation of CH₃Hg⁺ in embryos during embryogenesis coupled with the sensitivity or vulnerability of the larval population to CH₃Hg⁺ intoxication probably resulted in the high rate of post-hatch or larval mortality. Yu et al., (2019) reported that the larvae of large yellow croaker were more sensitive to CH₃Hg⁺ than their embryos when they obtained LC₅₀ of 18.27 and 28.39 $\mu g/L$ for larvae and embryos, respectively at 48 hpf. Additionally, Yu et al., (2019) indicated lower survival rate of the larvae of large yellow croaker at CH₃Hg⁺ concentrations $\geq 5 \mu g/L$, which is consistent with the findings of this study. Cho et al., (2013) reported 0.80 and 0.84 ppm LC₅₀ at 96 hpf of medaka larvae and embryos exposed to Ag nanoparticles, respectively. This also confirmed the higher vulnerability or sensitivity of larvae to toxicants. Yokota et al., (2001) also stated that 4-nonylphenol caused subacute toxicities to larvae of fishes at concentration lower than that which caused toxicities to embryos, hence also confirming the larval vulnerability or sensitivity to toxicants.

Conversely, Hg^{2+} was more toxic to the embryos than the larvae. The higher mortality rate of the larvae within the 1 wph as shown in Fig. 4.7, resulted from embryos, particularly in the 148.2 – 206.6 µg/L solutions that were already deformed before hatch. This meant that the larvae were not sensitive to Hg^{2+} considering the relatively higher survival rate after the 1 wph. The larval insensitivity to Hg^{2+} resulted probably from the very low or zero bioaccumulation of Hg^{2+} . Wang et al., (2006b) had 568 mM LC₅₀ at 10 dpf of medaka embryos exposed to ethanol. Yokota et al., (2001) indicated 183 µg/L LC₅₀ at 8 dpf of embryo-larvae upon exposure to 4-nonylphenol. The differences in LC₅₀ values of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ in this study from those of the studies indicated above might have resulted from the differences in the kind or type of test organisms, stages of development of the test organisms, exposure durations and the exposure doses.

Based on Fig. 4.7, CH₃Hg⁺ concentrations of 2.1 and 3.1 µg/L may be considered the no observed adverse effect level and the low observed adverse effect level, respectively. This means that repeated 18 dpf exposures of medaka embryos to CH₃Hg⁺ concentration \geq 3 µg/L can cause toxic effects including deaths of less than 50% of medaka larvae from the 1 to 8 wph while the 11 µg/L solution can cause deaths of about 50% of medaka larvae. For Hg²⁺, the 20.0 µg/L solution may be considered the no observed adverse effect level. The low observed adverse effect level may be \geq 24.5 µg/L but below 126 µg/L since the 24.5 µg/L solution did show any toxicity to the medaka embryos. However, concentrations of 126 µg/L is enough to cause curved or bent tails and subsequent deaths in about 50 % or more of developed medaka embryos following 18 dpf exposures.

4.4.4.2 Effect of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ on Larval Growth

Despite the increased larval mortality rate, particularly by CH_3Hg^+ , both CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} , compared to their controls, had no significant toxic effects on the growth (body weight and the total length) of the larvae that survived by the 8 wph. This meant that the statistically significant differences in body weight and total length of the 4.4 and 148.2 µg/L solutions from their respective controls (Tables 12a and b) did not result from the effects of CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} . The body weights at 8 wph in this study were consistent and within the range of 85 – 145 mg (males) or 95 – 150 mg (females) indicated by the OECD, (2014). Yokota et al., (2001) and Powe, (2018) obtained body weight (mg) and total length (mm) in the range of 167 – 197; 25.2 – 26.4 and 60 – 120 mg; 21 – 24 mm of medaka larvae exposed to nonylphenol and oxyfluorfen, respectively at

60 dph. Despite the differences in the test chemicals, these results are also consistent with the body weight (mg ww) and total length (mm) of 95.9 - 161.8 and 21.3 - 24.3 for CH₃Hg⁺ and 77 - 139.7 and 19.7 - 24.7 for Hg²⁺ of medaka larvae in this study.

The higher body weight and total length of the 23.6 μ g/L solution of CH₃Hg⁺ and the 148.2 and 206.6 μ g/L solutions of Hg²⁺ probably resulted from the fewer numbers of larvae in the respective aquaria. According to Magnuson, (2011), increase in medaka numbers in a particular aquarium leads to limited space and increase in competition for food. This results in uneven growth (body weight and total length). Therefore, the fewer numbers probably led to a reduction in competition for space and food, hence the higher body weight and total length of larvae in these solutions.

The lack of statistically significant difference in phenotypic sex ratios of the test solutions of CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ from their respective controls (Table 12a and b) meant that CH₃Hg⁺ and Hg²⁺ in concentration ranges of $0.87 - 23.6 \,\mu$ g/L and $15.6 - 206.6 \,\mu$ g/L, respectively had no significant effect on the sex differentiation of medaka larvae. The sex ratios were more balanced in all exposure solutions, hence there was no skewness towards males nor females. Hano, (2012) also indicated no differences in phenotypic sex ratios of test chemicals from the controls of medaka larvae at 100 dph after injection of the embryos with nonylphenol in concentration range of 2 – 125 ng. Yokota et al., (2001), however, reported significant differences in sex ratios based on gonadal histology of the F₀ and F₁ generations of medaka larvae exposed to 51.5 and 17.7 μ g/L of 4-nonylphenol, respectively at 60 dph. Differences in results probably resulted from differences in the test chemicals, the doses, and the method of sex ratio determination.

4.4.5 Genotoxicity Assessment

4.4.5.1 Concentrations, Purity and Quality Assessment of Total RNA

Concentrations $\geq 100 \text{ ng/}\mu\text{L}$ were considered as ideal for purity of the isolated total RNA. According to Thermo Scientific, (2012), a very low total RNA concentration < 10 ng/ μ L contains high levels of impurities which may negatively affect downstream applications such as RT-qPCR, microarray, etc. Additionally, a pure and quality total RNA should have A₂₆₀/A₂₈₀ and A₂₆₀/A₂₃₀ ratios around 2.0 (Thermo Scientific, 2012; Biotek, 2012; Qiagen, 2018) and between 2.0 – 2.2 (Qiagen, 2018), respectively but A₂₆₀/A₂₃₀ ratio > 1 is considered acceptable if only the A₂₆₀/A₂₈₀ ratio is around 2. Total RNA with absorbance ratios around these values contain low levels of contaminants such as proteins and other contaminants including phenols, guanidine salts which are contents of the buffers that are employed in the extraction or isolation process. Low contaminants may, therefore, have no effect on downstream applications (Thermo Scientific, 2012; Biotek, 2012). Moreover, these ratios, particularly the A₂₆₀/A₂₃₀ also depend on the concentration of the total RNA (Qiagen, 2018), hence higher total RNA concentration corresponds to lower levels of contaminants. However, ratios extremely below or above these values may have effect on downstream applications which usually involve the synthesis of cDNA. With reference to Fig. 4.8, the total RNA concentrations and the absorbance ratios meant that the isolated total RNAs contained low levels of contaminants, hence were ideal for the intended downstream application (RT-qPCR analysis).

4.4.5.2 Gene Expression by RT-qPCR Analysis

Although the difference in cyclin B1 expression levels of the test chemicals was not statistically significant but the apparent concentration-dependent increase or decrease in cyclin B1 expression levels (Fig. 4.9) suggests toxicity of CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} to medaka embryos at the genetic level. Cyclin B1 functions to initiate mitotic cell division by complexing with p34 (Cdc2 or Cdk1) to form the maturation promoting factor (MPF) i.e. Cdc2-cyclin B1 complex, which is necessary for the proper control of the G2/M transition phase of the cell cycle (Jin, 1998; Schatten, 2013). This suggests that decreased in cyclin B1 expression levels led to disruption of the cell cycle and mitotic cell division of the medaka embryos following 18 dpf exposures to CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} . This in turn led to suppression in cell growth and development and eventual cell death which were common developmental toxicities observed in the embryos, particularly those that were exposed to higher concentrations of Hg^{2+} . This finding is consistent with Burke et al., (2006) who reported 75% decrease in expression levels of cyclin E in rats' developing brain by MeHg and identified G1/S transition as an early target for MeHg toxicity, indicating cyclin E suppression by MeHg may cause decreased cell proliferation and eventual cell death.

Additionally, although the lowest concentration of MeHg caused no developmental toxicities to the medaka embryos but the approximately 2.5-fold increase in expression level of cyclin B1 by the 0.87 μ g/L solution of CH₃Hg⁺ (Fig. 4.9) also meant that lower concentrations of MeHg can cause toxicity to medaka embryos at the molecular or genetic level.

4.5 Deductions from the Toxicity Studies

4.5.1 Human Foetal Subacute Developmental Toxicities

Based on the toxicity studies, the LOAEL of $3.1 \ \mu g/L$, the LC₅₀ of $11 \ \mu g/L$, and the highest exposure concentration of 23.6 $\mu g/L$ of CH₃Hg⁺ correspond to human prenatal exposure amounts of 0.0035, 0.0132, and 0.029 $\mu g/kg$ bw/day, respectively (appendix, Fig. 2). Application of the dose conversion using the one-compartment model by USEPA, (2001) (appendix, equation 1) gives corresponding maternal blood MeHg levels of 0.20, 0.74, and 1.63 $\mu g/L$, respectively. Additionally, studies on maternal blood and cord blood MeHg concentrations among human populations, especially those who eat fish suggest that the cord blood concentration is averagely 1.7-fold higher than the maternal blood (Ask et al., 2002; WHO, 2008; Chen et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2014; Llorente Ballesteros et al., 2020; Pinheiro et al., 2020). Therefore, modifying equation 1 to include the ratio as indicated by Stern, (2005) gives the corresponding cord blood MeHg levels of 0.33, 1.26, and 2.76 $\mu g/L$, respectively (appendix, equation 2).

According to Myers and Davidson, (1998), exposure to MeHg levels in the range of 10 - 20 ppm can adversely affect the foetus. Broussard et al., (2002) stated that daily ingestion above 0.3 mg MeHg leads to chronic Hg poisoning in a 70 kg adult with a steady-state blood and hair levels of 0.2 mg/L and 60 mg/kg, respectively. Such levels have devastating effects on the foetus. The prenatal exposure amounts in this study are below the USEPA reference dose of 0.1 µg/kg bw/day and those of Myers and Davidson, (1998) and Broussard et al., (2002), hence repeated prenatal exposures to the food crops may not be associated with any human foetal subacute developmental toxicities.

Jędrychowski et al., (2006) reported delays in neurocognitive performance of one year old infants due to Hg levels above 800 and 500 μ g/L in cord and maternal blood, respectively. Bjørklund et al., (2019) indicated that plasma MeHg levels above 2 μ g/L corresponding to erythrocyte and whole blood MeHg levels above 40 and 42 μ g/L, respectively according to a 1: 20 MeHg ratio between plasma and erythrocytes (WHO, 1990; Rice et al., 2010) and a 21: 20 MeHg ratio between whole blood and erythrocytes (Rice et al, 2010) can cause premature birth, low body weight children, and spontaneous abortion. According to WHO, (2000), blood MeHg levels of 40 – 50 μ g/L in a pregnant woman could cause toxicity to the developing foetus. In the Faroes study,

Hg levels in maternal and cord blood were 15.30 and 22.95 μ g/L, respectively. In the mothers' and children environmental health study, Hg levels in the maternal and cord blood were 15.45 and 25.90 μ g/L, respectively (Kim et al., 2014). Some studies have suggested a maternal blood MeHg level of 3.6 μ g/L due to the 1.7-folds higher MeHg levels in cord blood (Llorente Ballesteros et al., 2020). The maternal and cord blood MeHg levels in this study are below the 5.8 μ g/L blood MeHg reference value by USEPA, the 3.6 μ g/L suggested by some studies, the 40 - 50 μ g/L by WHO, (2000), the 500 and 800 μ g/L by Jędrychowski et al., (2006), and the corresponding 40 – 42 μ g/L by Bjørklund et al., (2019) within or above which foetal developmental abnormalities are likely to occur. Therefore, based on the maternal and cord blood MeHg levels in this study, repeated prenatal exposures to Hg levels of the food crops may not be associated with any subacute developmental toxicities to the human foetus or the new-born. This finding of very-low doses of MeHg not being associated with developmental abnormalities in foetuses and/or new-borns is consistent with those of Hibbeln et al., (2018) and Patel et al., (2019).

For Hg²⁺, the LC₅₀ of 126 μ g/L and the highest exposure concentration of 338.3 μ g/L correspond to prenatal exposure amounts of 1.80 and 5.14 μ g/kg bw/day, respectively (appendix, Fig. 2). The one-compartment dose conversion model is not applicable to InHg since body Hg burden is always made with reference to MeHg but considering an average absorption factor of 0.075 results in corresponding absorption amounts of 0.135 and 0.386 μ g/kg bw/day, respectively, which are above the USEPA reference dose of 0.3 μ g/kg bw/day. However, its high affinity for the kidneys (USEPA, 1997b; Broussard et al., 2002; Park and Zheng, 2012), its higher elimination rate compared to MeHg, and the protective barrier of the placenta to InHg (Pinheiro et al., 2020) suggest limited transfer of InHg from the mother to the foetus as stated by USEPA, (1997b). This means that a very low amount of the absorbed doses may reach the foetus.

Additionally, data on InHg levels in maternal and cord blood is limited (WHO, 2008) but Ask et al., (2002); Walker, (2006) and Ou et al., (2015) reported 0.34; 0.32, 0.83; 0.78, 1.23; 1.09 and 0.62 - 0.86; 0.95 - 1.10 of InHg in cord and maternal blood, respectively in populations where fish is staple. Although InHg levels in fishes are lower compared to the food crops but the data above showed significant levels of InHg in cord and maternal blood. This means that considering the food crops with higher levels of InHg than fish, significantly higher levels of InHg can be transferred from the mother to the foetus. However, due to the factors indicated above coupled

with its lower or zero bioaccumulation potential, the limited data on InHg levels and the lack of reference values of InHg in maternal or foetal blood, it cannot be concluded if the limited maternal–foetal transfer amount of InHg levels of the food crops may be associated with subacute developmental toxicities following repeated prenatal exposures.

Summarily, based on the 5.8 μ g/L by USEPA and the 3.6 μ g/L blood Hg levels suggested by other researchers, and the fact that the body Hg burden is always made with reference to MeHg, it can be summarized that the very low MeHg and the high InHg levels of the food crops may not be associated with any subacute developmental toxicities to the human foetus or new-born despite its sensitivity or vulnerability to Hg intoxication. However, further studies on the developmental toxicities of very low Hg levels are still needed.

4.5.2 Genotoxicity to the Human Foetus

The increased or decreased expression of cyclin B1 by MeHg and InHg suggests that these contaminants are toxic at the genetic level since their expression of cyclin B1 leads to disruption in cell cycle and mitotic cell division, hence genotoxic. Some studies including Burke et al., (2006) reported of cyclin E suppression in rat's developing brain and Khan et al., (2013) also reported of increased expression of cyclin B1 in breast cancer patients. Cyclin B1 can be expressed in many organs/tissues of the human body (appendix; Table 1) and the expression of cyclin B1, particularly overexpression as shown by the 0.87 µg/L solution of MeHg has been linked with cancers including non-small cell lung cancer (Soria et al., 2000; Yoshida et al., 2004; Khan et al., 2013), renal or adrenal cancer (Ikuerowo et al., 2006; Khan et al., 2013), oesophageal cancer (Murakami et al., 1999; Nozoe et al., 2002; Khan et al., 2013), head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (Hassan et al., 2009; Agarwal et al., 2009; Khan et al., 2013), breast cancer (Kawamoto et al., 1997; Aaltonen et al., 2009; Agarwal et al., 2009; Khan et al., 2013), etc. This means that either increase or decrease expression of cyclin B1 in any of the indicated organs/tissues (appendix, Table 1) can lead to cancer. The cancer may result from growth of malignant cells (Tumorigenesis) due to suppression of the cell cycle and mitotic cell division.

With reference to the Hg levels of the food crops, it is possible that repeated prenatal exposures to the food crops may be genotoxic to the human foetus despite interspecies variability. This is because genotoxic agents may have no safe or threshold dose due to their interactions with

nucleic acid as stated by Nohmi, (2018). Additionally, molecular effects such epigenesis, genotoxicity, etc. of environmental contaminants such heavy metals can occur at very low concentrations even below the NOAEL as stated by Alyea, (2012). These findings by Alyea, (2012) and Nohmi, (2018) are consistent with the 2.5-fold increase in expression levels of cyclin B1 by the 0.87 μ g/L solution of MeHg in this study. The lack of developmental defects and the potential genetic defect of the 0.87 μ g/L solution of CH₃Hg⁺, however, suggest that the genetic effects of very low doses of contaminants or toxicants may be inherent, hence can take several years to manifest phenotypically or may show at all due to the very low exposure doses.

Furthermore, the decrease in expression levels of cyclin B1 by InHg suggests that InHg may be associated with tumorigenesis or can cause genetic tumour initiation in any of the body organs or tissues where cyclin B1 expression can occur. This finding is also consistent with that of Zefferino et al., (2017) who stated that Hg^{2+} is an epigenetic tumour promoter despite their assertion that Hg^{2+} is not a genotoxic compound that directly affects gene expression. The assertion, therefore, contradicts the findings regarding the genotoxicity of InHg in this study. However, further research on the genotoxicity and subsequent tumorigenesis of InHg or the potential of InHg, particularly Hg^{2+} as a genetic tumour initiator is still needed.

4.6 Conclusion

Although MeHg and InHg were toxic to the larvae and embryos in concentration ranges of 3 - 23.6 and $148.2 - 338.3 \mu g/L$, respectively, deductions from the toxicity studies showed that there may not be any subacute developmental toxicities of the current Hg levels of the food crops to the developing human foetus or the new-born. The huge difference in body mass due to interspecies variability between the medaka embryos or larvae and the human foetus was the reason for the no Hg toxicity to the human foetus or the new-born. However, despite the differences in interspecies variability, the current Hg levels of the food crops may be toxic to the human foetus at the genetic level. This is because genotoxic agents may have no safe or threshold dose or can cause genotoxicity even at concentrations below the NOAEL. Additionally, there is a possibility of InHg-associated tumorigenesis or InHg being a genetic tumour initiator due to its ability to cause decrease in expression levels of cyclin B1.

Chapter Five

Conclusion and Recommendations

5.1 Conclusion

The study evaluated risks of Hg to humans and the entire ecosystem using selected ASGM communities around Obuasi, Ghana as case studies. The risks of Hg covered **1**. Ecological risks which involved Hg risk to the ecosystem, particularly the farms where samples were obtained, **2**. Potential human health risks that were associated with the plantains and cassavas following long-term repeated exposures, and **3**. Associated subacute developmental toxicities and the genotoxicity of Hg to the human foetus upon repeated prenatal exposures to mercury contaminated plantains and cassavas. The ecological risk assessment showed that the incessant releases of mercury from ASGM facilities pose serious potential risks to the ecosystems. The major effect of these risks is ecosystem functions which are essential for the survival of the biotic components of the ecosystem.

The human health risks assessment showed that long term-repeated exposures to Hgcontaminated plantains and cassavas from the selected farms may cause non-carcinogenic human health effects in the near or distant future. These potential human health effects may result from long-term repeated exposures through ingestion of InHg levels above the USEPA reference dose of $3x10^{-4}$ mg/kg bw/day. This means the nature of the non-carcinogenic human health effects following long-term repeated exposures to the food crops may be specific to InHg.

The toxicity study also showed that the human foetus may be exposed to very low but significant levels of MeHg and InHg in the Hg-contaminated food crops. These very low foetal exposure levels of MeHg and InHg in the food crops may not be associated with any subacute developmental toxicities to the human foetus or new-born due to blood Hg levels, particularly MeHg below the 5.8 μ g/L and the suggested 3.6 μ g/L reference values by USEPA and other researchers, respectively. This suggests that the developmental toxicities of MeHg and InHg to the medaka larvae and embryos, respectively resulted from the wide differences in body masses due to interspecies variability. This also means that the application of the uncertainty factor to the application of the uncertainty factor cannot be found in the food crops used as samples in this study.

Following genotoxicity assessment, the increased or decreased in expression levels of cyclin B1 at the genetic level by both MeHg and InHg suggests that the very low human foetal

exposure doses of Hg following repeated prenatal exposures to the food crops, may be genotoxic to the human foetus or the new-born despite interspecies variability. This is because genotoxic agents may have no safe or threshold dose due to their interaction with nucleic acid or can cause genetic or molecular toxicities at very low concentrations, even below the NOAEL. Molecular toxicities at such very low concentrations of environmental contaminants may be inherent, hence can take several years to manifest phenotypically or may not manifest at all. The decreased expression of cyclin B1 may lead to the disruption in the initiation of the cell cycle and mitotic cell division and subsequent suppression of cell growth and development. The suppression of cell growth and development can trigger a series of cellular events which can lead to tumorigenesis and eventual cell death. Furthermore, the genotoxicity study has shown that there is a possibility of InHg-associated tumorigenesis or being a genetic tumour initiator due to its ability to cause decrease in expression level of cyclin B1. Therefore, further research is needed to ascertain such possibility. The genotoxicity of Hg to the human foetus at such very low Hg levels confirms the statement that **''there is no known safe level of exposure to environmental Hg, particularly in pregnancy''**.

Finally, the study has shown that the incessant releases of Hg from ASGM facilities within the studied communities are detrimental to the ecosystem and human health. Such detrimental human health effects can take several years to occur, and when they occur the etiology is mostly unidentifiable. Therefore, since there are no treatment processes for Hg within the catchment areas and Ghana at large, regular and strict monitoring of ASGM activities, particularly Hg releases from the facilities is required to preserve the integrity of the ecosystem and prevent the future occurrence of any toxic effects of Hg to humans, particularly the younger generation.

5.2 **Recommendations**

- Due to the extremely low levels of Hg, particularly MeHg in cord and maternal blood following repeated prenatal exposures to the food crops and the potential of MeHg to bio accumulate, it is recommended that post-hatch assessment be done for about 12 24 weeks. This will enable a better evaluation of the toxicity of very low Hg levels to human foetal development, particularly postnatal development.
- To accurately evaluate the toxic effects of InHg on human embryonic development, the use of rodents such as mice is recommended. This may provide a better estimation of the level

of maternal blood InHg that can reach the foetus, and whether such level may be detrimental to the developing foetus.

• Further studies on the developmental and the genetic toxicities of very low Hg levels as well as the possibility of InHg-associated tumorigenesis are recommended.

References
- Aaltonen, K., Amini, R. M., Landberg, G., Eerola, H., Aittomäki, K., Heikkilä, P., ... Blomqvist, C. (2009). Cyclin D1 Expression is associated with Poor Prognostic Features in Estrogen Receptor Positive Breast Cancer. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 113(1), 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-008-9908-5
- Abbott, L. C. (2017). Early Exposure to Mercuric Chloride or Methylmercury Alters Zebrafish Embryo (*Danio rerio*) Development. *Poultry, Fisheries and Wildlife Sciences*, 05(01), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.4172/2375-446x.1000178
- Achá, D., Iñiguez, V., Roulet, M., Guimarães, J. R. D., Luna, R., Alanoca, L., and Sanchez, S. (2005). Sulfate-reducing Bacteria in floating Macrophyte Rhizospheres from an Amazonian Floodplain Lake in Bolivia and their association with Hg Methylation. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 71, 7531–7535. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.11.7531–7535.2005
- Addai-Arhin, S., Novirsa, R., Jeong, H., Phan, Q.D., Hirota, N., Ishibashi, Y., Shiratsuchi, H., and Arizono, K. (2021).
 The Human Health Risk Assessment of Mercury in Soils and Plantains from Selected Artisanal and Small-Scale
 Gold Mining Communities around Obuasi, Ghana. J Appl Toxicol, 42(2): 258-273.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.4209
- Addai-Arhin, S., Novirsa, R., Jeong, H., Phan, Q.D., Hirota, N., Ishibashi, Y., Shiratsuchi, H., and Arizono, K. (2022a). Potential Human Health Risks of Mercury-Contaminated Cassavas – Preliminary Studies. *Fundam. Toxicol. Sci.*, 9(2): 61-69. https://doi.org/10.2131/fts.9.61
- Addai-Arhin, S., Novirsa, R., Jeong, H., Phan, Q.D., Hirota, N., Ishibashi, Y., Shiratsuchi, H., and Arizono, K. (2022b). Mercury Waste from Artisanal and Small-scale Gold Mining Facilities: A Risk to Farm Ecosystem – A Case Study of Obuasi, Ghana. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research.*, (Accepted 5 – 8 – 22). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-022-22456-4
- Adepoju, O. T., Sunday, B. E., and Folaranmi, O. A. (2012). Nutrient Composition and Contribution (*Musa paradisiaca*) Products to Dietary Diversity of Nigerian Consumers. *Afr. J. Biotechnol*, 11(71), 13601-13605 https://doi.org/10.5897/ajb11.3046.
- Adlali, F., and Boelee, E. (2018). Household Water Treatment and Storage in Savelugu-Nanton Municipality, Northern Ghana. Fecha Publications. https://www.es.ircwash.org/node/83961 (Accessed 27 June 2021)
- Agarwal, R., Myhre, S., Carey, M., Overgaard, J., Alsner, J., Stemke-hale, K., ... Bryan, T. (2010). Integrative Analysis of Cyclin Protein Levels identifies Cyclin B1 as a Classifier and Predictor of Outcomes in Breast Cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 15(11), 3654–3662. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-3293.Integrative
- Ahammad, S.J., Sumithra, S., and Senthilkumar, P. (2018). Mercury Uptake and Translocation by Indigenous Plants. *Rasayan J. Chem 11*(1), 1–12.
- Akoto, O., Bortey-Sam, N., Nakayama, S.M.M., Ikenaka, Y., Baidoo, E., Apau, J., Marfo, J.T., and Ishizuka, M. (2018). Characterization, Spatial Variation and Risk Assessment of Heavy Metals and a Metalloid in Surface Soils in Obuasi, Ghana. *Journal of Health and Pollution* 8(19), 14–19. https://doi.org/10.5696/2156-9614-8.19.180902.
- Alyea, R.A., Moore, N.P., LeBaron, M. J., Gollapudi, B.B., and Rasoulpour, R.J. (2012). "Is the Current Product Safety Assessment Paradigm Protective for Epigenetic Mechanisms?" *Journal of Pharmacological and Toxicological Methods*, 66(3), 207–214.
- Amonoo-Neizer, E.H., Nyamah, D., and Biakomah, S.B. (1995). Mercury and Arsenic Pollution in Soil and Biological Samples around the Mining Town of Obuasi. *Water Air Soil Pollut 91*, 363-373.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00666270.

- Anyanwu, J.C., Rufus, L.N., Duluora, J.O., Egbuawa, O.I., Nwobu, E.A., and Onwuagba, C.G. (2020). Comparative Analysis of Heavy Metals in Carica Papaya (Pawpaw) Fruit and Soil in Selected Urban, Rural and Forestland in Owerri, Imo State. *International Journal of Advanced Research*, 8(3), 10–20. https://doi.org/10.21474/ijar01/10592
- Ask, K., Akesson, A., Berglund, M., and Vahter, M. (2002). Inorganic Mercury and Methylmercury in Placentas of Swedish Women. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 110(5), 523 - 526. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.02110523
- Azevedo, R., and Rodriguez, E. (2012). Phytotoxicity of Mercury in Plants: A Review. Journal of Botany, 2012, 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/848614
- Bedu-Addo, K., Ofori-Kuragu, M., and Apau, K.B. (2018). Incessant Risk Alarms Associated with Farming and Consuming Crops Cultivated in Host Communities of Gold Mining Operations in Ghana: Truth, Exaggeration, Ignorance or Mischief. J Toxicol Risk Assess 4(1), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.23937/2572-4061.1510015.
- Bentum, J. K., Koranteng-Addo, E. J., Agbemafle, R., Tufuor, J.K., Adotey, J. P. K., and Aggor, W. S. (2017). Assessment Of Ecological and Human Health Risks Of Cu, Zn and Pb Accumulation in Agricultural Soils and Okra. *Researchjournali's Journal of Ecology*, 4(1), 1-15. https://www.researchjournali.com
- Bernhoft, R. A. (2012). Mercury Toxicity and Treatment: A Review of the Literature. *Journal of Environmental and Public Health*, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/460508
- Bhan, A., and Sakkar, N.N. (2005). Mercury in the Environment: Effect on Health and Reproduction. *Rev Environ Health* 20(1), 39-56. https://doi.org/10.1515/REVEH.2005.20.1.39.
- BioTek. (2012). Spectrophotometric Nucleic Acid Quantification in Microplates and Micro-Volumes. Application Guide. pp. 1 5. www.biotek.com (Accessed 7 July 2022)
- Birkefield, A., Schulin, R., and Nowack, B. (2005). In-Situ Method for Analyzing the Long-Term Behaviour of Particulate Metal Phases in Soil. In: Lichtfouse, E., Schwarzbauer, J., and Didier, R. (ed). Environmental Chemistry: Green Chemistry and Pollutants in Ecosystems. *Springer Berlin Heidelberg*, New York, USA, pp. 29-37 https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-26531-7.
- Bjørklund, G., Chirumbolo, S., Dadar, M., Pivina, L., Lindh, U., Butnariu, M., and Aaseth, J. (2019). Mercury Exposure and its Effects on Fertility and Pregnancy outcome. *Basic and Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology*, 125(4), 317–327. https://doi.org/10.1111/bcpt.13264
- Boischio, A. (2015). Developmental Neurotoxicity: Methylmercury and Prenatal Exposure Protection in the context of the Minamata Convention. *Revista Panamericana de Salud Publica/Pan American Journal of Public Health*, 38(3), 243–247.
- Bland, C., and Rand, M.D. (2006). Methylmercury induces activation of Notch Signaling. *Neurotoxicology*, 27, 982 -991.
- Bortey-Sam, N., Nakayama, S.M.M., Akoto, O., Ikenaka, Y., Fobil, J.N., Baidoo, E., Mizukawa, H., and Ishizuka, M. (2015a). Accumulation of Heavy Metals and Metalloid in Foodstuffs from Agricultural Soils around Tarkwa area in Ghana, and associated Human Health Risks. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 12(8), 8811–8827. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120808811.

Bortey-Sam, N., Nakayama, S.M.M, Akoto, O., Ikenaka, Y., Baidoo, E., Mizukawa, H., and Ishizuka, M. (2015b).

Ecological Risk of Heavy Metals and a Metalloid in Agricultural Soils in Tarkwa, Ghana. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 12*(39), 11448–11465. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120911448.

- Bose-O'Reilly, S., McCarthy, K. M., Stechling, N., and Lettmeier, B. (2010). Mercury Exposure and Childrens's Health. *Curr Probl Pediatr Adolesc Health Care*, 40(8): 186–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cppeds. 2010.07.002.Mercury
- Broussard, L. A., Hammett-stabler, C. A., Winecker, R. E., and Ropero-Miller, J.D. (2002). The Toxicology of Mercury. *Laboratory Medicine*, 33(8), 614-625.
- Burke, K., Cheng, Y., Li, B., Petrov, A., Joshi, P., Berman, R. F., ... DiCicco-Bloom, E. (2006). Methylmercury Elicits Rapid Inhibition of Cell Proliferation in the Developing Brain and Decreases Cell Cycle Regulator, Cyclin E. *NeuroToxicology*, 27(6), 970–981. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuro.2006.09.001
- Chan, H. M. (2019). Advances in Methylmercury Toxicology and Risk Assessment. *Toxics*, 7(2), 6–8. https://doi.org/10.3390/TOXICS7020020
- Chang, C. Y., Yu, H. Y., Chen, J. J., Li, F. B., Zhang, H. H., and Liu, C. P. (2014). Accumulation of Heavy Metals in Leaf vegetables from Agricultural Soils and associated Potential Health Risks in the Pearl River Delta, South China. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 186, 1547–1560. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-013-3472-0
- Chen, Z., Myers, R., Wei, T., Bind, E., Kassim, P., Wang, G., Ji, Y., Hong, X., Caruso, D., Bartell, T., Gong, Y., Strickland, P., Navas-Acien, A., Guallar, E., and Wang, X. (2014). Placental Transfer and Concentrations of Cadmium, Mercury, Lead, and Selenium in Mothers, Newborns, and Young Children. *Journal of Exposure Science and Environmental Epidemiology*, 24(5), 537–544. https://doi.org/10.1038/jes.2014.26
- Chibuike, G.U., and Obiora, S.C. (2014). Heavy Metal Polluted Soils: Effect on Plants and Bioremediation Methods. *Appl. Environ. Soil Sci 24*, 1-12. http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2014/752708
- Cho, J. G., Kim, K. T., Ryu, T. K., Lee, J. W., Kim, J. E., Kim, J., Lee, B. C., Jo, E. H., Yoon, J., Eom, I. C., Choi, K., and Kim, P. (2013). Stepwise Embryonic Toxicity of Silver Nanoparticles on *Oryzias latipes*. *BioMed Research International*, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/494671
- Clifford, M. J. (2017). Assessing Releases of Mercury from Small-scale Gold Mining Sites in Ghana. *The Extractive Industries and Society*, 4(3), 497–505. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EXIS.2017.05.007
- Correia, R. R. S., Miranda, M. R, Guimaraes, J. R. D. (2011). Mercury Methylation and the Microbial Consortium in Periphyton of Tropical Macrophytes: Effect of different Inhibitors. *Environ Res*, 112, 86–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2011.11.002
- De Freitas, M. L., Da Silva, A. R., Roman, S. S., and Brandão, R. (2012). Effects of 4,4-Dichloro-diphenyl Diselenide (ClPhSe)2 on Toxicity Induced by Mercuric Chloride in Mice: A Comparative Study with Diphenyl Diselenide (PhSe)2. Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacolog,. 34, 985–994. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2012.07.007
- De Groot, R., Boumans, R., and Wilson, M. (2002). A Typology for the Classification and Evaluation of Ecosystem Functions, Goods and Services. *Ecol. Econ* 41(3), 393-408. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-8009(02)00089-7.
- Dong, W., Liu, J., Wei, L., Jingfeng, Y., Chernick, M., and Hinton, D. E. (2016). Developmental Toxicity from Exposure to various forms of Mercury Compounds in Medaka Fish (*Oryzias latipes*) Embryos. *PeerJ*, 2016(8), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.2282
- Drwiega, Y.I. (2016). Women and Mercury in ASGM: The Beauty and the Beast. In: Artisanal and Small-scale Gold

Mining: Women and Health. Women and Environments International Magazine, 98-99. pp. 10 - 13

- Durnford, D., Dastoor, A., Figueras-Nieto, D., and Ryjkov, A. (2010). Long Range Transport of Mercury to the Arctic and across Canada. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 10(13), 6063–6086. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-10-6063-2010
- Engel, G.L., and Rand, M.D. (2014). "The Notch Target E (spl)md is a Muscle-specific Gene involved in Methylmercury Toxicity in Motor Neuron Development. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology, 43*, 11 14
- UK Environment Agency. (2009). Soil Guideline Values for Mercury. Science Report SC050021/Mercury SGV. Published by Environment Agency, Rio House Waterside Drive, Aztec West, Almondsbury, Bristol, RS32 4UD, UK. pp.1-5. http://www.environmentagency.gov.uk/clea, date accessed:20/11/2019
- European Environment and Health Information Systems. (2007). *Exposure of Children to Chemical Hazards in Food*. World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland: Fact Sheet No. 4.4, Code: RPG4_Food_EX 1.
- Eze, O.C., Tukura, B.W., Atolaiye, B.O., Opaluwa, O.D., and Ubani, K.I. (2018). Proximate Compositions and Health Risk Evaluation of Heavy Metal Uptake by Vegetables Grown at a Wastewater Irrigated Site in FCT, Abuja, Nigeria. *International Journal of Advances in Scientific Research and Engineering* 4(5): 160-171. https://dx.doi.org/10.7324/IJASRE.2018.32733
- FAO/WHO. (2003). Expert Committee on Food Additives: Summary and Conclusions of the 61st Meeting of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA), pp 18–22. http://www.who.int/pcs/jecfa/Summary61. pdf 7 (Accessed 19 June 2021).
- Gado, A. M., and Aldahmash, B. A. (2013). Antioxidant Effect of Arabic Gum against Mercuric Chloride-induced Nephrotoxicity. *Drug Design, Development and Therapy*, 7, 1245–1252. https://doi.org/10.2147/DDDT.S50928
- Gentes, S., Taupiac, J., Collin, Y., Andrea, J. M., and Guyoneaud, R. (2017). Bacterial Periphytic Communities related to Mercury Methylation within Aquatic Plant Roots from a Temperate Freshwater Lake. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int*, 24(23), 19223-19233. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-9597-x
- Gilli, R. S., Karlen, C., Weber, M., Rüegg, J., Barmettler, K., Biester, H., Boivin, P. and Kretzschmar, R. (2018). Speciation and Mobility of Mercury in Soils Contaminated by Legacy Emissions from a Chemical Factory in the Rhône Valley in Canton of Valais, Switzerland. Soil Systems, 2(3), 44. https://doi.org/10.3390/soilsystems2030044
- Gladys, F. M., Matsuda, M., Lim, Y., Jackin, B. J., Imai, T., Otani, Y., Yatagai, T., and Cense, B. (2015). Developmental and Morphological Studies in Japanese Medaka with Ultra-high Resolution Optical Coherence Tomography. *Biomedical Optics Express*, 6(2), 297. https://doi.org/10.1364/boe.6.000297
- Grandjean, P., Weihe, P., Debes, F., Choi, A. L., and Budtz-Jørgensen, E. (2014). Neurotoxicity from Prenatal and Postnatal Exposure to Methylmercury. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*, 43, 39–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ntt.2014.03.004
- Gyamfi, O., Sorenson, P. B., Darko, G., Ansah, E., and Bak, J. L. (2020). Human Health Risk Assessment of Exposure to Indoor Mercury Vapour in a Ghanaian Artisanal Small-Scale Gold Mining Community. *Chemosphere*, 241, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.125014
- Hachiya, N. (2006). The History and the Present of Minamata Disease Entering the Second Half a Century. *JMAJ*, 49(3), 112–118.
- Hakanson, L. (1980). An Ecological Risk Index for Aquatic Pollution Control -A Sedimentological Approach. Water Research, 14(8), 975–1001. https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(80)90143-8

- Hano, T. (2012). Studies on the Evaluation of the Effect of Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals using Transgenic seethrough Medaka (*Oryzias latipes*), olvas-GFP/STII-YI strain. *Bulletin Fisheries Research Agency*, pp. 1–56. Retrieved from http://www.fra.affrc.go.jp/bulletin/bull/bull36/36-1.pdf
- Hassan, K.A., Ang, K.K., El-Naggar, A.K., Story, M.D., and Lee, J.I. (2002). Cyclin B1 Overexpression and Resistance to Radiotherapy in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Cancer Res* 62, 6414-6417.
- Health and Environment Aliance. (2002). How does Mercury affect our Health? *Stay Healthy Stop Mercury Campaign*. pp. 8–19 (Accessed 31 October, 2019)
- Hibbeln, J., Gregory, S., Iles-Caven, Y., Taylor, C. M., Emond, A., and Golding, J. (2018). Total Mercury Exposure in early Pregnancy has no Adverse Association with Scholastic ability of the Offspring particularly if the Mother eats Fish. *Environment International*, 116(April), 108–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.03.024
- Horvart, M., and Kotnik, J. (2019). Technical Information Report on Hg Monitoring in Soil. UN Environment Programme (UNEP), Chemicals and Health Branch, Geneva, Switzerland. pp. 1 - 54.
- Hsu, C. S., Liu, P. L., Chien, L. C., Chou, S. Y., and Han, B. C. (2007). Mercury Concentration and Fish Consumption in Taiwanese Pregnant Women. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 114(1), 81– 85. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2006.01142.x
- Huang, J., Kang, S., Tian, L., Guo, J., Zhang, Q., Cong, Z., Sillanpää, M., Sun, S., and Tripathee, L. (2016). Influence of Long-Range Transboundary Transport on Atmospheric Water Vapor Mercury collected at the largest City of Tibet. Science of the Total Environment, 566–567, 1215–1222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.177
- Ikuerowo, S. O., Kuczyk, M. A., Mengel, M., Van Der Heyde, E., Shittu, O. B., Vaske, B., ... Serth, J. (2006). Alteration of Subcellular and Cellular Expression Patterns of Cyclin B1 in Renal Cell Carcinoma is significantly related to Clinical Progression and Survival of Patients. *International Journal of Cancer, 119*(4), 867–874. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.21869
- Ishibashi, H., Uchida, M., Temma, Y., Hirano, M., Tominaga, N., Arizono, K. (2020). Choriogenin Transcription in Medaka Embryos and Larvae as an Alternative Model for Screening Estrogenic Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals. *Ecotoxi. Environ. Safet.* 193, 110324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.110324
- Iwamatsu, T. (2004). Stages of Normal Development in the Medaka Oryzias latipes. Mechanisms of Development, 121(7–8), 605–618. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mod.2004.03.012
- Jędrychowski, W., Jankowski, J., Flak, E., Skarupa, A., Mroz, E., Sochacka-Tatara, E., ... Perera, F. (2006). Effects of Prenatal Exposure to Mercury on Cognitive and Psychomotor Function in One-Year-Old Infants: Epidemiologic Cohort Study in Poland. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 16(6), 439–447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2005.06.059
- Jin, P., Hardy, S., and Morgan, D. O. (1998). Nuclear Localization of Cyclin B1 Controls Mitotic Entry after DNA Damage. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 141(4), 875–885. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.141.4.875
- Joshi, D., Mittal, D. K., Shukla, S., ASrivastav, K., and Srivastav, S. K. (2014). N-acetyl Cysteine and Selenium protects Mercuric Chloride-induced Oxidative Stress and Antioxidant Defense System in Liver and Kidney of Rats: A Histopathological Approach. *Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology*, 28(2), 218–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtemb.2013.12.006
- Kalender, S., Uzun, F. G., Demir, F., Uzunhisarcıkli, M., and Aslanturk, A. (2013). Mercuric Chloride-induced Testicular Toxicity in Rats and the protective role of Sodium Selenite and Vitamin E. Food and Chemical Toxicology, 55, 456–462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2013.01.024

- Kawamoto, H., Koizumi, H., and Uchikoshi, T. (1997). Expression of the G2-M Checkpoint Regulators Cyclin B1 and Cdc2 in Non-malignant and Malignant Human Breast Lesions: Immunocytochemical and Quantitative Image Analyses. *American Journal of Pathology*, 150(1), 15–23.
- Khan, S., Brougham, C. L., Ryan, J., Sahrudin, A., O'Neill, G., Wall, D., ... Dwyer, R. M. (2013). miR-379 Regulates Cyclin B1 Expression and is Decreased in Breast Cancer. *PLoS ONE*, 8(7), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0068753
- Khan, A., Khan, S., Khan, M.A., Qamar, Z., and Waqas, M. (2015). The Uptake and Bioaccumulation of Heavy Metals by Food Plants, their Effects on Plant Nutrients and associated Health Risk: A Review. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res* 22(18), 13772-13799. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-4881-0.
- Kim, B. M., Choi, A. L., Ha, E, H., Pedersen, L., Nielsen, F., Weihe, P., Hong, Y. C., Budtz-Jørgensen, E., and Grandjean, P. (2014). Effect of Hemoglobin Adjustment on the Precision of Mercury Concentrations in Maternal and Cord blood. *Environ Res.*, 132: 407–412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2014.04.030.
- Kim, Y. M., Chung, J. Y., An, H. S., Park, S. Y., Kim, B. G., Bae, J. W., Han, M., Cho, Y. J., and Hong, Y. S. (2015). Biomonitoring of Lead, Cadmium, Total Mercury, and Methylmercury Levels in Maternal Blood and in Umbilical Cord Blood at Birth in South Korea. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 12(10), 13482–13493. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph121013482
- Kinzig, A.P., Pacala, S.W., and Tilman, D. (2002). The Functional Consequences of Biodiversity: Empirical Progress and Theoretical Extensions. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, USA, pp 1-392.
- Kumar, S., and Ghosh, C. (2016). Book Review: "Toxic Effects of Mercury". *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 4(42), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2016.00042
- Langford, N. J., and Ferner, R. E. (1999). Toxicity of Mercury. *Journal of Human Hypertension*, 13(10), 651–656. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jhh.1000896
- Le Bihanic, F., Clérandeau, C., Le Menach, K., Morin, B., Budzinski, H., Cousin, X., and Cachot, J. (2014). Developmental Toxicity of PAH Mixtures in Fish early Life Stages. Part II: Adverse Effects in Japanese Medaka. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 21(24), 13732–13743. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-2676-3
- Lemly, A. D. (2002). Symptoms and Implications of Selenium Toxicity in Fish: The Belews Lake case example. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 57(1–2), 39–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-445X(01)00264-8
- Llorente Ballesteros, M. T., García Barrado, B., Navarro Serrano, I., Izquierdo Álvarez, S., Del Pueyo García Anaya, M., and González Muñoz, M. J. (2020). Evaluation of Blood Mercury and Serum Selenium Levels in the Pregnant Population of the Community of Madrid, Spain. *Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology*, 57, 60–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtemb.2019.09.008
- Li, P., Feng, X., and Qiu, G. (2010). Methylmercury Exposure and Health Effects from Rice and Fish consumption: A Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 7(6), 2666–2691. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph7062666
- Li, R., Wu, H., Ding, J., Fu, W., Gan, L., and Li, Y. (2017a). Mercury Pollution in Vegetables, Grains and Soils from areas surrounding Coal-fired Power Plants. *Sci. Rep* 7, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep46545.
- Li, Y., Zhao, J., Guo, J., Liu, M., Xu, Q., Li, H., Yu-Feng, L., Zheng, L., Zhang, Z., and Gao, Y. (2017b). Influence of Sulphur on the Accumulation of Mercury in Rice Plant (*Oryza sativa L.*) growing in Mercury-Contaminated Soils. *Chemosphere 182*, 293 – 300. https://doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.04.129.

- Maggi, C., Berducci, M. T., Bianchi, J., Giani, M., and Campanella, L. (2009). Methylmercury Determination in Marine Sediment and Organisms by Direct Mercury Analyser. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 641(1–2), 32–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2009.03.033
- Magnuson, J. J. (2011). Analysis of Aggressive Behavior, Growth, and Competition for Food and Space in Medaka (Oryzias Latipes (Pisces, Cyprinodontidae)). *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 40(2), 313–363. https://doi.org/10.1139/z62-029
- Mandana, M. (2016). Methylmercury and Human Embryonic Development. *Published on The Embryo Project Encyclopedia* (https://embryo.asu.edu), 1–6 (Accessed 10 October, 2021).
- Maršálek, P., and Svobodová, Z. (2006). Rapid Determination of Methylmercury in Fish Tissues. *Czech Journal of Food Sciences*, 24(3), 138–142. https://doi.org/10.17221/3309-cjfs
- Masindi, V., and Muedi, K.L. (2018). Environmental Contamination by Heavy Metals. In: El-Din, H., Saleh, M., and Aglan, R.F. (ed). Heavy Metals. *IntechOpen*, London, UK, pp 1-15. https://doi.org/ 10.5772/intechopen.76082.
- Mauro J. B. N., Guimarães, J.R.D., Hintelmann, H., Watras, C. J., Haack, E. A., and Coelho-Souza, S. A. (2002). Mercury Methylation in Macrophytes, Periphyton, and Water - Comparative Studies with Stable and Radiomercury Additions. *Anal Bioanal Chem*, 374, 983–989. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-002-1534-1
- MEJ. (2002). The Medaka (Oryzias latipes) Full Life-Cycle Test Guideline. Ministry of the Environment, Japan, pp. 1 - 2. (Accessed 8 August. 2020)
- Montagnac, J.A., Davis, C.R., and Tanumihardjo, S.A. (2009). Nutritional Value of Cassava for use as a Staple Food and Recent Advances for Improvement. *Compr. Rev. Food Sci. Food Saf 8*(3), 181-194. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-4337.2009.00077.x
- Moreno, F.N., Anderson, C.W., Stewart, R.B., Robinson, B.H., Ghomshei, M., and Meech, J.A. (2005). Induced Plant Uptake and Transport of Mercury in the Presence of Sulphur-containing Ligands and Humic Acid. *New Phytol*, 166(2), 445 - 454. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2005.01361.x
- Murakami, H., Furihata, M., Ohtsuki, Y., and Ogoshi, S. (1999). Determination of the Prognostic Significance of Cyclin B1 Overexpression in Patients with Esophageal Squamous cell Carcinoma. *Virchows Archiv*, 434(2), 153–158. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004280050319
- Myers, G. J., and Davidson, P. W. (1998). Prenatal Methylmercury Exposure and Children: Neurologic, Developmental, and Behavioral Research. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 106(3), 841–847. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.98106841
- Myers, G.J., Davidson, P.W., Watson, G.E., Van Wijngaarden, E., Thurston, S.W., Strain, J.J., Shamlaye, C.F., Bovet, P. (2015). Methylmercury Exposure and Developmental Neurotoxicity. *Bull. World Health Organ.* 93 (2), 132A-132B. http://dx.doi.org/10. 2471/BLT.14141911
- Natasha, M.S., Khalid, S., Bibi, I., Bundschuh, J., Niazi, N.K., and Dumat, C. (2020). A Critical Review of Mercury Speciation, Bioavailability, Toxicity and Detoxification in Soil-Plant Environment: Ecotoxicology and Health Risk Assessment. Sci. Total Environ 711 (2020), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134749
- National Library of Medicines. (2022). The National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI). CCNB1 cyclin B1 [Homo sapiens (humans)]. Gene ID 891. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gene/891 (Accessed 8 July 2022)
- Nohmi, T. (2018). Thresholds of Genotoxic and Non-genotoxic Carcinogens. *Toxicological Research*, 34(4), 281–290. https://doi.org/10.5487/TR.2018.34.4.281

- Novirsa, R., Phan, Q. D., Jeong, H., Addai-Arhin, S., Nugraha, W. C., Hirota, N., Ishibashi, Y., and Arizono, K. (2020). The Dietary Intake of Mercury from Rice and Human Health Risk in Artisanal Small-Scale Gold Mining Area, Indonesia. *Fundamental Toxicological Sciences*, 7(5), 215–225. http://www.fundtoxicolsci.org/index_e.html.
- Nozoe, T., Korenaga, D., Kabashima, A., Ohga, T., Saeki, H., and Sugimachi, K. (2002). Significance of Cyclin B1 Expression as an Independent Prognostic Indicator of Patients with Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Esophagus. *Clin Cancer Res* 8, 817-822.
- OECD. (2013). Guidelines For The Testing Of Chemicals nr 236: Fish Embryo Acute Toxicity (FET) Test. Section 2, OECD Publishing, (July), 1–22.
- OECD. (2014). Draft Guideline for the Testing of Chemicals. Medaka Extended One Generation Test. pp. 1 33. (Accessed 8 August, 2020).
- Oliveira, C. S., Oliveira, V. A., Ineu, R. P., Moraes-Silva, L., and Pereira, M. E. (2012). Biochemical Parameters of Pregnant Rats and their Offspring Exposed to different Doses of Inorganic Mercury in Drinking Water. *Food* and Chemical Toxicology, 50(7), 2382–2387. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2012.04.046
- Omanwar, S., Ravi, K., and Fahim, M. (2011). Persistence of EDHF Pathway and Impairment of the Nitric Oxide Pathway after Chronic Mercury Chloride exposure in Rats: Mechanisms of Endothelial Dysfunction. *Human* and Experimental Toxicology, 30, 1777–1784. https://doi.org/10.1177/0960327110391389
- Omanwar, S., Saidullah, B., Ravi, K., and Fahim, M. (2013). Vasorelaxant Effects of Mercury on Rat Thoracic Aorta: The Nitric Oxide Signaling Mechanism. *Human and Experimental Toxicology*, 33, 904–910. https://doi.org/10.1177/0960327113512341
- Oppong, A., Azanu, D., and Ofori, L.A. (2018). Assessment of Sugarcane grown in Wetlands Polluted with Wastewater. *Cogent Environ. Sci* 4, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311843.2018.1455277
- Ou, L., Chen, L., Chen, C., Yang, T., Wang, H., Tong, Y., Hu, D., Zhang, W., Long, W., and Wang, X. (2014). Associations of Methylmercury and Inorganic Mercury between Human cord blood and Maternal blood: A Meta-analysis and its Application. *Environmental Pollution*, 191, 25–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2014.04.016
- Ou, L., Chen, C., Chen, L., Wang, H., Yang, T., Xie, H., Tong, Y., Hu, D., Zhang, W., and Wang, X. (2015). Lowlevel Prenatal Mercury Exposure in North China: An Exploratory Study of Anthropometric Effects. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 49(11), 6899–6908. https://doi.org/10.1021/es5055868
- Park, J. D., and Zheng, W. (2012). Human Exposure and Health Effects of Inorganic and Elemental Mercury. *Journal of Preventive Medicine and Public Health*, 45(6), 344–352. https://doi.org/10.3961/jpmph.2012.45.6.344
- Patel, N. B., Xu, Y., McCandless, L. C., Chen, A., Yolton, K., Braun, J., Jones, R.L., Dietrich, K.N., and Lanphear, B. P. (2019). Very Low-level Prenatal Mercury Exposure and Behaviors in Children: The HOME Study. *Environmental Health: A Global Access Science Source*, 18(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-018-0443-5
- Peixoto, N. C., and Pereira, M. E. (2007). Effectiveness of ZnCl₂ in protecting against Nephrotoxicity induced by HgCl2 in Newborn Rats. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 66(3), 441–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2006.02.012
- Pinheiro, M. C. N., Carneiro, S. R., and Corbett, C. E. P. (2020). Umbilical Cord Tissues as Matrices to Predict Prenatal Exposure to Mercury *Review. Ann Pediatr Child Health*, 8(7), 1197.
- Pirrone, N., Cinnirella, S., Feng, X., Finkelman, R.B., Friedli, H.R., Leaner, J., Mason, R., Mukherjee, A.B., Stracher,

G.B., Streets, D.G., and Telmer, K. (2010). Global Mercury Emissions to the Atmosphere from Anthropogenic and Natural sources. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, *10*, 5951-5964. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-10-5951-2010, 2010.

- Powe, D. K., Dasmahapatra, A. K., Russel, J. L., and Tchounwou, P. B. (2018). Toxicity Implications of early Life Stages of Japanese Medaka (*Oryzias latipes*) Exposed to Oxyfluorfen. *Environ Toxicol.*, 33(5), 555 - 568. https://doi.org/10.1002/tox.22541.
- Puybareau, E., Talbot, H., and Léonard, M. (2015). Automated Heart Rate Estimation in Fish Embryo. 5th International Conference on Image Processing, Theory, Tools and Applications 2015, IPTA 2015, (August 2017), 379–384. https://doi.org/10.1109/IPTA.2015.7367171
- Qiagen. (2018). Effects of Low A260/A230 Ratios in RNA Preparations on Downstream Applications. Application Note. pp. 1 6. www.qiagen.com (Accessed 7 July 2022)
- Rice, G. E., Hammitt, J. K., and Evans, J. S. (2010). A Probabilistic Characterization of the Health Benefits of Reducing Methylmercury Intake in the United States. *Environ. Sci. Technol*, 44(13), 5216 - 5224. https://doi.org/10.1021/es903359u
- Rice, K. M., Walker, E. M., Wu, M., Gillette, C., and Blough, E. R. (2014). Environmental Mercury and its Toxic Effects. *Journal of Preventive Medicine and Public Health*, 47(2), 74–83. https://doi.org/10.3961/jpmph.2014.47.2.74
- Ritscher, A. (2018). Use, Disposal and Environmental releases of Mercury. An Overview of the situation in Switzerland. Federal Office for the Environment, Bern. State of the Environment no. 1832, pp 1-50.
- Sakamoto, M., Haraguchi, K., Tatsuta, N., Nakai, K., Nakamura, M., and Murata, K. (2020). Plasma and Red Blood Cells Distribution of Total Mercury, Inorganic Mercury, and Selenium in Matrenal and Cord Blood from a Group of Japanese Women. *Environmental Research*, 196, 110896. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.110896
- Schatten, H. (2013). Mitosis in: Brenner's Encyclopaedia of Genetics, 2nd Edition.
- Sekovanić, A., Piasek, M., Orct, T., Grgec, A. S., Sarić, M. M., Stasenko, S., and Jurasović, J. (2020). Mercury Exposure Assessment in Mother–Infant Pairs from Continental and Coastal Croatia. *Biomolecules*, 10(6), 19– 22. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10060821
- Shih, Y. H., Chen, H. Y., Christensen, K., Handler, A., Turyk, M. E., and Argos, M. (2021). Prenatal Exposure to Multiple Metals and Birth Outcomes: An Observational Study within the National Children's Study Cohort. *Environment International*, 147, 106373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106373
- Soria, J.C., Jang, S.J., Khuri, F.R., Hassan, K., Liu, D., Hong, W., and Mao, L. (2000) Overexpression of Cyclin B1 in Early-Stage Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer and its Clinical Implication. *Cancer Res 60*, 4000-4004.
- Srivastava, B., Sarkar, A., Singh, S., Singh, P., De Araujo, A.F.S., and Singh, R.P. (2017) Agroecological Responses of Heavy Metal Pollution with Special Emphasis on Soil Health and Plant Performances. *Front. Environ. Sci* 5(64), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2017.0006
- Stern, A. H. (2005). A Revised Probabilistic Estimate of the Maternal Methymercury Intake Dose Corresponding to a Measured Cord Blood Mercury Concentration. Environmental Health Perspectives, 113(2), 155 - 163. https://doi.org/10.1289/eph.7417
- Stratakis, N., Conti, D. V., Borras, E., Sabido, E., Roumeliotaki, T., Papadopoulou, E., ... Chatzi, L. (2020). Association of Fish Consumption and Mercury Exposure During Pregnancy with Metabolic Health and

Inflammatory Biomarkers in Children. JAMA Network Open, 3(3), e201007. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.1007

- Su, Y., Kwong, R. W. M., Tang, W., Yang, Y., and Zhong, H. (2021). Straw Return enhances the Risks of Metals in Soil. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.*, 207(2021), 111 - 120.
- Swira, J. (2019). Lifting the Lid on Ghana's Illegal Small-Scale Mining Problem. African Mining Brief. https://www.africaminingbrief.com/lifting-the-lid-onghanas-illegal-small-scale-mining-problem/ (Accessed 25 October 2020).
- Takeno, S., Noguchi, T., Kikuchi, R., Uchida, Y., Yokoyama, S., and Müller, W. (2002). Prognostic Value of Cyclin B1 in Patients with Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Cancer*, 94(11), 2874–2881. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.10542
- Tamm, C., Duckworth, S., Hermanson, O., and Ceccetelli, S. (2006). High Susceptibility of Neural Stem Cells to Methylmercury Toxicity: Effects on Cell Survival and Neuronal Differentiation. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 97, 69 - 78.
- Tchana, A.N., Kamnang, N.D., Maliedje, A.T., Manfo, F.T., Njayou, F.N., Abia, W.A., Nantia, E.A., and Moundipa, P.F. (2018). Assessment of Dietary Exposure and Health Risk to Multiple Heavy Metals amongst some Workers in Yaounde, Cameroon. J. Pharm. Pharmacol 6(2018), 802-816. https://doi.org/10.17265/2328-2150/2018.09.001
- Teixeira, F. B., De Oliveira, A. C. A., Leao, L. K. R., Fagundes, N. C. F., Fernandes, R. M., Fernandes, L. M. P., Da Silva, M.C.F., Amado, L.L., Sagica, F.E.S., De Oliveira, E.H.C., Crespo-Lopez, M.E., Maia, C.S.F., and Lima, R. R., (2018). Exposure to Inorganic Mercury Causes Oxidative Stress, Cell Death and Functional Deficits in the Motor Cortex. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience, 11*(125), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2018.00125
- Thermo Scientific. (2012). Interpretation of Nucleic Acid A260/A280 Ratio. T123 Technical Bulletin (NanoDrop Lite). pp.1. www.thermoscientific.com/nanodrop (Accessed 7 July 2022)
- UNDPAfrica. (2019). Increasing Water Supplies in Rural Ghana. https://www.medium.com/@UNDPAfrica/increasing-water-supplies-in-rural-ghana-73f50547e7c0 (Accessed 27 June 2021)
- UNEP. (2013). Global Mercury Assessment 2013: Sources, Emissions, Releases and Environmental Transport. UNEP Chemicals Branch, Geneva, Switzerland, pp. 2-7. https://www.amap.no/documents/doc/global-mercuryassessment-2013-sources-emissions-releases-and-environmental-transport/847 (Accessed 13 November 2020)
- Ursinyova, M., Masanova, V., Uhnakova, I., Murinova, L. P., Patayova, H., Rausova, K., Trnovec, T., Stencl, J., and Gajdos, M. (2019). Prenatal and Early Postnatal Exposure to Total Mercury and Methylmercury from Low Maternal Fish Consumption. *Biological Trace Element Research*, 191(1), 16–26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-018-1585-6
- USEPA. (1997a). Fate and Transport of Mercury in the Environment. *Mercury Study Report to Congress*, EPA-452/R-97-005. Volume III, pp. 1 376. https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-09/documents/volume3.pdf. (Accessed 12 July 2020).
- USEPA. (1997b). Health Effects of Mercury and Mercury Compounds: Mercury Study Report to Congress, EPA-452/R-97-007. Volume 5, pp. 1–349. https://www3.epa.gov/airtoxics/112nmerc/volume5.pdf (Accessed 28 February 2022)

- USEPA. (2001). Methylmercury (MeHg) (CASRN 22967-92-6). Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS) Chemical Assessment Summary National Center for Environmental Assessment, 1–43. https://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/iris/iris_documents/documents/subst/0073_summary.pdf#nameddest=rfd (Accessed 27 February 2022)
- USEPA. (2004). Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund. Volume 1: Human Health Evaluation Manual (Part E, Supplemental Guidance for Dermal Risk Assessment). Office of Superfund Remediation and Technology Innovation; US EPA: Washington, DC, USA. EPA/540/R/99/005. pp. 1-156. https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-09/documents/part_e_final_revision_10-03-07.pdf (Accessed: 11-04-21).
- USEPA. (2007). Dermal Exposure Assessments: A Summary of EPA Approaches. National Center for Environmental Assessment Office of Research and Development, Washington D.C, USA. EPA/600/R-07/040F. https://www.epa.gov/ncea.pp. 1-59. (Accessed: 11-04-21)
- USEPA. (2016). Mercury Emissions: The Global Context. https://19january2017snapshot.epa.gov/internationalcooperation/mercury-emissions-global-context_.htm (Accessed 10 August, 2022)
- USEPA. (2021a). International Cooperation: Minamata Convention on Mercury. www.epa.gov/internationalcooperation/minamata-convention-mercury (Accessed 8 October, 2021)
- USEPA. (2021b). International Cooperation: Reducing Mercury Pollution from Artisanal and Small-scale Gold Mining. www.epa.gov/intrnational-cooperation/reducing-mercury-pollution-artisanal-and-small-scale-goldmining (Accessed 10 October 2021)
- Walker, J. B., Houseman, J., Seddon, L., McMullen, E., Tofflemire, K., Mills, C., Corriveau, A., Weber, J. P., LeBlanc, A., Walker, M., Donaldson, S. G., and Oostdam, J. V. (2006). Maternal and Umbilical Cord Blood Levels of Mercury, Lead, Cadmium, and Essential Trace Elements in Artic Canada. *Environmental Research*, 100(3), 295 - 318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2005.05.006.
- Wang, G., Su, M.Y., Chen, Y.H., Lin, F.F., Luo, D., and Gao, S.F. (2006a). Transfer Characteristics of Cadmium and Lead from Soil to the Edible Parts of Six Vegetable Species in Southeastern China. *Environ. Pollut* 144(1), 127– 135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2005.12.023.
- Wang, X., Williams, E., Haasch, M. L., and Dasmahapatra, A. K. (2006b). Japanese Medaka (*Oryzias latipes*): Developmental Model for the Study of Alcohol Teratology. *Birth Defects Research Part B - Developmental and Reproductive Toxicology*, 77(1), 29–39. https://doi.org/10.1002/bdrb.20072
- Wang, S., Zhong, T., Chen, D., and Xang, X. (2016). Spatial Distribution of Mercury (Hg) Concentration in Agricultural Soil and its Risk Assessment on Food Safety in China. *Sustainability*, 8(8), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8080795
- Wang, J., Wu, W., Li, H., Cao, L., Wu, M., Liu, J., Gao, Z., Zhou, C., Liu, J., and Yan, C. (2019). Relation of Prenatal Low-level Mercury Exposure with early Child Neurobehavioral Development and Exploration of the Effects of Sex and DHA on it. *Environment International*, 126(February), 14–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.02.012
- Watanabe-Asaka, T., Sekiya, Y., Wada, H., Yasuda, T., Okubo, I., Oda, S., and Mitani, H. (2014). Regular Heartbeat Rhythm at the Heartbeat initiation Stage is essential for Normal Cardiogenesis at Low Temperature. *BMC Developmental Biology*, 14(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-213X-14-12
- Wilson, S.C., Tighe, M., Paterson, E., and Ashley, P.M. (2014). Food Crop Accumulation and Bioavailability Assessment for Antimony (Sb) compared with Arsenic (As) in Contaminated Soils. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res*

21(20), 11671-11681. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-2577-5.

- World Health Organization. (1990). Methymercury. Environmental Health Criteria No. 101; International Programme on Chemical Safety. Geneva, Switzerland (Accessed 15 March 2022)
- World Health Organization. (2000). Air Quality Guidelines for Europe. 2nd ed. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/107335 (Accessed 25 October 2020)
- World Health Organization. (2008). Children's Exposure to Mercury Compounds. WHO Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data. ISBN: 978 92 4 150045 6. pp. 1 – 104 (Accessed 27 January 2022)
- Wuana, R.A., and Okieimen, F.E. (2011). Heavy Metals in Contaminated Soils: A Review of Sources, Chemistry, Risks and Best Available Strategies for Remediation. *International Scholarly Research Network Ecology 2011*, 1-20. https://doi.org/10.5402/2011/402647
- Xie, Y., Fan, J., Zhu, W., Amombo, E., Lou, Y., Chen, L., and Fu, J. (2016). Effect of Heavy Metals Pollution on Soil Microbial Diversity and Bermudagrass Genetic Variation. *Front. Plant Sci* 7(755), 1-12. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fpls.2016.00755
- Xu, J., Kleja, D. B., Biester, H., Lagerkvist, A., and Kumpiene, J. (2014). Influence of Particle Size Distribution, Organic Carbon, pH and Chlorides on Washing of Mercury-contaminated Soil. *Chemosphere*, 109, 99–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.02.058
- Xun, Y., Feng, L., Li, Y., and Dong, H. (2017). Mercury Accumulation Plant Cyrtomium macrophyllum and its Potential for Phytoremediation of Mercury Polluted Sites. Chemosphere 189, 161–170. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.09.055
- Yamagami, K. (1981). Mechanisms of Hatching in Fish: Secretion of Hatching Enzyme and Enzymatic Choriolysis. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, 21(2), 459–471. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/21.2.459
- Yamaguchi, A., Ishibashi, H., Kono, S., Lida, M., Uchida, M., Arizono, K., Tominaga, N. (2018). Nanosecond Pulsed Electric Field Incorporation Technique to Predict Molecular Mechanisms of Teratogenicity and Developmental Toxicity of Estradiol-17β on Medaka Embryos. J. Appl. Toxicol. 38, 714–723. https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.3579
- Yokota, H., Seki, M., Maeda, M., Oshima, Y., Tadokoro, H., Honjo, T., and Kobayashi, K. (2001). Life-cycle Toxicity of 4-nonylphenol to Medaka (*Oryzias latipes*). *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 20(11), 2552–2560. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620201122
- Yorifuji, T., and Tsuda, T. (2014). Minamata. In: Encyclopaedia of Toxicology, (ed): Wexler, P. 3rd Edition, Academic Press, Elsevier. pp. 345
- Yoshida, T., Tanaka, S., Mogi, A., Shitara, Y., and Kuwano, H. (2004). The Clinical Significance of Cyclin B1 and Wee1 Expression in Non-Small-Cell Lung cancer. Annals of Oncology, 15(2), 252–256. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdh073
- Yu, H., Li, J., and Luan, Y. (2018). Meta-analysis of Soil Mercury Accumulation by Vegetables. Sci. Rep 8(1261), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-19519-3
- Yu, X., Wu, F., Xu, X., Chen, Q., Huang, L., Teklehaimanot, T. B., Cao, L., Xu, X., Dou, S., and Huang, W. (2019). Effects of Short Term Methylmercury Exposure on Growth and Development of the Large Yellow Croaker Embryos and Larvae. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 6, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2019.00754
- Zefferino, R., Piccoli, C., Ricciardi, N., Scrima, R., and Capitanio, N. (2017). Possible Mechanisms of Mercury Toxicity and Cancer Promotion: Involvement of Gap Junction Intercellular Communications and Inflammatory

Cytokines. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/7028583

- Zhang, Z., and Hu, J. (2007). Development and Validation of Endogenous Reference Genes for Expression Profiling of Medaka (Oryzias latipes) exposed to Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals by Quantitative Real-Time RT-PCR. *Toxicological Sciences* 95(2), 356–368. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfl161
- Zhou, Q., Gu, Y., Yue, X., Mao, G., Wang, Y., Su, H., Xu, J., Shi, H., Zou, B., Zhao, J., and Wang, R. (2017). Combined Toxicity and Underlying Mechanisms of a Mixture of Eight Heavy Metals. *Mol. Med. Rep* 15(2), 859-866. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2016.6089
- Zhou, Y., Aamir, M., Liu, K., Yang, F., and Liu, W. (2018). Status of Mercury Accumulation in Agricultural Soils across China: Spatial Distribution, Temporal Trend, Influencing Factor and Risk Assessment. *Environ. Pollut.* 240, 116 – 124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.03.086

Appendix

Bone marrow	Cortex	Artery	Kidney	Pancreas	Skin
Whole blood	Cerebellum	Smooth muscle	Lung	Thyroid	Ovary
WBC	Retina	Skeletal muscle	Liver	Salivary gland	Uterus
Lymph nodes	Spinal cord	Small intestine	Spleen	Adrenal gland	Placenta
Thymus	Tibial nerve	Colon	Stomach	Pituitary gland	Prostate
Brain	Heart	Adipocyte	Oesophagus	Breast	Testis

Table 1: Organs/Tissues in which Cyclin B1 gene is expressed (National Library of Medicines, 2022).



Fig. 1: Correlational graphs showing the effects of SOM and pH on the uptake of Hg by soils and the food crops as well as the relationship between soil Hg content and the Hg content of the food crops. A = Effect of pH/SOM on Hg content of farmland soils, B = Effect of pH/SOM on Hg content of food crops, C = Effect of pH/SOM on the BAF of the food crops, and D = Effect of Hg content of farmland soil on Hg content of the food crops (Addai-Arhin et al., 2021).



Fig. 2: Estimation of the prenatal exposure amounts of CH_3Hg^+ and Hg^{2+} using the LOAEL, LC_{50} and the highest concentration values.

Formula for the one-compartment dose conversion model (USEPA, 2001)

Equation 1

 $d(\mu g/kg bw/day) = \frac{c x b x V}{A x f x bw}$

Where;

d = daily dietary intake (expressed as μg of methylmercury) = 0.0035, 0.0132, and 0.029

 $c = concentration in blood (expressed as \mu g/L)$

 $b = elimination constant (expressed as days^{-1}) = 0.014$

V = volume of blood in the body (expressed as liters) = 5

A = absorption factor (expressed as a unitless decimal fraction) = 0.95

f = fraction of absorbed dose taken up by blood (unitless) = 0.059

bw = body weight (expressed in kg) = 70

Modifying equation 1 to include the 1:1.7 maternal to cord blood MeHg ratio as indicated by Stern, (2005) gives umbilical cord blood MeHg as shown in **equation 2**;

 $d(\mu g/kg \text{ bw/day}) = \frac{c x \left(\frac{1}{R}\right) x b x V}{A x f x b w}$

Where;

R = maternal to cord blood MeHg ratio and c = concentration of MeHg in cord blood.